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COMPANY INTRODUCTION

NCIVNE

OVERVIEW

Chervon Holdings Limited (the “Company”, and together with
its subsidiaries, the “Group,” “we,” “us” or “our”) is a global
provider of power tools and outdoor power equipment (“OPE”).
Our focus on innovation, especially lithium-ion battery system
technology, has enabled us to achieve significant scale and
rapid growth. We offer a comprehensive range of products
under a portfolio of well-recognized brands, which are tailored
to address the diverse needs of our end users around the
world. Our power tools target both industrial/professional
and consumer end users, and our OPE products target both
premium and mass-market end users. We currently own five
differentiated and well-recognized brands that cover key
geographies and segments, namely EGO, FLEX, SKIL, DEVON
and X-TRON.

We focus on user-centric innovation and product offerings,
which is supported by our integrated system of research
and development, manufacturing and sales and distribution
capabilities. Our broad end-user base for lithium-ion battery
powered products enables us to rapidly accumulate industry
knowledge, technology know-how and end-user insights.
Leveraging such knowledge and insights, we have been able
to continuously introduce new products showcasing advanced
technology and product design capabilities. We then produce
these new, user-centric products in a consistently high-
quality manner through our smart manufacturing system
and distributing them through our multi-channel sales and
distribution network. Our global operations and local market
knowledge enable us to expand market shares and meet end
user needs in our target markets. Our robust brand portfolio,
which resonates with our end users, also helps solidify our
market position.

OUR VISION

Better Tools. Better World.

OUR MISSION

Providing superior products to users worldwide through
continuous innovation, we are determined to become a global
leader in power tools and outdoor power equipment in the
lithium-ion, intelligent and digital era.
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
NEIER
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PRINCIPAL BANKS

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
Bank of Communications — Nanjing Jiangning Branch

STOCK CODE

2285

PLACE OF LISTING

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

COMPANY’S WEBSITE

https://global.chervongroup.com

LISTING DATE

December 30, 2021
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
B2

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the
published audited financial statements, is set out below:

AEERBEREMBRFECEENNREERBE
B2 (B EETBEERNBMBEHRR) #IIWT

RESULTS e
Year ended December 31,
HZE12A31HLLEE
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
20194F 20204 20214 20224 20234
(In US$ thousands, except per share data)
(F=x - BREUERIN
Revenue ON 843,578 1,200,902 1,757,784 1,989,280 1,374,714
(Loss)/profit before tax BEiAT (F518), FIE 42,348 59,511 176,098 161,390 (48,856)
Income tax credit/(expense) Frig®il e /(Fx) (6,266)  (11,123)  (26,377)  (22,112) 11,706
(Loss)/profit for the year FA(E5E)FIB 36,082 48,388 149,721 139,278 (37,150)
Attributable to: AT AL FEAL -
Equity shareholders of the RAEE=RE 33,976 44,359 144,544 139,369 (37,137)
Company
Non-controlling interest FEEIRME 2,106 4,029 5,177 (91) (13)
Earnings per share B AN
- Basic (cents) —E X (%) 9 11 36 28 (7)
— Diluted (cents) —#E () 9 11 36 28 (7)
ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND EQUITY EE BERER
As of December 31,
HZ12A31H
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
20194 20204 20214 20224 20234
(In US$ thousands)
(F=7)
Assets EE
Total assets BERE 867,177 1,091,467 2,056,156 1,862,504 1,796,385
Equity and liabilities EERkAE
Equity attributable to equity AN B e AR R A 182,131 259,738 797,017 946,190 960,725
shareholders of the Company  ##s
Non-controlling interests FEPERR 18,707 24,286 - (91) (104)
Total equity B 200,838 284,024 797,017 946,099 960,621
Total liabilities aERE 666,339 807,443 1,259,139 916,405 835,764
Total equity and liabilities Rk BEAE 867,177 1,091,467 2,056,156 1,862,504 1,796,385

Chervon Holdings Limited Annual Report 2023
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Dear Shareholders,

In 2023, we navigated through a challenging environment
characterized by economic and market headwinds that
affected our financial performance. After several successive
years of significant growth and profitability, our revenue
decreased by 30.9% and incurred a loss for the year. The
decline in our financial performance was primarily attributable
to more conservative inventory policies adopted by our key
customers caused by macroeconomic uncertainties and
unfavorable weather in key geographic regions.

For the reasons below, we consider 2023 to be a temporary
deviation from a sustainable growth trajectory we have
consistently maintained. In particular, with our favorable market
positioning, strong brand performance across points-of-sale,
robust manufacturing capability and extensive distribution
network in place, coupled with the anticipated reversal of the
destocking cycle and expected rebound in customer demand,
we believe there will be a corresponding recovery and growth
in our financial performance in 2024 and years to come.
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CHAIRMAN’'S STATEMENT
EERGE

First and foremost, we remain committed to our vision of
“Better Tools. Better World” and determined to become a
global leader in power tools and outdoor power equipment
in the lithium-ion, intelligent and digital era. We believe the
market transition to lithium-ion powered products will continue
to accelerate. Staying true to our mission, we have focused
on making great products for, and delivering them to, our
customers and end-users worldwide. In 2023, we innovated by
introducing close to 200 new products, and lithium-ion battery
powered products accounted for approximately 82% of the
new products.

In 2023, we also continued to strengthen our brand portfolio
- EGO, FLEX, SKIL and DEVON - comprehensively covering
both industrial/professional and consumer power tools , as well
as premium and mass-market OPE around the globe. Notably,
the sell-through of our branded products from distribution
channels to end-users is steadily growing despite the subdued
market demand overall, which attests to the popularity of our
proprietary brands.

In addition, we continued to build upon our decades-long
collaboration with a wide array of distribution partners, from
leading home centers and mass-market retailers, to reputable
distributors and local retailers, across our key markets. We
are also expanding our partnerships with various leading
e-commerce platforms to further extend our end-user reach.
We believe our extensive touchpoints for end-users will bolster
our position for future growth.

Furthermore, starting from 2023, we have accelerated our
efforts to strengthen our global manufacturing capabilities.
This included expanding production capacity at our Chervon
Vietnam Plant, thereby augmenting our overseas factory
footprint. We believe these initiatives will further support our
ability to build a more flexible and resilient supply chain.
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Looking ahead to 2024, we will continue to navigate
the challenges created by macroeconomic uncertainty,
geopolitical tensions and trade disputes. While we
acknowledge the risks and obstacles ahead, we will remain
vigilant, stay focused on our core strengths and maintain a
flexible approach in navigating the challenging and rapidly
evolving business landscape. In particular, we will continuously
invest in our product portfolio, sales and distribution network,
brand recognition, production capacity and human capita
development, among other areas. Furthermore, we have made
significant progress in fulfilling our environmental, social, and
governance (“ESG”) responsibilities in the past several years,
and will continue to act as a responsible corporate citizen
by innovating in green products, reducing carbon emissions,
promoting energy conservation and implementing sound
corporate governance practices. With our firm commitment
to user-centric innovation, speed to market and sustainable
development, we believe we are well positioned to outperform
the market, capture growth opportunities across business
segments and geographies and deliver value to our customers,
end-users, employees, business partners, shareholders (the
“Shareholders”) and other key stakeholders alike in the future.
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CHAIRMAN’'S STATEMENT
EERGE
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
B IR E R wm B ) AT

BUSINESS OVERVIEW AND OUTLOOK
Business Overview

During the year ended December 31, 2023 (the “Reporting
Period”), we navigated through a challenging environment
characterized by economic and market headwinds. Our
revenue decreased by 30.9% from US$1,989.3 million in
2022 to US$1,374.7 million in 2023, primarily due to more
conservative inventory policies adopted by our key customers
caused by macroeconomic uncertainties and unfavorable
weather in key geographic regions.

Revenue from our outdoor power equipment (“OPE”) segment
decreased by 33.7% from US$1,223.5 million in 2022 to
US$811.4 million in 2023, while revenue from our power tools
segment decreased by 27.3% from US$754.9 million in 2022
to US$548.5 million in 2023. Revenue from our Original Brand
Manufacturing (“OBM”) business decreased by 27.2% from
US$1,381.8 million in 2022 to US$1,006.3 million in 2023,
and accounted for 73.2% of our total revenue in 2023 (2022:
69.5%).

10 Chervon Holdings Limited Annual Report 2023

REBMERRE
EBHE

R2023F 12 A3 ALEFE ([HREH ) - KL
FBETRmEBOEENTISEYE - HMOKAR
20224 #1,989.3 A & X LK L 30.9% E2023F )
1,374 7TEEEL  TERANREHLCETETEER
FEMEHNIFRR RPN EZRFPHEIE AR
SPHEE TR -

Fo &) 138 (TOPE]) DU A B 20226 /)
1,223 588X UM 33.7%E£2023FW811.4H
EXn MEBTESFWAR2022F8754.9
BEETTAAD27.3%E2023FM548 5FBETT °
KPR @R RS ([OBM ) Ui H20224F
#11,381.8 A& XL L 27.2% £ 20234 1,006.3
BEZEIL  1H2023F B AMN73.2% (20224 :
69.5%) °



SKIL

RIPPING
7%

Our overall gross profit margin decreased from 30.4% in 2022
to 28.1% in 2023, primarily due to provision for inventory
impairment. We recorded net loss of approximately US$37.2
million in 2023, as compared to a net profit of US$139.3 million
in 2022.

Despite facing challenges, we believe we remain competitive
in terms of market share. The sell-through of our branded
products from distribution channels to end-users is steadily
growing despite the subdued market demand overall, which
attests to the popularity of our proprietary brands. We continue
to focus on our customers, bringing to market new power tool
and OPE products to meet their diverse needs. Leveraging
our research and development capability, we continued
to innovate by introducing close to 200 new products in
2023. Lithium-ion battery powered products accounted for
approximately 82% of the new products.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BIRE & B AT

EGO

During the Reporting Period, we continued to develop and
promote our flagship EGO-branded products, including an
emphasis on the development of the commercial series tools,
which we view as a promising area for future growth. As of
December 31, 2023, the number of our EGO-branded lithium-
ion battery platforms sold globally increased to approximately
14 million. By leveraging our battery platform and user base,
we have diversified into new lifestyle categories, such as high-
pressure washers, wet/dry vacuums and mini bikes, which
further broadens the scope of our EGO 56V ecosystem.

In 2023, we continued to invest in strengthening the multi-
channel sales and distribution network for EGO, including
accelerating the development of our dealer channels to
better support our “go commercial” strategy. For example, we
entered into a strategic partnership with Deere & Company
(“John Deere”), pursuant to which EGO-branded lithium
battery products will be available at John Deere dealers in the
United States and Canada starting from the third quarter of
2023. The collaboration leverages the strengths of both parties
and further expands the distribution of EGO'’s lithium battery-
operated OPE products. We believe the availability of EGO-
branded products at John Deere'’s robust and extensive sales
network provides easy access to our products for customers
in North America. In Europe, EGO also expanded its sales and
distribution network and achieved double-digit revenue growth,
demonstrating its ability to continue penetrating new markets.

In 2023, we were awarded the Vendor of the Year by a leading
hardware cooperative in North America in recognition of our
EGO brand. We are particularly honored to become the first
company to receive such award for the fourth year in a row,
underscoring our commitment to excellence and customer
service. EGO also celebrated significant achievements in the
Canadian market by securing prominent placements across
the stores of one of Canada’s OPE market share leaders.

We have further enhanced our online sales channels
by collaborating with e-commerce platforms. A notable
accomplishment worth highlighting is EGO’s ascent to
prominence as a leading DC OPE brand on a leading global
e-commerce platform, achieving a significant milestone with
double-digit growth in 2023. We expect EGO, the top rated
brand in the cordless OPE category, to carry the momentum
into 2024 and beyond.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FLEX

FLEX continued to innovate by expanding its offering of next-
generation power tool solutions tailored for professionals,
introducing more than 40 new products globally, such as the
STACK PACK that is designed for use on the jobsite, in the
workshop, and during transit. We also expanded the scope
of our 24V platform by introducing tools tailored for carpentry
as well as mechanical, electrical and plumbing professionals,
aimed at enhancing work efficiency.

SKIL

Following a challenging first half of 2023, our SK/L business
rebounded and achieved growth in the second half of the
year. We remain committed to innovation by introducing new
products across our 4V, 12V, 20V and 40V platforms to better
serve end-users across both power tool and OPE segments.
SKIL’s Compact Brushless 3065 Cordless Drill, featuring the
“PWRCORE 20" lithium battery platform, earned recognition
with the 2023 Innovation Award as the “Voted Product of the
Year.” Our products have received prestigious recognition
from internationally acclaimed awards. Notably, the SKI/L
12V Compact Detail Sander was honored with the 2023 Red
Dot Award, a highly esteemed international competition
recognizing excellence in product design. Furthermore, a
series of SK/L products — 2X20V Rear Handle Saw, 4V TWIST
2.0 Screwdriver, 12V/20V Compact Tower Light and 12V/20V
Brushless 4-inch Clamp Fan - were recipients of the 2023
Power Tool Innovation Award, highlighting their innovative
features and contributions to the industry.

DEVON

In 2023, DEVON achieved high double-digit growth despite
challenging market conditions. DEVON's product line featuring
20V lithium battery series continued its trajectory of innovation
and rapid growth, surpassing 4 million 20V battery packs in
the China market. DEVON prioritized new media marketing
initiatives, resulting in its official TikTok account amassing over
1 million followers and achieving a total awareness of over 1
billion impressions.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BIRE & B AT

Management Transformation

During the Reporting Period, we continued to invest in
promoting process-based and data-driven management
transformation initiatives, including adopting advanced
management tools and hiring top-level consulting services, to
strengthen the strategic planning and execution capabilities
of our organization. We believe that the improvement of such
capabilities will help promote our operational efficiency and
support our sustainable growth in the long term.

Manufacturing Capability

Starting from 2023, we have accelerated our efforts to
strengthen our global manufacturing capabilities. This included
expanding production capacity at our Chervon Vietnam Plant,
thereby augmenting our overseas factory footprint. We believe
these initiatives will further support our ability to build a more
flexible and resilient supply chain.

Meanwhile, our CHERVON Green Power Industrial Park
Phase Il (RIEFEERTERE—H) an industry-leading smart
manufacturing plant, commenced operations during the
Reporting Period, providing additional production capacity
supported by advanced automation technologies. As a result,
we are in the process of phasing out some of our leases of
plants and properties. Meanwhile, in light of macroeconomic
uncertainties, we adopted a prudent strategy and decided
to adjust the development plan for our CHERVON Smart
Production Industrial Park (RIEEEEIEEZE) to align with
market trends and customer demands. See the section headed
“—Use of Net Proceeds from Global Offering” for further
details.

14 Chervon Holdings Limited Annual Report 2023

EEER

R|ERA - FAEERENESREZCREIE(L
WEREL  ERERALENEETANMEBRIER
TAFARTS - LA DN o T 1P AR Ak O BEK AR B R 1T A2
B BMAIRA - ZER IR BB DRES B

MEEME R FHRMRBOATRFELEE -

RERES

E2023F 8 « BMIMRTIEEZIRREE NN D
% BIEEAREEETHROES  EmEXSH
TRRARE - FPIRA - 5 LR — 1858 B M
BUEABIRTAIFEAHREENES

R - B REFERTERE 8 (1(TERENE
BESLE T M) ERMEMAIRE - B BRI
REFIRHRINER ST - Bt - RAEEZESZ
LHRERIMERWE - A - EREBELENT
BEW  RMARREBERBLAERESRRIEE
EENERABNEATHEBENEFPTR - 5 H

E—FHE B2 - 2HEEMFHRIEFEM
] —ff e



V///“\t\\/g

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Prospects

We believe our proprietary brands continue to outperform
the industry in terms of end-user demand (sell-through),
demonstrating resilience in both advantageous and
challenging conditions. As the market and economic condition
improves, we expect a corresponding recovery and growth
in our financial performance in 2024 and years to come. Our
confidence is grounded in several favorable factors, including
the increased market penetration of lithium battery products,
reversal of the destocking cycle and the expected rebound in
customer demand. To drive sustainable long-term growth, we
will continue to develop lithium battery new products, expand
our multi-channel sales and distributions network, enhance
brand recognition, optimize business structure, expand
production capacities and improve operational efficiency,
invest in human capital development, while continuing to
implement management transformation initiatives. We will
endeavor to outperform the market and deliver superior results
for our Shareholders, employees and communities in a socially
and environmentally responsible manner.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Financial Results
Revenue

The Group’s revenue decreased by 30.9% from US$1,989.3
million in 2022 to US$1,374.7 million in 2023, primarily due
to more conservative inventory policies adopted by our key
customers caused by macroeconomic uncertainties and
unfavorable weather in key geographic regions.

Revenue by product category

Revenue from the sales of OPE products decreased by
33.7% from US$1,223.5 million in 2022 to US$811.4 million
in 2023, primarily driven by industry destocking cycle, more
conservative inventory policies adopted by our customers,
as well as the negative impact of unfavorable weather in the
spring of 2023 across North America on consumer demand for
OPE tools.

Revenue from the sales of power tools decreased by 27.3%
from US$754.9 million in 2022 to US$548.5 million in 2023,
after several years of rapid growth, mainly due to unfavorable
macroeconomic factors that in turn led to slowdown in housing
demand and industry destocking cycle.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BIRE & B AT

Revenue by geographic location

Our revenue generated from North America decreased by
37.3% from US$1,499.9 million in 2022 to US$940.2 million
in 2023. Our revenue from Europe decreased by 11.0% from
US$317.2 million in 2022 to US$282.4 million in 2023. Our
revenue from China increased by 1.1% from US$99.5 million
in 2022 to US$100.6 million in 2023. Our revenue from rest of
the world decreased by 29.0% from US$72.6 million in 2022 to
US$51.5 million in 2023.

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

Our gross profit decreased by 35.9% from US$603.9 million in
2022 to US$386.8 million in 2023. During the same years, our
overall gross profit margin decreased from 30.4% to 28.1%,
primarily due to provision for inventory impairment.

Other Revenue

Our other revenue, which primarily consisted of government
grants, sale of scrap materials and rental income, amounted to
US$5.8 million in 2023, as compared to US$7.0 million in 2022.

Other Net Loss

We had other net loss of US$8.3 million in 2023, as compared
to other net loss of US$52.3 million in 2022. Our other net
loss in 2023 was primarily attributable to net realized and
unrealized loss on derivative financial instruments, partially
offset by net foreign exchange gain.

Selling and Distribution Expenses

Our selling and distribution expenses increased by 14.0% from
US$214.0 million in 2022 to US$244.1 million in 2023, primarily
due to increases in our marketing expenses and investments
in expanding dealer channels, as well as warranty provisions.

Administrative and Other Operating Expenses

Our administrative and other operating expenses increased
by 7.8% from US$89.8 million in 2022 to US$96.8 million in
2023, primarily due to the Company’s continued investments in
digital transformation.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Research and Development Costs

Our research and development costs increased by 7.5% from
US$65.7 million in 2022 to US$70.7 million in 2023, primarily
due to the Company’s continued investments in research and
product development, particularly in products with commercial
applications, as well as an increase in the number of research
and development personnel.

Net Finance Costs

Our net finance costs decreased by 85.2% from US$22.3
million in 2022 to US$3.3 million in 2023, primarily due
to (1) an increase in interest for U.S. dollar-denominated
deposits, (2) a decrease in interest for in Renminbi (“RMB”)-
denominated bank borrowings and (3) a decrease in our use
of customer supply chain financing to mitigate the impact of
higher U.S. dollar-denominated interest rates.

Share of Loss of an Associate

We had a share of loss of an associate of US$18.3 million
in 2023, as compared to a share of loss of an associate of
US$5.5 million in 2022, which were primarily attributable to
our 24.74% equity interest in Nanjing Chervon Auto Precision
Technology Co., Ltd. (FRRESEBEEHREMRMNERAF)
(“Chervon Auto Precision Technology”).

(Loss)/Profit Before Taxation

As a result of the foregoing, our loss before taxation in 2023
amounted to US$48.9 million, as compared to a profit before
taxation of US$161.4 million in 2022.

Income Tax Expense

Our tax income was US$11.7 million in 2023, as compared
to a tax expense of US$22.1 million in 2022. Given that we
incurred a loss before taxation in 2023, effective tax rate was
inapplicable in 2023 (2022: 13.7%). Our tax income in 2023
primarily resulted from (i) deferred taxes in connection with
our warranty and inventory provisions, (ii) the status of Nanjing
Chervon Industry Co., Ltd (BRRIEREARAF) (“Nanjing
Chervon Industry”) as a High and New Technology Enterprise
(ERE#FEME3E), which is entitled to an enterprise income
tax rate of 15% and (iii) additional tax benefits afforded under
favorable government policies that encourage research and
development activities.

EIRE N RS

HEEE

BB ER AB2022F/65.7 8 & E TN
7.5%%E2023FWM70.7HEETL  TEHRAEARF
FERERNREREMAE  LEEHELLERE
m o AKRHTEE A BEE L INFTE ©

BB A FE

AR B FE A AR 58 2022 F /922 .3 B B =T A
85.2% £ 2023FM3.3BEEIL  TEEAN(1)M
ENTENGERFE L QUARB(TAR®])
SHEMRITERAME TR RQ)EAFEP, HEEHR
B OREETEHENE EANEE -

FELS— B E R AR

20234 - HPIWE(E— M E R FEIER18.38 &
ETT 0 M2022F ML — & AREIE RS 50
BT FEHAREMAERREAEREE MR
NBERAT ([ RIETERERM ) 24.74% 8= ©

BB AT (B518) B

B EREE - #2023 FEM BT AT E 1B 54898
BEIL  M2022F MR FEA161.488%ETT ©

FrEHA%

R2023%F  HMMBERARBII7TEEETL - M
C022FEMMER Y A22 1B EETT - ERNHFARN
2023 F EAKRFAIEIE © 2023 F BRI T @
F (20224 : 13.7%) - H MM 2023 FMFH AU A
FEAR)ERMORERTERBEBENRELTH
H (IERREREERAR ((BRRENK]) A
BREMEMEE  TZEZ15%MEEMERHEE
R (i) BUT B2 BV A 388 B 0 (B SR BUR T IR L RSB OB
HER -

Z
|

FIEZEIEER A



o

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BIRE & B AT

(Loss)/Profit For The Year

As a result of the foregoing, we recorded a loss for the year of
US$37.2 million in 2023, as compared to a profit for the year of
US$139.3 million in 2022. We had a net loss margin of 2.7% in
2023, as compared to a net profit margin of 7.0% in 2022.

Non-HKFRSs Measures: Adjusted Net Loss/Profit

To supplement our consolidated results which are prepared
and presented in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), we utilize non-HKFRSs
adjusted net loss/profit (“Adjusted Net Loss/Profit’) as an
additional financial measure. We derive Adjusted Net Loss/
Profit from profit for the year by excluding (i) net realized and
unrealized losses on convertible bonds and (ii) income tax
effects of non-HKFRSs adjustments.

Adjusted Net Loss/Profit is not required by, or presented in
accordance with, HKFRSs. We believe that the presentation
of non-HKFRSs measures when shown in conjunction with
the corresponding HKFRSs measures provides useful
information to investors and management regarding financial
and business trends in relation to our financial condition and
results of operations, by eliminating any potential impact of
items that our management does not consider to be indicative
of our operating performance such as the impact of certain
investment transactions. We also believe that the non-HKFRSs
measures are appropriate for evaluating the Group’s operating
performance. However, the use of this particular non-HKFRSs
measure has limitations as an analytical tool, and you should
not consider it in isolation from, or as a substitute for the
analysis of, our results of operations or financial conditions as
reported under HKFRSs. In addition, this non-HKFRSs financial
measure may be defined differently from similar terms used
by other companies and therefore may not be comparable to
similar measures used by other companies.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The following table reconciles our Adjusted Net Loss/Profit for
the years presented to the most directly comparable financial
measure calculated and presented in accordance with
HKFRSs, which is profit for the year:

B E 5w B AT

TREFIMZ2INFENCHEBIEFE AN ER
BEEVBREENFEREVNREETALE
fRsE & (BIEARME) /R

Year Ended December 31,
BZ12A318LEE

2023 2022
20234 20224
US$’000 US$'000
E FET
(Loss)/Profit for the period Hi (E518) / FIE (37,150) 139,278
Add: oo
Net realized and unrealized losses on  AJRESRC EIH L AR EIEFHEO 630 15,280
convertible bonds("
Income tax effects of non-HKFRSs BB EREEAABRHEHRTE® (134) (3,247)
adjustments®
Adjusted Net (Loss)/Profit AR (FE)FE &R (36,654) 151,311
Notes: Bt -
(1) Represents the net realized and unrealized losses on our (1) BERMNRIEAEBRREMTHITA ] EENE
investment, net of income tax effects, in the convertible BrEBARRERBIEFE (NBRAEHE
bond issued by Chervon Auto Precision Technology. Z).
(2) Represents income tax effects of non-HKFRSs adjustments.  (2) IR BB RELNABROMSHEE -

Liquidity and Financial Resources
Financial Position

The Group continued to maintain a strong financial position.
As of December 31, 2023, the Group had US$296.3 million in
cash and cash equivalents (December 31, 2022: US$466.7
million), including approximately HK$339.7 million (equivalent
to US$43.6 million) in remaining net proceeds from our initial
public offering. 60.0%, 30.4%, 3.9% and 5.7% of the cash and
cash equivalents as of December 31, 2023 were denominated
in RMB, US dollar, Euro and other currencies, respectively.

RBESRMKEER

BHBAR

REBEBHEZFRINI BN - BZE2023F 124
31 AEEHEE2063AEEXTHENESEE
¥ (2022512 A31H : 466.7EB*=7T) * EH 8
BRAREER TS HRIBFHELNI.7TEEET
(FHEMR43.6EEEIL) - BE2023F12H318 -
HEREELEEYW60.0%  30.4% ~ 3.9% %5.7%
DRIAARE « 5T - BT hEMEEEE -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BIRE & B AT

Funding and Treasury Policy

The Group’s funding and finance policy aims to maintain
stable financial position and mitigate financial risks. The
Group regularly reviews its funding requirements to maintain
adequate financial resources in order to support its current
business operations as well as its future investments and
expansion plans.

Borrowings and Gearing Ratio

As of December 31, 2023, the Group had bank loans of
US$323.6 million (December 31, 2022: US$329.5 million),
which were primarily denominated in RMB, and lease liabilities
of US$12.4 million (December 31, 2022: US$22.0 million). As
of the same date, fixed-rate and floating-rate loans account for
58% and 42%, respectively, of the Group’s total bank loans.

As of December 31, 2023, short-term bank loans and current
portion of long-term bank loans collectively accounted for
61.2% of the total bank loans (December 31, 2022: 58.5%).

The Group’s gearing ratio (which equals total debt (including
bank loans and lease liabilities) divided by total equity)
decreased from 0.4 as of December 31, 2022 to 0.3 as of
December 31, 2023.

Working Capital

Our inventories amounted to US$531.0 million as of December
31, 2023 as compared to US$600.0 million as of December
31, 2022. Our inventory turnover days increased to 209 days
in 2023, as compared to 157 days in 2022, primarily due to a
decrease in customer orders.

Our trade and bills receivables turnover days were at 77 days
in 2023, as compared to 47 days in 2022, which is in line with
the credit terms we granted to our customers. The increase
primarily resulted from a decrease in our supply chain
financing.

Our trade and bills payables turnover days were 96 days in
2023, as compared to 106 days in 2022, which is in line with
the credit terms that we obtained from suppliers.

Capital Expenditures

Our capital expenditures in 2023 amounted to US$77.1 million
(2022: US$81.2 million), primarily due to investments in our
factory plants, manufacturing equipment and IT systems.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Capital Commitments

As of December 31, 2023, our capital commitments (including
those contracted for and authorized but not contracted for)
for the construction of plant and buildings and acquisition of
machinery and equipment amounted to US$67.5 million (2022:
US$428.2 million) primarily for the expansion of our production
capacity.

Pledge of Assets

During the Reporting Period, certain assets of the Group were
pledged as security for bank loans, as further detailed below:

B E 5w B AT

BEXAE

B E2023F12A31H  ZRMARKEE LEFER
MBS B R RN E A EE (BREEFTORE EE
AT EREIE) B67.588BEIT (20224F
428 2HEE) TEARERER °

BEERN

RBERAR - AEBEF L EECERRRITERD
PR E—HFIBOT

As of December 31,

HZE12A31H
2023 2022
20235 20224
US$’000 US$'000
ELH FE=T
Plant and buildings [ K iEF 31,740 48,145
Leasehold land HELTH 21,852 22,779
Intangible assets mEEE - 1,162
Inventories FE 16,565 177,596
Trade and bills receivables B 5 WGRIE R RN R & 1,538 78,862
Pledged deposits [mEzECEEY 14,511 31,340
Other assets HtEE - 7,923
Total #st 86,206 367,807

As of December 31, 2023, the Group had pledged deposits
of US$18.2 million (December 31, 2022: US$36.5 million),
which will be released upon the settlement of letters of credit
and bills payable and by the Group or the expiry of relevant
banking facilities.

Contingent Liabilities

During the Reporting Period, the Group issued guarantees
to financial institutions in the People's Republic of China
(*PRC”) for certain indebtedness of our independent third-
party customers, who are typically qualified distributors of
ours in the PRC. As of December 31, 2023, the maximum
guarantee amount was US$21.9 million (December 31, 2022:
US$7.9 million) and the guarantee issued was US$8.5 million
(December 31, 2022: US$1.3 million).

HE2023F12A31H » A% BENEEFFTHA
18.2A &I (202212 H31H : 36.5 &%
TL) BB EEE ERAERENZREREAER
AR RTT B A B B A o

HERE

RIBEHRAN - AEERKEMBLE=FRFHET
BERMAREARLIFE ([FE]) S REERET
ER ZERFPBERAQRERHNEERDHE
e HE2023F 128310 R5EREEA21.9
HEEIT(2022F12A3108 : 79BH&%7T) ' 2
BiERA85EEXRIT (2022412A310 : 1.388
ZE5T) °
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BIRE & B AT

Significant Investments Held

Details of the Group’s significant investments with a carrying
amount of 5% or more of the Company’s total assets as of

December 31, 2023 are set forth in the table below.

BHEEARE

TR ANEFEE2023F12 831 BHEREEEL
KAREEES%BNIA FHEAIREFHE -

Carrying Performance
amount as Fairvalue as  (share of loss/  Total amount
percentage percentage  net unrealized of dividends
Investment Carrying of total Fair of total loss) for received for
costasof  amount as of assets as of value as of assets as of  the yearended  the year ended
December 31,  December 31,  December 31,  December 31,  December 31,  December 31,  December 31,
2023 2023 2023 2023 2023 2023 2023
HEANE
BZ2023F BZ2023F 12A3AL
123182 1283182 EERA HZ22023%
HZ2023E HE2023% HEE BE2023% MEE  (BEER/ 124318
1283182 12A31A2 hEEE 12A3182 hagE AEBER  LEEESH
Investment k% RERA KEfE Bat MfER BAt 78 e
USs'000 USs'000 % Us$'000 % USs$'000 USs'000
Tin TER % Tin % Tin e
Equity interest in REEAEER 80,396 86,921 4.8% 131,586 7.3% (18,341) -

Chervon Auto
Precision
Technology

Bk

As of December 31, 2023, the Company, through Chervon
(China) Investment Co., Ltd. (RIE(FE)REHFRQA)
(“Chervon (China) Investment”), holds 64,671,068 shares,
representing approximately 24.74% equity interest, of
Chervon Auto Precision Technology. Chervon Auto Precision
Technology is principally engaged in the production, sales and
research and development of automotive power systems and

relevant components. Chervon Auto Precision Technology was
established in the PRC with limited liability on March 19, 2012
and its shares are listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange
(stock code: 603982.SH).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

As of December 31, 2023, the investment cost in connection
with our equity interest in Chervon Auto Precision Technology
amounted to US$80.4 million (December 31, 2022: US$81.8
million). As of the same date, the fair value of such equity
interest amounted to US$131.6 million (December 31, 2022:
US$188.3 million), which accounted for 7.3% of our total
assets as of December 31, 2023 (December 31, 2022: 10.1%).
During the Reporting Period, we had a share of losses of an
associate of US$18.3 million, as compared to a share of loss
of an associate of US$5.5 million in 2022, in connection with
our equity interest in Chervon Auto Precision Technology.
During the same period, we did not receive any dividends
from Chervon Auto Precision Technology in connection with
our equity interest (December 31, 2022: US$0.5 million).

In 2023, we disposed of our interest in the convertible bonds
issued by Chervon Auto Precision Technology and received
proceeds of US$19.3 million. During the Reporting Period, we
incurred net unrealized losses on convertible bonds of US$0.6
million, compared to net unrealized losses on convertible
bonds of US$15.3 million in 2022. During the Reporting Period,
we did not receive any dividends from Chervon Auto Precision
Technology in connection with such convertible bonds we held
(December 31, 2022: nil).

We will continue to monitor our investments in Chervon Auto
Precision Technology and explore opportunities to monetize
such investments if appropriate market opportunities arise.

Except as disclosed above, during the Reporting Period, the
Group did not hold any significant investments (including any
investment in an investee company with a carrying amount of
5% or more of the Company’s total assets as of December 31,
2023).

Material Acquisitions and Disposals of Subsidiaries and
Associates

Except as disclosed in the section headed “—Significant
Investments Held” in this report, during the Reporting Period,
the Group did not have material acquisitions or disposals of
subsidiaries or associates.

B E 5w B AT

B ZE2023F 128318 » BARRERETHEHEE
BATay IR ERRI R B KA A80.4 8 &3 T (2022
F12A31H :81.8EB8*=T) - HERH - ZRHE
K AREER131.6EEXT(2022F12A318 -
188.3B&EEL)  (hEMEE2023F12A31H4
AEMT.3% (2022F 12 A31H : 10.1%) » BiksE
HA - B22022F AN A AR R ISR B RE IR I A0 AR A
RN EL — A A RBEAS SABETAL
NABIEE—EEBE R AREIEA183EEET - [
HY o FRAPIIL AR A RS VR B RS BT R 1S AT ) R AP
RIRS AR BIRIAL B (2022912 A31H : 0.5 &>
JT) °

M2023F - BMIHERMN RIETERBZ RITEEST
WARRESER  WHKEATSRIE19.38EE
JC o RRE RN - RPIRBAIMRKRESFRERERE
HEEE0.6ABETT 0 M2022F G IR EHFARE
REEFEI5.38EBET - RIMEBA - BMIE
WFREFEFZEREMESTRERMFENZ A E
BEREMARE (202212 A310 : &) -

RS EESZERMERETEBERIMAKE -
VTHEHBEENTERERRREXEZREZRDN
e -

BrEXATIEEEIN  RREPE AEETERS
FREREE (BIEHEHZE2023F 12 A1 BEREE
HARRAIEEES% A LI E QR BT A
&) o

B AU SR W A TR B A

BRASRE - FHBEEARE | —SMKREN  R@E
A AEEYESAPRBERHEMB QAR

NG

To=FER 23



o

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BIRE & B AT

Future Plans for Major Investments and Capital Assets

During the Reporting Period, save for the expansion plans as
disclosed in the section headed “—Use of Net Proceeds from
our Global Offering” in this report, the Group has no specific
plans for major investment or acquisition for major capital
assets or other businesses.

Exposure to Fluctuations in Foreign Exchange Rates

The Group manufactures and sells its products in many
countries throughout the world. As a result, there is exposure
to foreign currency risk as the Group enters into transactions
and make investments denominated in multiple currencies.
For example, changes in currency exchange rates may affect
the relative prices at which the Group and its competitors sell
products in the same market and the costs of products and
services the Group requires for its operations. The Group’s
predominant exposures are in US dollar, Euro and RMB. The
Group is subject to risks arising from the translation of balance
sheets and income statements of its subsidiaries to US dollars
as well as the risk arising from the export of products and
sales outside the country of manufacturing.

The Group enters into foreign exchange forward contracts with
financial institutions to mitigate its exposures to fluctuations in
foreign exchange rates. Fluctuations in the foreign exchange
rates may lead to losses resulting from the Group’s exposure
to foreign exchange forward contracts or similar arrangements.
Our net foreign exchange gain in 2023 amounted to US$4.9
million, as compared to a net foreign exchange loss of
US$15.5 million in 2022. Our net realized and unrealized loss
on derivative financial instruments (which primarily include
foreign exchange forward contracts) in 2023 was US$12.2
million (2022: US$23.3 million).

Investment Risk Management

Our investment strategy is grounded in the principles of
compliance, prudence, safety and effectiveness. Each
investment decision is made based on internal vetting and
discussions, considering factors such as market dynamics,
expected returns and risks involved. We believe that our
internal strategy and policies regarding investments and the
related risk management mechanisms are adequate, and that
our investment decisions have been in full compliance with our
investment strategy and policies.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended December 31, 2023, the Group’s
largest customer and five largest customers accounted for
approximately 34.5% and 59.3% (2022: 49.8% and 70.5%)
respectively of the Group’s total revenue; and the Group’s
largest supplier and five largest suppliers accounted for
approximately 21.7% and 33.8% respectively of the Group’s
total purchases (2022: 10.8% and 27.9%).

As far as the Directors are aware, none of the Directors, their
associates or any Shareholders who owned more than 5% of
the Company's share capital had any interest in the five largest
customers or suppliers of the Group.

HUMAN RESOURCES

The number of employees of the Group was 6,173 as of
December 31, 2023 (December 31, 2022: 6,990). The total
staff costs for the Reporting Period amounted to US$209.0
million as compared to US$214.4 million in 2022. We did
not incur equity settled share-based expenses during the
Reporting Period.

The Group is committed to hiring, retaining and promoting top
talents across its global teams. As part of its retention strategy,
the Group offers competitive remuneration packages to its
employees, including salary and allowances, performance-
based bonuses and long-term incentive programs. The Group
also provides regular and specialized training tailored to the
needs of its employees in different departments.

As of December 31, 2023, the male-to-female ratio of the
Group’s employees is approximately 1.56 to 1. The ratio is
primarily driven by the nature of our business as we employ a
higher portion of male engineers and front-line workers. While
we consider such ratio to be in line with industry norms, we are
firmly committed to offering equal employment opportunities
to all qualified candidates based on merits and will seek to
achieve relative balance between male and female employees
going forward.
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DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr. Pan Longquan (GB#R) (‘Mr. Pan”), aged 60, is
our principal founder, executive Director, Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer. Mr. Pan is primarily responsible
for supervising overall operations, management, strategic
planning and business development of our Group.

Mr. Pan has over 30 years of experience in the power tool
and OPE industry and 29 years of management experience
in our Group. Mr. Pan founded our principal operating
subsidiary, Nanjing Chervon Industry and has served as its
chairman since September 1997. On June 22, 1999, Mr. Pan
was appointed as our executive Director, Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer. Mr. Pan currently serves as a director in
a number of our subsidiaries and as the general manager of
Chervon (China) Investment. He is also a director of Chervon
Global Holdings Limited (“Chervon Global”) and its various
subsidiaries, which are principally engaged in the production
of key automobile and mechanical components and investment
management. Mr. Pan serves as the chairman of Chervon Auto
Precision Technology, a company listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange (stock code: 603982.SH) since October 2012. Prior
to founding the predecessor company of our Group, Nanjing
Chervon International Trading Co., Ltd.* (IRRIEEEES
ABRAF]) (“Chervon International Trading”) in 1994, Mr.
Pan served as a salesperson in Nanjing Machinery, Minerals,
Metals & Medicine Import and Export Company* (F R f &
TEBEEREMELOAQR]), a company engaged in machinery
import and export trading, from July 1988 to June 1993.

Mr. Pan received his bachelor's degree and his master's

degree in earth sciences from Nanjing University (FIRAE) in
the PRC, in July 1985 and July 1988, respectively.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Zhang Tong (3Rf¥%) (“Ms. Zhang"), aged 52, is our co-
founder, executive Director and executive vice president for
the North America sales & marketing. Ms. Zhang is primarily
responsible for supervising overall operations, management,
strategic planning and sales and marketing development of
our Group in North America.

Ms. Zhang has over 20 years of experience in the power tool
and OPE products industry and management experience in
our Group. Ms. Zhang co-founded our principal operating
subsidiary, Nanjing Chervon Industry, and has served as
its director since September 1997. On June 22, 1999, Ms.
Zhang was appointed as our executive Director and executive
vice president for the North America sales and marketing.
Ms. Zhang currently serves as a director in a number of our
subsidiaries. She is also a director of Chervon Global and
its various subsidiaries, which are principally engaged in the
production of key automobile and mechanical components
and investment management. Ms. Zhang serves as a director
of Chervon Auto Precision Technology, a company listed on
the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 603982.SH), since
October 2016.

Ms. Zhang studied foreign trade English from Hohai University
(A8 KE) in the PRC and graduated in July 1991. Ms. Zhang
received her master's degree in business management from
China Europe International Business School (FREUEEfR) in the
PRC in May 2012.
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Mr. Ke Zugian (##) ("Mr. Ke”), aged 63, is our co-
founder, executive Director and executive vice president
for manufacturing and supply chain. Mr. Ke is primarily
responsible for supervising manufacturing and production
processes and management of our Group.

Mr. Ke has over 20 years of experience in the power tool and
OPE products industry and management experience in our
Group. Mr. Ke joined Chervon International Trading in January
1996 as a technical director, and has served as a director and
a vice general manager of Nanjing Chervon Industry since
September 1997. On June 22, 1999, Mr. Ke was appointed
as our executive Director and executive vice president for
manufacturing. Mr. Ke currently serves as a director in a
number of our subsidiaries and as the general manager of
Nanjing Chervon Industry. He is also a director of Chervon
Global and its various subsidiaries, which are principally
engaged in the production of key automobile and mechanical
components and investment management. Mr. Ke serves as
a director of Chervon Auto Precision Technology, a company
listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 603982.
SH), since October 2016. Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Ke
was a lecturer in Tongji University ([F7%KX2) from July 1984 to
June 1992, a technical manager in TUV Rheinland (TUV &%
B2 7)), a technical services provider, from July 1992 to May
1994 and a technical manager in TUV SUD (TUV & m iR
A7\]), a testing and certification provider, from June 1994 to
December 1995.

Mr. Ke received his bachelor’s degree and his master’s degree

in industrial automation from Tongji University ([E/&AXZ) in the
PRC in July 1984 and April 1990, respectively.
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Mr. Michael John Clancy (“Mr. Clancy”), aged 68, is
our executive Director and senior vice president for the
North America sales and marketing. Mr. Clancy is primarily
responsible for supervising overall operations, management,
strategic planning and sales and marketing development of
our Group in North America.

Mr. Clancy has extensive experience in the power tool industry
and has accumulated over 30 years of experience in corporate
management.

Mr. Clancy joined our Group in September 2018 and has
since served as the chief executive officer of Chervon NA. Mr.
Clancy was appointed as our executive Director on August 4,
2021. Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Clancy served as the vice
president for the national accounts unit of Skil Corporation
from 1978 to 1992, a power tool and accessory supplier which
was later acquired by our Group, the vice president of the
consumer business group of Rust-Oleum Corporation, a paint
supplier, from 1992 to 1995 the president of RotoZip Tool
Corp, a power tool and accessory supplier, from 1995 to 2000
and the senior vice president of the North American Sales
organization and the project management of Robert Bosch
Tool Corporation, a power tool and accessory supplier, from
2010 to 2016 and from 2016 to 2017, respectively.

Mr. Clancy received his bachelor's degree in business from
Western lllinois University in the U.S. in May 1977 and his
master's degree in business administration from Depaul
University in the U.S. in February 1983. Mr. Clancy has been
one of the board members of the Outdoor Power Equipment
Institute since March 2021.
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Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Tian Ming (EH®), aged 63, has been appointed as our
independent non-executive Director with effect from December
8, 2021. Mr. Tian is primarily responsible for supervising and
providing independent judgment to our Board.

Mr. Tian has 20 years of extensive experience in the fields
of competitive strategy, operation management and property
investment and development. Mr. Tian worked at the Nanjing
People’s Government (BRMARBEA) from July 1991
to October 2001, with his last position being the deputy
department head. He was also the executive secretary of
Nanjing Changjiang Waterway Bureau (B Rm&/IfEEE
/&) from December 1979 to April 1991. In December 2001, Mr.
Tian founded Landsea Group Co., Ltd. (BAzFEERHER A7),
a company principally engaged in property development, and
has since served as its director and chief executive officer.
He has been the chairman of the board of Shanghai Landleaf
Architecture Technology Co., Ltd.* (LB EERTBERAT))
since July 2013, a company principally engaged in providing
green construction technologies related services and the
shares of which were listed on the National Equities Exchange
and Quotations Co., Ltd. (stock code: 870998.NEEQ) from
February 2017 to March 2020.

Mr. Tian has served as the chairman and an executive director
in Landsea Green Properties Co., Ltd. (BAsF&r@ibEAR
‘A7]) (stock code: 106.HK) since July 2013 and Landsea
Homes Corporation, a company listed on the NASDAQ Stock
Market (symbols: “LSEA”, “LSEAW") since January 2021. He
was appointed as a director of Landsea Green Life Service
Company Limited (BAFF&B4EEREABMR A F]) (stock code:
1965.HK) in December 2020, and subsequently, its chairman
of the board and a non-executive director in January 2021 and
has served since then.

Mr. Tian served on various industry associations, such as the
vice president of China Real Estate Chamber of Commerce
(EBEHEME) from October 2016 to October 2021, the
president of the CEIBS Alumni Association from April 2017 to
April 2020, and the rotating chairman of China Urban Realty
Association (R EEER) from April 2018 to April 2020.
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Mr. Tian received a diploma in engine management from
Nanjing Heyun School* (FFUAEZMR) (currently known
as Nanjing Maritime School* (FRMMEER)) in the PRC in
December 1979 and a diploma in Chinese from Nanjing
Vocational Tertiary Institute* (BRELEEZ24) in the PRC
in December 1988. Mr. Tian completed a master’s course
program in administrative management from Nanjing University
(AR AE) in the PRC in August 1997 and received his
master's degree in business management from China Europe
International Business School (FFEIEIFR TrEEkT) (“CEIBS”)
in the PRC in September 2007. Mr. Tian was awarded the “EY
Entrepreneur of the Year” in the real estate industry by Ernst &
Young in October 2019.

Dr. Li Minghui (Z8#8), aged 50, has been appointed as our
independent non-executive Director with effect from December
8, 2021. Dr. Li is primarily responsible for supervising and
providing independent judgment to our Board. Dr. Li was a
lecturer in accounting from August 2003 to July 2005 and
an associate professor in accounting from August 2005 to
November 2006 at the School of Management in Xiamen
University (BEPIAZ). Dr. Li served as an associate professor
at the School of Business in Nanjing University (R AE2) from
December 2006 to December 2009. Since December 2009,
Dr. Li has been a professor in accounting at the School of
Business in Nanjing University (R AZ2).

Dr. Li has been an independent non-executive director of
Jiangsu Sugang Shipping Co., Ltd.* (I#erEMmERNDAE
[R’A7"]), a company principally engaged in maritime cargo
transportation since October 2023 and has also served
as an independent non-executive director of a number of
listed companies, including Nanjing Zhongweixin Software
Technology Co., Ltd.* (MRFFHERERERNHDERAT)
from August 2020 to August 2023, Baosheng Science and
Technology Innovation Co., Ltd. (BEBEEEAFRMDBERAR)
(stock code: 600973.SH) from December 2014 to May 2019,
Changchai Co., Ltd. (F&M&MHERAF]) (stock code: 000570.
SZ) from March 2015 to April 2020, Jiangsu Fasten Co., Ltd.
(OIEERBIRMDBRAR]) (stock code: 000890.SZ) from April
2015 to November 2019, Nanjing Securities Co., Ltd. (R &%
& 1D B R A F]) (stock code: 601990.SH) from May 2016 to June
2022 and GCL Energy Technology Co., Ltd. (128 REHEA (5
AR AF]) (stock code: 002015.SZ) since June 2019.
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Dr. Li has been a director of China Audit Society (FEIE:t£
&) since December 2009 and the vice president of Jiangsu
Audit Society* (T#EFI2®) since January 2019.

Dr. Li received his bachelor's degree in accounting from
Nanjing University of Science and Technology (FARET
AZ) in the PRC in June 1997 and his master's degree in
accounting from Shandong University of Economics (ILE#E
JEERT) (currently known as Shandong University of Finance
and Economics (ILWEE4E X)) in the PRC in June 2000. Dr.
Li obtained his doctorate degree in accounting from Xiamen
University (EF9KE) in July 2003. Dr. Li is qualified as a non-
practicing certified public accountant issued by The Chinese
Institute of Certified Public Accountants since December 2009.

Mr. Jiang Li (#¥3Z), aged 59, has been appointed as our
independent non-executive Director with effect from December
8, 2021. Mr. Jiang is primarily responsible for supervising and
providing independent judgment to our Board.

Mr. Jiang was the founder of Nanjing Tianjia Air-conditioning
Equipment Co., Ltd.* (FRKXIMNEFHBREERAE]), which was
later renamed as Nanjing Tianjia Environmental Technology
Co., Ltd.* (FARANMIEFERI L AR A F]) and had been appointed
as its director and general manager in 1999, and has currently
served as the chairman of the board of the same. Mr. Jiang
served as a director of MayAir Technology (China) Co., Ltd (%
B(RENRERFERMBBERAF) from July 2019 to March 2020
and was appointed as the chairman of its board since March
2020. Mr. Jiang has been a director of Guangzhou Smardt
Chiller Manufacturing Co., Ltd.* (BIMNBEE S REZERERR
~|]) since January 2021. Mr. Jiang is also a member of the
National Professional Standardization Technical Committee*
(FREXFELRTEES).

Mr. Jiang received his master’'s degree in business
management from China Europe International Business School
(FPEIREEERT) in the PRC in September 2009. During his career,
Mr. Jiang was nominated as an innovative enterprise talent by
the PRC Ministry of Science and Technology* (RHXEFAIH &
% A7) and an excellent contributor to the cause of socialism
with Chinese characteristics in Jiangsu Province* ((I#&EFH
PEEEHEERFERRE). Mr Jiang was also awarded the
first prize and the second prize in China machinery industry
science and technology* (BRI THERBSEREM —FRE=F
#%) and Nanjing science and technology progress award* (&

R RO 7 88).

32 Chervon Holdings Limited Annual Report 2023

TELTH2009F 12 ARETHRHEFETZ2EeNESET
B2019F 1 ARBEIHETE2ENEEER -

FHLTR1997F6 ARMGFRBERIETI KBS 2
B EA] - WK 200066 A EUS B SR A8 E 2T
(RBAILEMERE) G E2ELEMN - FHLIRN
2003F 7 AR EPMIAZ S EE L2 - FHL
B2009F 12 A A B M st e IEm s
ZHTAD

B EE 59 BEEARMNBIIFNTE
F H2021F12A8HEER - BAETEBESE
BEEEe W mEREE T HIE -

BrReERMRAMERAREERAR (KREER AN
REIMBEREARAR) MAIEA - WA 1999F
EZITAHESERAKE BEIEER - EBrAER
2019F 7 AE2020F 3 A AR () IRIFBRHL
BRNBERATNES  B2020F3 AREZRTAZ
NRAEBEBGEF - BLAEB2021F 1 ARREETEM
BERFERAREBEEERAAES - BXENAS
EEEFLECREMEEENKE -

B ER2009F9 ARG H PSR T EE
ETEM - EREENBELET  HEREE AT
R B EEAT RIHEEFHERSECLS
TEEFEERE  BEENMKERREEM T ERZE
Riif— S8R SR RERAmEHRESHE -



/’\0\./.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Hu Yian (38 2L %) (“Mr. Hu”), aged 55, is our chief financial
officer. Mr. Hu is primarily responsible for overseeing overall
financial operations, financing and investment activities of our
Group.

Mr. Hu joined our Group in April 2003 and has since served
as the director and financial vice president of Nanjing Chervon
Industry. Mr. Hu currently also serves as a director in a number
of our subsidiaries. Mr. Hu has been a director of Chervon
Auto Precision Technology, a company listed on the Shanghai
Stock Exchange (stock code: 603982.SH), from March 2012 to
November 2022. Prior to joining our Group, he was a financial
manager of Nanjing Ericsson Panda Communication Co., Ltd.*
(ARENEREHAIEABRAT) from November 1995 to March
2003.

Mr. Hu received his bachelor’'s degree in industrial accounting
from Northeast Institute of Technology (¥it T &%) in the
PRC in June 1992 and his master’s degree in international
management from The Australian National University in
Australia in June 2001.

Mr. Wu Shuming (R%Z8#8), aged 57, is our vice president
for product solution group department. Mr. Wu is primarily
responsible for supervising and managing the research and
development system and leading technological development
of our Group.

Mr. Wu joined our Group as an engineer in Nanjing Chervon
Industry in June 1997. Mr. Wu was appointed as the general
manager of R&D of our Group in March 2010. Prior to joining
our Group, Mr. Wu was an engineer in Nanjing Soil Instrument
Factory* (FAR T HE M) from July 1989 to May 1997.

Mr. Wu received his bachelor's degree in vacuum technology
and equipment from Hefei University of Technology (& BT %
AE) in the PRC in July 1989.
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Mr. Wu Gang (=), aged 50, is our chief digital officer. Mr.
Wu is primarily responsible for overseeing the digital strategy
and information technology development of our Group.

Mr. Wu has extensive experience in managing the digital and
information system at various companies in the automotive
industry. He joined our Group as the chief digital officer on
April 26, 2021. Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Wu was the IT
system project manager of SAIC General Motors Co., Ltd.
from April 1998 to July 2005, the IT application director and
the IT PMO director of SAIC Motor Corporation Limited from
August 2005 to July 2011, the chief IT director of industrial
group of Nippon China Limited from July 2011 to March 2012,
the IT director of Geely and Volvo China in April 2012 and the
chief digital officer of SAIC MAXUS Automotive Co., Ltd. from
February 2017 to July 2020.

Mr. Wu received his bachelor’s degree in computer science
and technology from Shanghai Jiao Tong University (/&%
BAE) in the PRC in July 1996 and his master's degree in
business administration from Fudan University (fEEAXZ) in
the PRC in January 2008.

Ms. Shan Xiaodong (E#3), aged 57, is our vice president
for human resources. Ms. Shan is primarily responsible for
overseeing human resources planning and management of our
Group. Ms. Shan joined our Group in May 2017 as the vice
president for human resources in Nanjing Chervon Industry.

Prior to joining our Group, Ms. Shan was a lecturer in School
of Economics and Management of Inner Mongolia University
(WEHABEEEEER) from 1995 to 1996. Subsequently,
Ms. Shan held senior human resources management positions
in various companies, including serving as a human resources
and administrative manager at BP China Ltd. from 2001 to
2003, the vice president for Asia Pacific human resources
(BERANNERBEL) of Hexion Inc. (previously Momentive
Specialty Chemicals) from 2003 to 2015 and the vice president
for human resources of Shanghai Fortune Map Trading Limited
(EBEEESERAT]) from 2015 to 2017.

Ms. Shan received her bachelor’'s degree in economic
management from Fudan University (B X2) in the PRC in
July 1988 and her master's degree in management from BI
Norwegian School of Management in Norway in February 1999.
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Mr. Peter John Melrose, aged 58, is our vice president for
the European sales & marketing. Mr. Melrose is primarily
responsible for supervising overall operations, management,
strategic planning and sales and marketing development of
our DIY power tools and OPE business in Europe. Mr. Melrose
joined our Group as a general manager of Chervon Europe
Limited in June 2007 and was appointed as the managing
director of EGO Europe GmbH since November 2015. Mr.
Melrose has been a managing director of Chervon GmbH
since November 2022. Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Melrose
began his career with Black & Decker and held various sales,
marketing and product development positions before joining
NEC (UK) LTD as the European marketing manager. Mr.
Melrose continued his career in marketing with one of the UK’s
foremost companies (Centrica plc) within its energy supply
business (British Gas Trading Ltd) and re-joined the power
tool industry in Europe as a commercial director with Global
Machinery Company Pty. Mr. Melrose received his bachelor’s
degree in civil engineering from Hatfield Polytechnic in
the UK in July 1988 and his master's degree in business
administration (MBA) with a major in strategic marketing from
Hull University in the UK in July 1997.

Dr. Christian Neuner, aged 48, is our vice president for FLEX.
Mr. Neuner is primarily responsible for supervising overall
operations, management, strategic planning and sales and
marketing development of the FLEX brand product.

Dr. Neuner joined our Group in August 2014 as the vice
president of corporate strategy and development of Nanjing
Chervon Industry. Dr. Neuner has subsequently held positions
in a number of our subsidiaries, including the managing
director of Chervon GmbH from October 2016 to March 2023,
the managing director of FLEX Elektrowerkzeuge GmbH since
May 2017, the managing director of Flex Geschéaftsfuhrungs
GmbH since June 2017 and the chief executive officer of Flex
Verwaltungs GmbH & Co. KG since January 2018. Prior to
joining our Group, Dr. Neuner served as a project manager of
Roland Berger Strategy Consultants GmbH from May 2003 to
October 2010 and a principal of Roland Berger Management
Consultants (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. from October 2010 to July
2014.
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Dr. Neuner received his master's degree in business
administration with a major in marketing and production and
his doctorate degree in business administration from the
University of Bayreuth in Germany in May 2002 and April 2009,
respectively. Dr. Neuner has been one of the board members
of the European Power Tool Association since January 2020
and has been elected as the vice president of the German
Power Tool Association in July 2021.

*

For identification purposes only

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Mr. Hu Yian (#3L%) was appointed as one of the joint
company secretaries of our Company on August 4, 2021,
which took effect on the same day.

For biographical details of Mr. Hu, please see “—Senior
Management” in this section.

Ms. Mok Ming Wai (EBHE) (“Ms. Mok”) was appointed
as one of the joint company secretaries of the Company on
August 25, 2022, which took effect on the same day.

Ms. Mok is currently as executive director of Tricor Services
Limited. She is a Chartered Secretary, a Chartered
Governance Professional and a fellow of both The Hong
Kong Chartered Governance Institute and The Chartered
Governance Institute. Ms. Mok holds a degree of Master of
Science in Applied Accounting and Finance. She has over 26
years of experience in the corporate secretarial field and has
been providing professional corporate services to Hong Kong
listed companies as well as multinational, private and offshore
companies.
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The Board is pleased to present this Annual Report and the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the Reporting Period. All references in this section to other
sections, parts of or notes in this Annual Report, form part of
this Directors’ Report section.

GLOBAL OFFERING

The Company was incorporated in Hong Kong as a private
company with limited liability under the predecessor ordinance
of the Companies Ordinance (which was in force from time
to time before March 3, 2014) on February 19, 1999, the
shares of which (the “Shares”) were listed on the Main Board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) on December 30, 2021 (the “Listing Date”).
The prospectus of the Company dated December 17, 2021
(“Prospectus”) has been published on the websites of the
Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company
(https://global.chervongroup.com).

PRINCIPAL BUSINESS

The Company is an investment holding company. The
Group is principally engaged in researching, developing,
manufacturing, testing, sales, and after-sale services for power
tools, outdoor power equipment and related products. Analysis
of the principal activities of the Group during the Reporting
Period is set out in note 4 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group and a discussion
and analysis of the Group’s performance during the Reporting
Period are set out in the sections headed “Chairman’s
Statement” on pages 7 to 9 and “Management Discussion and
Analysis” on pages 10 to 25 of this Annual Report.

An account of the Group's key relationships with its key
stakeholders is provided in the section headed “Chairman’s
Statements” on pages 7 to 9 of this Annual Report and “—
Relationship with Stakeholders” under this section. An analysis
of the Group’s performance during the Reporting Period using
financial key performance indicators is set out in the section
headed “Financial Summary” on page 6 and “Management
Discussion and Analysis” on pages 10 to 25 of this Annual
Report.
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Compliance with Laws and Regulations

During the Reporting Period, as far as the Board is aware, the
Group has complied with the relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the Group in all material aspects.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

The Directors are aware that the Group’s financial condition,
results of operations, businesses and prospects may be
affected by a number of risks and uncertainties. The key
risks and uncertainties identified by the Group are set out as
follows:

Principal Risks and Uncertainties Relating to the Industry and
Overall Economy

. Unfavorable economic and geopolitical conditions in
the markets in which we operate, such as the trade
tensions between China and the United States, may
adversely affect our sales.

. We face active competition and resulting pricing
pressures, and we may not be able to compete
effectively against current and future competitors.

° Competitor innovations, customer and end-user

preferences and production and market conditions in

the power tools and OPE industry may change rapidly,
and we may not be able to sufficiently and promptly
respond to such changes.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties Relating to Our Products

° Changes in customer and end-user preferences,
inability to maintain mutually beneficial relationships
with large customers, inventory reductions by
customers and inability to penetrate new channels of
distribution could adversely affect our business.

° The inability to develop and introduce new products
at favorable margins, or low customer demand for new
products, could adversely impact our business.

o Unsatisfactory performance of or defects in our
products may harm our reputation, lead to product
returns or recalls and subject us to significant product
liability litigations.
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° Any mishandling of our battery cells and battery packs
may cause safety accidents and disruptions to the
operation of our facilities.

. We may fail to maintain our brand position among our
targeted end-user groups, and market perception and
end-user acceptance of our brands may suffer.

o We are subject to various regulatory and customer-
imposed guidelines and may not be successful in
maintaining an effective quality control system.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties Relating to Our Operations

° Our business depends in part on our ability to protect
our intellectual property rights and operate without
infringing on the rights of third parties.

o Our business depends on third-party suppliers to meet
our requirements for high-quality production and timely
delivery of raw materials and components.

° Our manufacturing capabilities depend on labor supply
and middle management, and we may not be able to
recruit, train and retain qualified personnel or maintain
a sufficient workforce.

. Our distributors may engage in misconduct or other
improper activities, as a result of which, we may be
exposed to regulatory investigations, penalties or other
negative consequences.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties Relating to Our Financial
Condition

° We may not be able to obtain adequate financing on
commercially reasonable terms on a timely basis, or at
all, and any debt financing may contain covenants that
restrict our business or operations.

. We may not achieve optimal results in future
acquisitions, investments, partnerships or new
businesses, or may encounter difficulties in integrating
and developing the acquired assets or investments
successfully.

o Changes in taxation on our business may materially and
adversely affect our business, financial condition and
results of operations.
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Principal Risks and Uncertainties Relating to Regulatory
Compliance

o We may not be able to obtain, maintain and renew
various permits, licenses, certificates, consents and
other approvals from administrative authorities.

° Failure in complying with quotas, duties, tariffs or other
restrictions on imports and exports may expose us to
increased costs and delay the transportation of our
products to market.

o We are subject to national and local environmental and
health and safety directives, laws and regulations, and
the violation of which may materially and adversely
affect our business, results of operations and financial
condition.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties Relating to Doing Business in
the PRC

° The economic, political and social conditions in China,
as well as government policies, laws and regulations,
could affect our business, financial conditions and
results of operations.

° Uncertainties with respect to the PRC legal system
could limit the legal protections available to us and
any litigation in China may be protracted and result in
substantial costs and diversion of our resources and
management attention.

o Fluctuations in the value of the RMB and the PRC
government’s control over foreign currency conversion
may adversely affect our business and results of
operations.

For details regarding the Company’s risk management system,
please refer to the section headed “Risk Management and
Internal Control” in the Corporate Governance Report on
pages 90 to 93 of this Annual Report.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Board is responsible for evaluating and managing
material ESG issues. Company management is responsible for
developing the Company’s ESG strategy, policy and reporting,
including assessing and managing climate-related risks, with
oversight provided by the Board. For environmental matters,
our Environmental, Health and Safety (“EHS") department
and equipment management department are responsible
for managing environmental and climate-related risks
arising from our business operations. The EHS department
identifies key environmental factors, establishes operational
control requirements and procedures and conducts relevant
monitoring and inspections. The EHS department also reviews
and updates the operational control procedures on an annual
basis in accordance with changes to key environmental
factors, applicable laws and regulations and compliance
assessments.

During the Reporting Period, we had not been subject to
any material fines or other penalties due to non-compliance
in relation to environmental protection laws and regulations
that had a material adverse impact on our operations and,
so far as our Directors are aware after making all reasonable
enquiries, there was no threatened or pending action by any
environmental government authorities in respect thereof.

For details of the Company’'s environmental policies
and performance, please refer to the Company’s 2023
Environmental, Social and Governance Report.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
REPORT

During the Reporting Period, the Group has complied with the
“comply or explain” provisions in the Environmental, Social
and Governance Reporting Guide as set out in Appendix 27
to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange (the “Listing Rules”).

Further details of the Group’s ESG matters including
environmental policies and performance are set out in the
Company’s 2023 Environmental, Social and Governance
Report.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended December 31, 2023, the Group's
largest customer and five largest customers accounted for
approximately 34.5% and 59.3% (2022: 49.8% and 70.5%)
respectively of the Group’s total revenue; and the Group’s
largest supplier and five largest suppliers accounted for
approximately 21.7% and 33.8% respectively of the Group's
total purchases (2022: 10.8% and 27.9%).

As far as the Directors are aware, none of the Directors, their
associates or any Shareholders who owned more than 5% of
the Company’s share capital had any interest in the five largest
customers or suppliers of the Group.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the Reporting Period are set out
in the consolidated financial statement on page 108 of this
Annual Report.

FINAL AND SPECIAL DIVIDEND

The Board has recommended the payment of a special
dividend of US$0.0354 per ordinary share (equivalent to
HK$0.2764 per ordinary share) for the year ended December
31, 2023 (2022: nil). This proposed special dividend is subject
to the approval of the Shareholders at the annual general
meeting of the Company (the “AGM”) to be held on June 4,
2024, and the special dividend is expected to be payable on
or before Tuesday, July 16, 2024 to those Shareholders whose
names appear on the Company’s register of members as of
Thursday, June 13, 2024. No final dividend was recommended
by the Board for the year ended December 31, 2023 (2022:
US$0.0718 per ordinary share (equivalent to HK$0.5600 per
ordinary share)).

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS/RECORD
DATE

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
Thursday, May 30, 2024 to Tuesday, June 4, 2024, both days
inclusive, in order to determine the identity of the Shareholders
who are entitled to attend the AGM, during which period no
share transfers will be registered. To be eligible to attend the
AGM, all transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged for registration with the Company’s
share registrar, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at 17/F, Far
East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong before
Wednesday, May 29, 2024.
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Record date for determining the entitlement of the
Shareholders to the special dividend (if approved by the
Shareholders in the AGM) is Thursday, June 13, 2024.
To qualify for the special dividend, all transfers forms
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be
lodged for registration with the Company’s share registrar,
Tricor Investor Services Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance
Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong before Friday, June 7,
2024. The register of members of the Company will be closed
from Tuesday, June 11, 2024 to Thursday, June 13, 2024,
both days inclusive, on which dates no share transfers will be
registered.

DIVIDEND POLICY

Pursuant to the dividend policy adopted by the Company (the
‘Dividend Policy”), the declaration of dividends is subject to
the discretion of the Board, and, if necessary, the approval of
the Shareholders. In considering the declaration and payment
of dividends, the Board shall take into account the Group's
results of operations, cash flows, financial condition, statutory
and regulatory restrictions on the payment of dividends by
the Company, the Company’s capital requirements, future
business plans and prospects and any other factors that the
Board may consider relevant. Any declaration and payment,
as well as the amount, of any dividend will also be subject
to the articles of association of the Company (the “Articles
of Association”) and all applicable laws and regulations.
The Directors may reassess the Dividend Policy from time to
time. Further details of the Dividend Policy are provided in
the Corporate Governance Report on pages 94 to 95 of this
Annual Report.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 6 of
this Annual Report. The summary does not form part of the
audited consolidated financial statements.

BANK BORROWINGS

Details of the bank borrowings of the Group for the year ended
December 31, 2023 are set out in note 23 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM GLOBAL OFFERING

The Company received net proceeds (after deduction of
underwriting commissions and related costs and expenses)
from its global offering completed in December 2021, including
the full exercise of the over-allotment option, of approximately
HK$3,470.1 million (the “2021 Net Proceeds”).

As of December 31, 2022, the balance of the 2021 Net
Proceeds amounted to approximately HK$2,053.0 million. As
of June 30, 2023, the balance of 2021 Net Proceeds amounted
to approximately HK$1,930.5 million. As set out in the
Prospectus, it was the Company’s plan that 66.5% of the 2021
Net Proceeds would be used for expanding and upgrading
production facilities. After due and careful consideration of
Group’s business strategy and evolving market environment
and customer needs, the Board has resolved on August 28,
2023 to approve the reallocation of the remaining 2021 Net
Proceeds that remained unutilized as of June 30, 2023 and the
updated timeframe. The intended uses and the balance of the
2021 Net Proceeds are set out below:
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RATR2021F12 AZHNEHRBE (BIERSTT
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AN EIRATEL 0 AR AR B 2021 FRTB A
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Updated Amount of
Allocation Percentage of Proceeds Balance of
Original Balance of of Remaining Updated  Utilized Between 2021 Net Updated Timeframe
Original Percentage of 2021 Net 2021 Net Allocation July 1,2023 Proceeds for Use of the
Allocation of ~ Total 2021 Net Proceeds as of Proceeds as of of Remaining and  Unutilized as of Unutilized 2021 Net
Intended Use of Net Proceeds 2021 Net Proceeds Proceeds June 30, 2023 June 30,2023 2021 Net Proceeds December 31,2023 December 31, 2023 Proceeds
Bz L AEHHT  203%7A1RE L
W1E FNAEFE 2023F6A0F  202356A30F WAEHE  08F12AA 20035128318 BENERABA
FEEsEn  RETEEEN BANERE BEFBTANF REREAE  HECBAKE RBA21F WANEHE
feasERERE RESE REAA WEFELR  FENEFEAR BAl WEEE  FEREREEH HEFENRER
Expanding and upgrading production HK$2,307.6 million 66.5%  HK$19305 milion  HK$430.5 million 203%  HK$237.7milion  HK$192.8 million  Before December 31, 2024
facilities
BARARERR 2307 6BEAT 865%  1,90588AT WB05EERT 23% BITBEAT 1928B8AT 20245128318 28
Researching and developing products HK$312.3 million 9.0% NI HK$469.1 million 243%  HK$322.2milion  HK$146.9 million  Before December 31, 2024
Eqitg 3123BE#T 9.0% z 469.1REET 24.3% 300REET 1469BEET 02451231824
Enhancing sales and distribution channels  HK$242.9 million 7.0% Nil  HK$469.1 million 243%  HK$469.1 million Ni Fully utiized in 2023
HEHERDHRE U9BEET 7.0% g 469.1BEAT 2%.3% 469.1BEAT ES ROBFEEDA
Paying interest-bearing bank borrowings HK$260.3 million 75% NI HK$391.9 million 203%  HK$391.9 millon Nil Fully utilized in 2023
X EHAER H0IABAET 75% z W19AEAT 20.3% N19BEET ES R03EERET
Working capital and other general HK$347.0 million 10.0% Nil HK$169.9 million 88%  HK$169.9 million Nil Fully utilized in 2023
corporate purposes
BEESRAL-RATAL UTOREAT 10.0% T 169.9B8%T 8.8% 169.9B 8% B ROBEFEEDA
Total HK$3,470.1 million 100.0%  HK$1,9305 milion  HK$1,930.5 million 100%  HK$1,590.8 milion  HK$339.7 million
ot 340.1BEE 1000%  19305BBET  19305AEET 100%  1,5908BEHT 3397REEL
Chervon Holdings Limited Annual Report 2023



Considering the macroeconomic uncertainties, the Company
has decided to adjust the development pace of its CHERVON
Smart Production Industrial Park to align with such market
change. Accordingly, part of the remaining 2021 Net Proceeds
will be reallocated to researching and developing products,
enhancing sales and distribution channels, paying interest-
bearing bank borrowings and working capital and other
general corporate purposes.

The Board is of the view that the reallocated use of remaining
2021 Net Proceeds will enable the Company to strengthen its
competitive position, better address customers’ needs, adapt
to changing market conditions and improve the efficiency
of the funds utilization, in alignment with the Company's
strategic objectives and operational needs. Accordingly, the
Board considers that the reallocated use of the remaining
2021 Net Proceeds is in the best interest of the Company and
its shareholders as a whole, and will not have any material
adverse impact on the existing business and operations of the
Group.

The unutilized 2021 Net Proceeds are primarily placed in
licensed banks in PRC and Hong Kong as of December
31, 2023. During the Reporting Period, the Group utilized
or proposed to utilize the remaining 2021 Net Proceeds
in accordance with the intended purposes and timelines
previously disclosed by the Company.

USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM PLACING AND
TOP-UP SUBSCRIPTION

The Company received net proceeds from its placing and top-
up subscription completed in January 2023, after deducting
related fees, costs and expenses, of approximately HK$773
million (“2023 Net Proceeds”). The intended uses and the
balance of the 2023 Net Proceeds are set out below. As of
December 31, 2023, the 2023 Net Proceeds have been fully
utilized.

/’\0\./.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
FRGWE

ERIZBEBENTHEEN  ARADREARE
REBREREEXANFENR - ERAETS
BL o Et - BORT 2021 FARSFIBFES BN
DEEEMIE  EBRHERDHRE - MR
RITEFARZEES REM—REERE -

BEFEERA BEFHIEH T 2021 FEFIEFHE
ARBEDAQRIMRESRFWA - FTHRER
FHE¥ BETEHZEOMmERIRRERESHER
R - EMEARNRNEEEZREERBRIT—
B Et EEERBENOEHB T 2021 FHER
BFEARFARRRIRERRHEERERNZE
BETeHAEENREXBREEENF@MERT
M2 -

HZE2023F12831H » KEH2021 FASRIEBEF
HEEFEATBEREBNFEET - RiEHE -
REECRBEARRLENEZENRT AR REBE
B EEE AR 2021 TS FUEFEE -

\_»

BEERAEAFABFESRAFRAR

KNAAE2023F 1 AT HALE R ERNREF
SREFE(NKREBRER  KARFAXER)OA
773EBAETT ([2023 FFAERIEFE]) - 2023FF
BRIEFEMNRTEREMEREIOT B ZE2023
F12A31H » 2023 FGFIBFHERHHA -

RIEFRER AT —TZ=FFHk 45



o

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

EE e

Amount of Balance of
Net Proceeds Net Proceeds
Allocation Percentage of Utilized up to Unutilized as of
Intended use of of 2023 Net Total 2023 Net December 31, December 31,
Net Proceeds Proceeds Proceeds 2023 2023
B ZE2023F #HZE2023F
2023 F 18 152023 FFrBRIE 12A318&A 12A318K8A

FIBREREREAE REFEIE SHAENEIL FEREFHESE FEREFHEES
Enhancement of sales and HK$309.2 40.0% HK$309.2  Nil

distribution channels million million
BRIHERDIHES 309.28 & BT 40.0% 309.2E&@ BT =
Research and development HK$231.9 30.0% HK$231.9 Nil

of products million million
7 i 3% 231.98 &% 7T 30.0% 2319EE®TL T
Upgrade of production HK$77.3 10.0% HK$77.3  Nil

facilities million million
4R E R 77.3E8ET 10.0% 77388 T =
Other general working HK$154.6 20.0% HK$154.6  Nil

capital purposes million million
Hihv—gEESR% 154.6 BB /ETT 20.0% 1546EB8EETL =
Total HK$773.0 100.0% HK$773.0  Nil

million million

5T 773.0B 8B T 100.0% 773.088%ET &
SUBSIDIARIES MiEE A 7

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in note
15 to the consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

During the Reporting Period, the Group continued to expand
its business and spent approximately US$77.1 million on
property, plant and equipment. Details of the movements in
the property, plant and equipment of the Group during the
Reporting Period are set out in note 12 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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SHARE CAPITAL

As of December 31,
issued Shares was 511,053,811. Details of movements in the
Company’s share capital during the Reporting Period are set
out in note 32(c) to the consolidated financial statements.

2023, the Company’s total number of

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

There was no equity-linked agreement entered into by the
Company or any of its subsidiaries during the Reporting Period
or subsisted as of December 31, 2023.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Company and
the Group during Reporting Period are set out in note 32(a) to
the consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

The Company’s reserves available for distribution to the
Shareholders as of December 31, 2023 amounted to US$186.7
million (2022: US$165.1 million). Details of the reserves of
the Company available for distribution to the Shareholders
as of December 31, 2023 are set out in note 32(a) to the
consolidated financial statements.

DEBENTURE ISSUED

The Group did not issue any debenture during the Reporting
Period.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
LISTED SECURITIES
During the Reporting Period, neither the Company nor any of

its subsidiaries has purchased, redeemed or sold any of the
Company'’s listed securities.

DONATIONS

During the Reporting Period, approximately US$1.2 million
charitable donations were made by the Group (2022: US$0.3
million).
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DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company and its subsidiaries during the
Reporting Period and as of the date of this Annual Report are:

Directors of the Company:
Executive Directors

Mr. Pan Longquan (Chairman, Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Zhang Tong

Mr. Ke Zugian

Mr. Michael John Clancy

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Tian Ming
Dr. Li Minghui
Mr. Jiang Li

Directors of the subsidiaries of the Company:

The following directors have served on the board of the

=

RMEMIBEARFRELY  ARARIRENE AR

MEEWT :

KRBESE:
HITEF
EEEREL (BEFR

Rt
IR T4

TECAREL)

Michael John Clancy %4

BUHBTTEE
HAAsLE
FHES L
LAV

AAEMBRRES :

HZE20235 128310 U TESERARFTWE

subsidiaries of the Company as of December 31, 2023: ANEEZTH
Place of
Name of Subsidiaries Incorporation
MEAE &R I ) R AL 3t Name of Directors ExEl
Chervon (HK) Ltd Hong Kong Mr. Pan Longquan BRERLE
RIE(FE)BRAF &% Chervon Holdings Limited RIEERBRRAR]
Ms. Zhang Tong SR 2+
Mr. Ke Zugian AR E
Mr. Cheng Hong Kei B S A
Chervon Overseas Holdings Limited  Hong Kong Mr. Pan Longquan BREREE
RIEFINER AR DA B Ms. Zhang Tong Rzt
Mr. Ke Zugian TAE R
Chervon (China) Trading Co., Ltd PRC Mr. Pan Longquan ERREE
RIE(HE) ESARRA HE Ms. Zhang Tong Rzt
Mr. Hu Yian AR S
Chervon (China) Tools Sales Co., Ltd PRC Ms. Zhang Tong R+
RIg(PE) TAEERR AR HE
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ESEEWE
Place of
Name of Subsidiaries Incorporation
MEARER NG Ave: ) Name of Directors E=EB
Nanjing Chervon Industry PRC Mr. Pan Longquan ERER A
R RIERHR HE Ms. Zhang Tong Rzt
Mr. Ke Zugian fE R &
Mr. Hu Yian AR LA
Chervon Industry (Vietnam) Co. Ltd  Vietnam Mr. Li Ang ZREED
REEXE (W) ERAR i Mr. Ren Dehong @ FEREED
Mr. Ke Zugian @ TE R £ @
Chervon China Investment PRC Mr. Pan Longquan BERETE
RIE(FE)REBRRA HE Ms. Zhang Tong bR
Mr. Ke Zugian TIAE R E
Chervon North America Inc. us Ms. Zhang Tong b2
xH Mr. Michael Jhon Clancy Michael John Clancy 4t 4
Mr. Wang Bin Wang Bin%t &
Chervon Canada Inc. Canada Mr. Pan Longquan EREREE
mnex Ms. Zhang Tong bR -

Chervon Europe Ltd

EGO Europe GmbH

Chervon Australia Pty

Chervon NZ Subsidiary Limited

Flex Geschaftsfihrungs GmbH

Flex Verwaltungs GmbH & Co KG

United Kingdom
5

Germany
==

Australia

NIk

New Zealand

R

Germany
=E

Germany
e

Mr. Gerald Beaudrie Il

Mr. Pan Longquan
Ms. Zhang Tong

Mr. Peter John Melrose
Mr. Axel Stemmer

Mr. Pan Longquan
Mr. Ng Paul King-Por
Mr. Hu Yian

Mr. ASHBY, Richard Charles
Mr. Pan Longquan
Ms. Zhang Tong

Mr. Ke Zugian
Dr. Christian Neuner

General Partner: Chervon
Geschaftsfuhrungs GmbH

Limited partner: Chervon
Overseas Holdings limited

SRIEFERY

BRAR =%

Gerald Beaudrie 1564

EREREL
R L

Peter John Melrose %t 4
Axel Stemmer %4

BRI E
Ng Paul King-Por %4
AR LA

ASHBY, Richard Charles% 4
BERLE
b2

TR FR T
Christian Neunert& =+

LHAZA - Chervon
Geschaftsfihrungs GmbH

BRAEBA - REGIMER
BRAR
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Place of

Name of Subsidiaries Incorporation

o)== NS ST Ave: ) Name of Directors E=EE

FLEX Elektrowerkzeuge GmbH Germany Dr. Christian Neuner Christian Neunerf§ =
=

FLEX Power Tools BVBA Belgium Mr. Robert Charles de Koning Robert Charles de Koning %t 4
Bk ) B Flex Elektrowerkzeuge GmbH

FLEX Power Tools B.V.

FLEX Elektrona adf, s.r.o

FLEX lItalia S.r.l

FLEX Electroportatif Machines et

Accessoires-FEMA

Flex Power Tools Limited

Flex Power Tools Middle East Fzco

Netherlands

o

The Czech Republic
R HRE

[taly

BAF

France

EH

United Kingdom
i

United Arab Emirate

Dr. Christian Neuner
Mr. Robert Charles de Koning

Dr. Christian Neuner
Mr. Jan Skala

Dr. Christian Neuner
Mr. Stefano Galdabino
Mr. Gert Moller

Dr. Christian Neuner
Mr. Philippe Bayet

Mr. Ashley Senna

Dr. Christian Neuner

Dr. Christian Neuner

Christian Neunert# =
Robert Charles de Koning %t £

Christian Neuneri&+
Jan Skala%t &

Christian Neunerf#
Stefano Galdabino%t %
Gert Mollert 4%
Christian Neuneri&+
Philippe Bayetst4£
Ashley Senna’t4

Christian Neunert&i+

Christian Neunert& =+

AR A RE Mr. Chadi Kachmar Chadi Kachmars 4
SKIL B.V. Netherlands Mr. Pan Longquan ERRSLE

Gl Mr. Peter John Melrose Peter John Melrose /%t %

Chervon (HK) Itd RE(HE)BRRF

Chervon GmbH Germany Dr. Christian Neuner Christian Neunert&+

= Mr. Peter John Melrose Peter John Melros %t 4
Notes: Hist
(1) the chief executive officer of Chervon Industry (Vietnam) (1) RIEEZE (W) BRARITEREBH

Co. Ltd;

(2) Resigned during the Reporting Period.
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In accordance with article 111 of the Articles of Association,
Mr. Pan Longquan, Mr. Ke Zugian and Mr. Jiang Li will retire
by rotation and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election
at the forthcoming AGM of the Company.

The Company has not received any notice in writing specifying
that the resignation or refusal to stand for election is due
to reasons relating to the affairs of the Company from the
Directors.

The particulars of Directors who are subject to re-election
at the forthcoming AGM are set out in the circular to our
Shareholders dated April 26, 2024.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE FROM THE
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has reviewed the independence of each
independent non-executive Director in accordance with
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all
independent non-executive Directors to be independent as of
the date of this Annual Report.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior
management of the Group are set out on pages 26 to 36 of
this Annual Report.

CHANGES TO DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

Save as disclosed in this Annual Report, there are no changes
to any information required to be disclosed in relation to
any Director pursuant to paragraphs (a) to (e) and (g) under
Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules since the publication of the
Company'’s Interim Report dated September 26, 2023.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS AND
LETTERS OF APPOINTMENTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service
contract with the Company on December 8, 2021, and the
Company has issued letters of appointment to each of the
independent non-executive Directors. The service contracts
with each of the executive Directors is for an initial fixed
term of three years commencing from December 8, 2021.
The letter of appointment with each of the independent non-
executive Directors is for an initial fixed term of three years.
The service contract and the letters of appointment are subject
to termination in accordance with their respective terms. The
service contracts and the letters of appointments may be
renewed in accordance with the Articles of Association and
the applicable Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has entered,
or has proposed to enter, a service contract with any member
of the Group (other than contracts expiring or determinable
by the employer within one year without the payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation)).

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Remuneration Committee was set up for reviewing the
Group’s emolument policy and structure of the Directors and
senior management of the Group, having regard to the Group's
operating results, individual performance of the Directors and
senior management and comparable market practices.

In addition, to bind the interests of Shareholders, the Company
and employees to focus on the realization of the Company’s
strategic development objectives and to drive the performance
growth and to improve our long-term incentive mechanism, the
Company has adopted the 2024 Share Scheme. For further
details regarding the 2024 Share Scheme, please refer to
section headed “—Event after the Reporting Period” in this

Annual Report.

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five highest
paid individuals during the Reporting Period are set out in
notes 8 and 9 to the consolidated financial statements.

RETIREMENT AND EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
SCHEME
Details of the retirement and employee benefits scheme of the

Company are set out in notes 6(b) and 31 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As of December 31, 2023, the interests or short positions of
each Director of the Board or chief executive of the Company
in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company
or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571
of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO”) which were required to
be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including the
interests and short positions which were taken or deemed
to have under such provisions of the SFO), or which were
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO or which were required to
be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of
Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) are as follows:

(i) Interest in our Company
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ESERTETHRAERRSD HERORE
FEERXE

HZE2023F12A31H EEGKEETRNARAIR
BITBRABRAR B ETMEHEE (EXEED
EBIEST1IEFEFRAEGN ([ REAEMRG )
EXVED) B - ARG EEFFELIRIEF
HE R EE GBI EXVERSE T K8 S/BME AR A) KB
RFTE D MR R (BIERIEEF RS 0B ME
M EER B ARBENER AR » SRR AR
AIRIEES LG IENIEI528BFEN BTk
RIEEMBEITAZERETELRRSHNIZESTR([E
R D) BNMGARR LB RATHEZR RKE W
T~

() REATMES

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding

Nature of interest Number of shares™ interest®
Name of Director EEHHE ERME BROHEBE®O BRESAESEL
Mr. Pan® EIE® Interest in controlled corporation 260,226,344 (L) 50.92%
TN
Ms. Zhang® R+ @ Interest in controlled corporation 98,335,050 (L) 19.24%
ZEEEE S
Mr. Ke® fa] g £ ©) Interest in controlled corporation 27,118,822 (L) 5.31%

X AEE S
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The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in such
shares of the Company.

As of December 31, 2023, the total number of issued
Shares was 511,053,811.

These shares are held by Panmercy Holdings Limited
(“Panmercy”), which is wholly owned by Mr. Pan, who is
also a director of Panmercy.

These shares include (i) 97,637,750 Shares held by Green
Hope Limited (“Green Hope”), which is wholly owned by
Ms. Zhang and (ii) 697,300 Shares held by two offshore
employee shareholding platforms pursuant to an employee
incentive arrangement, of which Ms. Zhang is the sole
director. Ms. Zhang is deemed to be interested in these
Shares for the purposes of the SFO.

These shares are held by Klamm Limited (“Klamm”), which
is wholly owned by Mr. Ke, who is also a director of Klamm.
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(ii)  Interest in our associated corporations (i) REBEZEPHER

Approximate

percentage of

shareholding

Name of Nature of interest Name of the associated corporation/subsidiary interest

director £ RBEME RBEE/ WEAREH RERORAL

Mr. Pan BRE Interest in controlled Chervon Global 66.72%
corporation
REiEER

Chervon Assets Management Holdings Limited 85.00%

Chervon Investment Limited 100.00%

Chervon Capital Management Limited 100.00%

Chervon Assets Holdings Limited 100.00%

Chervon (Nanjing) Management Services Co., Ltd.* 100.00%

(R&(mR)EERBEEBR L) (‘Chervon Management Services”)
RIE(BR)EERBEERAR ([REERRE])

Chervon International Trading (AR R EEKE 5ERA ) 85.00%
HRRERRESBRAT

Nanjing Jiuhao Electromechanical Industry Co., Ltd. 100.00%
RERAEREEEERAT

Chervon Precision Technology Holdings Company Limited 100.00%
(“Chervon Precision Technology”)

FERTRITARARAR ([RERTH])

Chervon China Investment * (FI&(FE) R EBRAR) 100.00%
RE(RE) REBRAF

Chervon Auto Precision Technology (B R R EAEREERITRHERLE)" 52.29%
HRREAERERIRNBRAR

Chervon Auto Precision Technology (Europe) Limited Liability Company 100.00%
RERERTHG (B BRAR

Chervon Auto Precision Technology (Anhui) Co., Ltd. * 100.00%

(RERERERIN(ZE)RHERALF) (‘Chervon Anhui’)
REABREERN (2R BHERAG ([RBZH])
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Approximate
percentage of
shareholding
Name of Nature of interest Name of the associated corporation/subsidiary interest
director ~ EE%E BHUE BEEE/ HWEARER RERHEA L
Ms. Zhang  ®XL Interest in controlled Chervon Global 24.66%
corporation
REERRER
Chervon Assets Management Holdings Limited 85.00%
Chervon Investment Limited 100.00%
Chervon Capital Management Limited Chervon Capital 100.00%
Chervon Assets Holdings Limited 100.00%
Chervon Management Services 100.00%
SEEERK
Chervon International Trading 85.00%
REERES
Jiuhao Electromechanical 100.00%
WERE
Chervon Precision Technology 100.00%
TR
Chervon China Investment 100.00%
g (RE)RE
Chervon Auto Precision Technology! 52.29%
R REEER
Chervon Auto Precision Technology (Europe) Limited Liability Company 100.00%

SERERERI (BN) ERAT

Chervon Anhui 100.00%
RIEZY
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Approximate
percentage of
shareholding

Name of Nature of interest Name of the associated corporation/subsidiary interest
director ~ EZ%E BHUE BEEE/ HEARER RERHEL L
Mr. Ke %k Interest in controlled Chervon Global 6.85%
corporation
REiEER
Chervon Assets Management Holdings Limited 85.00%
Chervon Investment Limited 100.00%
Chervon Capital Management Limited 100.00%
Chervon Assets Holdings Limited 100.00%
Chervon Management Services 100.00%
REERRH
Chervon International Trading 85.00%
REERES
Jiuhao Electromechanical 100.00%
WERE
Chervon Precision Technology 100.00%
TR
Chervon China Investment 100.00%
g (RE)RE
Chervon Auto Precision Technology!” 52.29%
R REEERI
Chervon Auto Precision Technology (Europe) Limited Liability Company 100.00%
RERERTHG (B BRAR
Chervon Anhui 100.00%
REZH

*

For identification purposes only
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(1) 52.29% interest in Chervon Auto Precision Technology is
represented by 27.55% personal interest in directly held by
Mr. Pan, Ms. Zhang and Mr. Ke in Chervon Auto Precision
Technology and 24.74% interest held though the Company.

Save as disclosed above, as of December 31, 2023, none of
the Directors and the chief executives of the Company had
or were deemed to have any interest or short position in the
shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO), which were required to be notified to the Company
under Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO or recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to
Section 352 of the SFO or otherwise notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As of December 31, 2023, to the best knowledge of the
Directors, the following persons (other than the Directors or
the chief executive of the Company) have interests or short
positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company
which were recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company under section 336 of the SFO or which were
required to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions
of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO:

At -

(1) RRIEREBZRRIMEO52.29% #2515 E L
o RRERASERRIEAERZRMEE
FER27.55% B A= RERBRNRATFEN
24.74% RS ©

B FXFIESN - B E 2023128310 HiESE
ERARAZSHITHRABRAQ B SKEARE®E (T
ZABHFREEIEOIEXVED) MG « FHEERM R
BEREFPEBAE G ARG RIEES MAPEEIE
XVEE7 R8HIAEME AR AN EMERSAE
HIREEF LS EH FE 35218 BB ARR R AR
EMELMaEmESSAR - SURBIZESTAIZA
MEARR R R R RERIAR -

FERRRHEMA T RS R B8R G #

3L bk A
=mERA

HZE2023F 128318  MESMAA - L TATL
(ARFIEZESHE=ITHABRIN) RAR B sk
RO R EBIREE SR EE KD F 336 &ED
AR RBBEFEMECMNERIAR  HIREF
FRHEGEPIEXVEIFE2 RIDEBARARFIEER
EZESA R -

Approximate
percentage of

Name of Nature of interest Number of shares® interest®

shareholder BRERE ERME BROHEBE®O #ERBANEIL

Panmercy® =Ee Beneficial owner 260,226,344 (L) 50.92%
EmEA A

Green Hope® D1 Beneficial owner 97,637,750 (L) 19.11%

BERBEBA
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Approximate
percentage of

Name of Nature of interest Number of shares interest®

shareholder BERER ERME BROHEE" HERPHAEILEE

Klamm®) A Beneficial owner 27,118,822 (L) 5.31%
EREEA

FMR LLC® FMR LLC® Interest in controlled corporation 51,003,170 (L) 9.98%
S EB RS

FIDELITY FIDELITY Beneficial owner 31,425,486 (L) 6.15%

INVESTMENT INVESTMENT EEEAA

TRUST TRUST

Notes: Bt -

(1)

The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in such
shares of the Company.

As of December 31, 2023, the Company’s total number of
issued Shares was 511,053,811.

Panmercy is wholly owned by Mr. Pan, who is also a
director of Panmercy.

97,637,750 Shares are held by Green Hope, which is
wholly owned by Ms. Zhang, who is also a director of
Green Hope.

Klamm is wholly owned by Mr. Ke, who is also a director of
Klamm.

FMR LLC holds the Shares through its direct and indirect
subsidiaries, including Fidelity Management Trust
Company, Fidelity Management & Research Company LLC,
FIAM Holdings LLC, FMR Investment Management (UK)
Limited, Fidelity Management & Research (Japan) Limited,
Fidelity Management & Research (Hong Kong) Limited,
FIAM Holdings LLC, Fidelity Institutional Asset Management
Trust Company and FIAM LLC.

FHLIEZALTRARARZERD TR -
HZE2023F 128310 ARQARIBHITRME
#HA5511,053,811BA%D ©

BREEELLEREAHER BELTRAERES -

97,637, 750D RERIFR - BBAKRL L
2EBEE  BRLLTNMAREMES -

FOMAELEL2ERE  WEENRTANE

S

FMR LLCEBHEBEE MHEENEB QR
AH - B¥EFidelity Management Trust
Company - Fidelity Management & Research
Company LLC * FIAM Holdings LLC * FMR
Investment Management (UK) Limited *
Fidelity Management & Research (Japan)
Limited * Fidelity Management & Research
(Hong Kong) Limited ~ FIAM Holdings LLC -
Fidelity Institutional Asset Management Trust
Company & FIAM LLC °
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Save as disclosed above, as of December 31, 2023, the
Directors were not aware of any persons (who were not
Directors or chief executive of the Company) who had interests
or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions
of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which would be
required, pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, to be entered in
the register referred to therein.

RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Group considers investors, employees, suppliers, society,
peers, governments and clients as its key stakeholders. It is
committed to building diversified, streamlined mechanisms
for communicating with such key stakeholders. Please refer to
the Company’'s 2023 Environmental, Social and Governance
Report for further details.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

We set out below a summary of the connected transactions
conducted by the Group during the Reporting Period.

Continuing Connected Transactions Fully Exempt from
the Reporting, Annual Review, Announcement and
Independent Shareholders’ Approval Requirements

We set out below a brief summary of the continuing connected
transactions fully exempt from the reporting, annual review,
announcement and independent shareholder’s approval
requirements conducted by the Group during the Reporting
Period.
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Connected Persons of the Company
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K REIREEA L

We have entered into certain transactions that will constitute MBI ETRS © RIE LETARANE14A.3114
continuing connected transactions under Rule 14A.31 of the REXFBERLITREXRBEEBUELS - ZE5XH
Listing Rules upon Listing. Those transactions are entered into  JYE T 5B A = R EBE AR ¢

with the following connected persons and their associates:

Connected person
BEAL

Connected Relationship

BAE R %

Chervon Auto Precision Technology

SRV T B KR R B

Cheng & Cheng Corporate Services
Limited (“Cheng & Cheng”)
EREWERBBER AR ([ERE]D))

Cheng & Cheng Taxation Services
Limited (“Cheng & Cheng Taxation”)
HEBBARANT ([ BB )

Chervon Auto Precision Technology is owned as to 27.55% by
Chervon Precision Technology, which is an indirect subsidiary
of Panmercy. As such, Chervon Auto Precision Technology is an
associate of Panmercy and therefore our connected person under
Rule 14A.13(3) of the Listing Rules.
RERERTRMAZENRZENE AR RESTRMERE27.55%
B o At REAEBERMABENBEAN - SRE ETHRAUE
14A13R) IERHEFIHRIEA L -

Cheng & Cheng is owned as to 50% by Mr. Cheng Hong Kei (ZFEE
) and 50% by his spouse. Cheng & Cheng is an associate of Mr,
Cheng Hong Kei, a director of Chervon (HK) Limited, and therefore
our connected person under Rule 14A.12(1)(c) of the Listing Rules.
BB BRI S E R EB MBS BIHEES50% K50%Em o EREARIE (FE)
ERARESERELENBEA - BURE EWHRANE14A12(1) () A
HPIREEEATL -

Cheng & Cheng Taxation is owned as to 50% by Mr. Cheng Hong
Kei (#fEE#) and 50% by his spouse. Cheng & Cheng Taxation is an
associate of Mr. Cheng Hong Kei, a director of Chervon (HK) Limited,
and therefore our connected person under Rule 14A.12(1)(c) of the
Listing Rules.

BN S R e A R BB D R B 50% R 50% e o EPEEH 7%
RRE(FE)ARAFEFEEHLENBEA - HURE EWRAE
14A12(1)(c)EBTPIMEEAL -
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Nanjing Chervon Auto Precision Technology Factory
Lease. During the Reporting Period, Nanjing Chervon
Industry, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
(as lessor) performed under a lease agreement with
Chervon Auto Precision Technology (the “Nanjing
Chervon Auto Precision Technology Factory Lease”),
pursuant to which Nanjing Chervon Industry leased to
Chervon Auto Precision Technology (as lessee) part
of its factory of an area of approximately 7,654.22 m?
located at No. 159 Jiangjun Avenue, Jiangning District,
Nanjing, the PRC. The transactions under the Nanjing
Chervon Auto Precision Technology Factory Lease
constitute de minimis transactions and are exempt
from the reporting, announcement, annual review and
independent shareholders’ approval requirements
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Water Utility Bill Sharing Agreement. During the
Reporting Period, Nanjing Chervon Industry, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, performed under a
water utility bill sharing agreement with Chervon Auto
Precision Technology (the “Water Utility Bill Sharing
Agreement”), pursuant to which Nanjing Chervon
Industry procured supply of water services in respect
of the Factory for the operations of Chervon Auto
Precision Technology. Given that (1) the utility supply
service is a “consumer service” and (2) the use of the
water supply service is on normal commercial terms in
our ordinary and usual course of business, the payment
for water utility charges under the Water Ultility Bill
Sharing Agreement on an at-cost basis is fully exempt
from the reporting, announcement and independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under Rule 14A.97
of the Listing Rules.
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Electricity Utility Bill Sharing Agreement. During the
Reporting Period, Nanjing Chervon Industry, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, performed under an
electricity utility bill sharing agreement with Chervon
Auto Precision Technology (the “Electricity Utility Bill
Sharing Agreement”), pursuant to which Chervon Auto
Precision Technology procured supply of electricity
services in respect of the Factory for Company’s
operations. Given that (1) the utility supply service is
a “consumer service” and (2) the use of the electricity
supply service is on normal commercial terms in our
ordinary and usual course of business, the payment for
electricity utility charges under the Electricity Utility Bill
Sharing Agreement on an at-cost basis is fully exempt
from the reporting, announcement and independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under Rule 14A.97
of the Listing Rules.
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Company Secretarial Services Agreement and
Tax Compliance Services Agreement. During the
Reporting Period, the Company performed under
a company secretarial services agreement with
Cheng & Cheng (the “Company Secretarial Services
Agreement”),
provided company secretarial services, custody
of company records and act as the designated
representative of certain of the Company’s subsidiaries.
The Company also performed under a tax compliance
services agreement with Cheng & Cheng Taxation (the
“Tax Compliance Services Agreement’), pursuant to
which Cheng & Cheng Taxation provided routine tax
compliance services and prepare profits tax returns
and tax computations to Company and certain of its
subsidiaries. The transactions under the Company
Secretarial Services Agreement and Tax Compliance
Services Agreement, when aggregated, constitute de
minimis transactions and are exempt from the reporting,
announcement, annual review and independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.

pursuant to which Cheng & Cheng

Details of the related party transactions undertaken in the
normal course of business are provided under note 36 to
the consolidated financial statements. Save as disclosed in
note 36 to the consolidated financial statements, pursuant to
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, none of such related party
transactions constitutes a connected transaction or continuing
connected transaction (as the case may be).
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DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as the related party transactions as disclosed in note
36 to the consolidated financial statements and the section
headed “—Related Party Transactions and Connected
Transactions” in this Annual Report, no transactions,
arrangements or contracts of significance to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which
a Director and/or any of its connected entity had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, and no transaction,
arrangement or contract of significance between the Company
or any of its subsidiaries and the Company’s controlling
Shareholders or any of their subsidiaries, subsisted at the end
of the year or at any time during the year ended December 31,
2023.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the Reporting Period was the Company or its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement that would enable the
Directors to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares
in or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate,
and none of the Directors or any of their spouses or children
under the age of 18 were granted any right to subscribe for
the equity or debt securities of the Company or any other body
corporate or had exercised any such right.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company was entered into or existed during the Reporting
Period.
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DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this Annual
Report, none of the Directors or their respective associates
(as defined under the Listing Rules) had engaged in or had
any interest in any business which competes or may compete,
either directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group
which would require disclosure under Rule 8.10 of the Listing
Rules.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

Pursuant to the Articles of Association and subject to
applicable laws, the Company has arranged for appropriate
insurance to cover all costs, charges, losses, expenses and
liabilities incurred by any Directors or officers in the execution
and discharge of his duties or in relation thereto. The relevant
provisions in the Articles of Association and such directors and
officers liability insurance were in force during the Reporting
Period and as of the date of this Annual Report.

PUBLIC FLOAT

The Company has applied to the Stock Exchange to request
the Stock Exchange to exercise its discretion under Rule
8.08(1)(d) of the Listing Rules, and the Stock Exchange has
granted to the Company, a waiver from strict compliance with
the requirements under Rule 8.08(1)(a) of the Listing Rules.
Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and to the best knowledge of the Directors, at least
18.43% (being the minimum public float prescribed by the
Stock Exchange and the Listing Rules) of the Company’s entire
issued share capital were held by the public as of the date of
this Annual Report.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
Adoption of 2024 Share Scheme

On January 29, 2024, the Board proposed to adopt a share
scheme under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules (the “2024
Share Scheme”). The resolution for adopting the 2024 Share
Scheme was passed in an extraordinary general meeting of
the Company held on February 20, 2024.

As of the date of this report, no share was granted, exercised,
cancelled or lapsed under the 2024 Share Scheme.
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The following sets forth a summary of the principal terms of
the 2024 Share Scheme. For further details regarding the 2024
Share Scheme, please refer to the Company’s circular dated
February 2, 2024. The summary does not form, nor is intended
to be, part of the 2024 Share Scheme nor should it be taken
as affecting the interpretation of the rules of the 2024 Share
Scheme. Unless context requires otherwise, capitalized terms

used herein shall have the same meanings as those defined in
the Company’s circular dated February 2, 2024.

(a)

(b)

Purpose

The purposes of the 2024 Share Scheme are: (1) to
bind the interests of the Shareholders, the Company
and its employees to focus on the realization of the
Company’s strategic development objectives and
to drive performance growth; and (2) to improve the
Group’s long-term incentive mechanism to attract and
retain outstanding talents and to fully mobilize the
senior management team and core employees.

Eligible Participants

Eligible Participants of the 2024 Share Scheme include:
(1) full-time and part-time employees, and directors
of the Company or any of its subsidiaries (including
persons who are granted Options or Awards under
the 2024 Share Scheme as an inducement to enter
into employment contracts with these companies)
(the “Employee Participants”); (2) the directors
and employees (whether full-time, part-time or other
employment arrangement) of the holding companies,
fellow subsidiaries or associated companies of the
Company (the “Related Entity Participants”); and
(3) the independent service providers, suppliers,
subcontractors and consultants who are the participants
(the “Service Provider Participants”).
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(c) Maximum Number of New Shares to Be Issued In

(d)

(e)

68

Respect of the Options and Awards

The total number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all Options to be granted under the 2024
Share Scheme and any other share option schemes of
the Company (the “Scheme Mandate Limit”) generally
shall not in aggregate exceed 51,105,381 Shares,
representing 10% of the total number of the Shares in
issue as of the date on which the 2024 Share Scheme
is adopted by resolution of the Shareholders. The
Company may seek the approval of the Shareholders in
a general meeting for “refreshing” the Scheme Mandate
Limit and the Service Provider Participant Sublimit
under the 2024 Share Scheme after three years from the
date of Shareholders’ approval for the adoption of the
2024 Share Scheme or the last refreshment, whichever
is later. The Scheme Mandate Limit represents 10% of
the total number of the Shares in issue as of the date of
this report.

Maximum Entitlement of Shares of Individual
Participants

Where any grant of Options or Awards to a participant
would result in the new Shares issued and to be issued
in respect of all Options and Awards, and other options
and awards granted to such person (excluding any
Options and Awards lapsed in accordance with the
terms of the 2024 Share Scheme) in the 12-month
period up to and including the date of such grant
representing in aggregate over 1% of the Shares in
issue, such grant must be separately approved by the
Shareholders in general meeting with such participant
and his or her close associates (or, if the participant is
a connected person, associates) abstaining from voting.
The Company must send a circular to the Shareholders
in connection therewith.

Exercise Period

The Board may determine in its absolute discretion the
Exercise Period for any award of Options and/or Awards
and such period shall be set out in an offer letter.
However, the Exercise Period for any award of Options
must not be longer than 10 years from the Grant Date.
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(9)

(h)

Exercise Price

The Exercise Price at which an Option holder may
subscribe for Shares upon the exercise of an Option
shall be determined by the Board in its absolute
discretion, and shall be at least the higher of: (1) the
closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of the
Board meeting for proposing an offer for the grant
of an Option or an Award (the “Offer Date”), which
must be a Business Day; and (2) the average closing
prices of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheets for the five Business Days
immediately preceding the Offer Date.

The Board may in its absolute discretion determine
whether the Award holder is required to pay any price
to acquire the Award Shares (the “Purchase Price”)
and, if so required, the amount of the Purchase Price,
after taking into account the practices of comparable
companies and the effectiveness of the 2024 Share
Scheme in attracting talents and motivating the Award
holder to contribute to the long-term development of
the Group. For the avoidance of doubt, the Board may
determine the Purchase Price to be nil.

Vesting Period

Under the 2024 Share Scheme, the Board has absolute
discretion to set a minimum period (the “Vesting
Period”) for which an Option or Award has to be held
before it is vested. The Vesting Period shall not be less
than 12 months provided that the Options or Awards
granted to Employee Participants may be subject
to a shorter Vesting Period under certain specific
circumstances. For Related Entity Participants and
Service Provider Participants, the Vesting Period shall
not be less than 12 months in any event.

Duration

The 2024 Share Scheme will remain valid and effective
for a period of ten years commencing on the date
on which the 2024 Share Scheme is adopted, after
which period no further Options will be granted but the
provisions of the 2024 Share Scheme shall in all other
respects remain in full force and effect and Options
which are granted during the life of the 2024 Share
Scheme may continue to be exercisable in accordance
with their terms of issue.

)

(9)

(h)

/’\0\./.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
FRGWE

TTIEE

BRERSA ATEBRERRERN 217
FEEMREFTERNEEE - BTEER
THBEZERSLE - (NEIXMTARER
P A 0 10 R B IR H BB AR AR S R Y B A0 B
ExgemRR(ENRHM]  AREXEA)
ZWTE - K (2)B R PTE B WA R AW
MRERZHAYAEEER 2 F k™
= -

IEET M AT A LA IR 18 MUK DA ) 2024 5F
Bt EBIERSIAT AR ERFEARAE
SEREFRFLHERMIE AR - &
FeU2RNEEERBBAARTAIN
ERERAKERR RS ((BEE]) & (K
FRE)BEEDHE REREM EEEH
EEBEERT -

5B

RIF2024F DT E  EFG A 2EIG
I E BB A K 2R D R B R AR R 2 & B ]
(IFEH)) - BEIMAELR12MEA - 1ER
BESEEFER N 2 BIRIENER REHE
ETHEBATAERE -HNEEEESE
ELRBREEE2EE  BEHAEREAT
FLR12(@H -

HiR

2024 F Rt ET &1 B HERMNE BT T4
HRANERERREN  RZBARRETE
SR AR - 2024 5F B AT EIRY 15
XRFBEEMATEDR T RRANREA - M
120245 B 1 5+ BB RUER IR 0 B R 7T
RIBEBITIRRABETTRE -

RIEZRAR AT —B-=FFER 69



.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EE e

Except as disclosed above, as of the date of this report, the
Group has no important events which occurred after the end of
the Reporting Period that required to be disclosed.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company (“Audit Committee”)
has jointly reviewed with the Board the accounting principles
and practices adopted by the Group, and discussed the
Group’s internal controls and financial reporting matters with
the management. The Audit Committee has reviewed and
discussed the annual results of the Group for the Reporting
Period.

AUDITOR

KPMG was appointed as auditor of the Company for the
Reporting Period.

KPMG shall retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
appointment. A resolution for the re-appointment of KPMG as
auditors of the Company is to be proposed at the forthcoming
AGM. There was no change in the auditor of the Company in
the preceding three years.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining a high level of
corporate governance practices. Details of the corporate
governance practices adopted by the Company are set out in
the section headed “Corporate Governance Report” on pages
71 to 100 of this Annual Report.

By Order of the Board

Pan Longquan

Executive Director, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Hong Kong, March 27, 2024
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The Board is pleased to report to the Shareholders on the
corporate governance of the Company during the Reporting
Period.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company strives to attain and maintain high standards
of corporate governance best suited to the needs and
interests of the Group as it believes that an effective corporate
governance framework is fundamental to promoting and
safeguarding interests of Shareholders and other stakeholders
and enhancing Shareholder value. Accordingly, the Company
has adopted and applied corporate governance principles
and practices that emphasize a quality board of Directors,
effective risk management and internal control systems,
stringent disclosure practices, transparency and accountability
as well as effective communication and engagement with
Shareholders and other stakeholders. It is, in addition,
committed to continuously enhancing these standards and
practices and inculcating a robust culture of compliance and
ethical governance underlying the business operations and
practices across the Group.

The Company has adopted the Corporate Governance Code
set out in Appendix C1 of the Listing Rules (the “CG Code”)
as its own code of corporate governance. Save as disclosed
in this Annual Report, the Company has complied with all
applicable code provisions under the CG Code during the
Reporting Period. The Company will continue to review
and monitor its corporate governance practices to ensure
compliance with the CG Code.
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THE BOARD
Corporate Culture and Strategy

The Group instills a culture that respects and promotes
creativity, opportunities to exchange ideas and cross-
fertilization of innovative advancements and solutions. The
Board sets the tone and shapes the corporate culture of
the Company, which is underpinned by the core values of
acting lawfully, ethically and responsibly across all levels
of the Group. The Board plays a leading role in defining
the purpose, values and strategic direction of the Group
and in fostering a culture that is forward-looking, change-
embracing and competitiveness-focused. The desired culture
is developed and reflected consistently in the operating
practices of the Group, workplace policies and practices as
well as relations with stakeholders. The Board’s oversight of
culture encompasses a range of measures and tools over
time, including workforce engagement, employee retention
and training, stringent financial reporting, effective and
accessible whistleblowing framework, legal and regulatory
compliance (including compliance with the Code of Conduct
and group policies), as well as staff safety, well-being and
support. Taking into account the corporate culture in a range
of contexts, the Board considers that the culture and the
purpose, value and strategy of the Group are aligned.

Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for the overall leadership of the
Group, oversees the Group’s strategic decisions and monitors
business and performance. The Board has delegated the
authority and responsibility for day-to-day management
and operation of the Group to the senior management of
the Group. To oversee particular aspects of the Company’s
affairs, the Board has established three Board committees,
including the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee
and the Nomination Committee (collectively, the “Board
Committees”). The Board has delegated to the Board
Committees responsibilities as set out in their respective terms
of reference.

All Directors have carried out their duties in good faith, in
compliance with applicable laws and regulations, and in the
interests of the Company and its Shareholders at all times.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage
in respect of liability arising from legal action against its
Directors, and will conduct an annual review on such insurance
coverage.
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Board Composition

As of December 31, 2023 and up to the date of this Annual
Report, the Board comprised seven Directors, including four
executive Directors and three independent non-executive
Directors as set out below:

Executive Directors

Mr. Pan Longquan (Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and
member of Nomination Committee)

Ms. Zhang Tong

Mr. Ke Zugian

Mr. Michael John Clancy

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Tian Ming (Chairperson of Remuneration Committee and
members of Audit and Nomination Committees)

Dr. Li Minghui (Chairperson of Audit Committee and
member of Remuneration Committee)

Mr. Jiang Li (Chairperson of Nomination Committee and
member of Audit Committee)

The biographies of the Directors are set out under the
section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” of this Annual Report.

The Board considers that the composition of the Board
provides a strong independent element with a balance of
skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate for
the requirements of the business of the Company.

During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this Annual
Report, the Board has met at all times the requirements under
Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules relating to the
appointment of at least three independent non-executive
directors with at least one independent non-executive
director possessing appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise.

During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this Annual
Report, the Company has also complied with Rule 3.10A of the
Listing Rules, which relates to the appointment of independent
non-executive directors representing at least one-third of the
Board.
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Each of the independent non-executive Directors has
confirmed his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules and the Company considers each of them to be
independent as of the date of this Annual Report.

Save as disclosed in the biographies of the Directors as set
out in the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors
and Senior Management” of this Annual Report, none of the
Directors has any personal relationship (including financial,
business, family or other material/relevant relationship) with
any other Directors or any chief executive.

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors,
have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business
experience, knowledge and expertise to the Board for its
efficient and effective functioning. Independent non-executive
Directors are invited to serve on the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee.

As regards the code provision under the CG Code requiring
directors to disclose the number and nature of offices held
in public companies or organizations and other significant
commitments as well as their identity and the time involved
to the issuer, the Directors have agreed to disclose their
commitments to the Company in a timely manner.

Board Independence Evaluation

The Company has established a Board Independence
Evaluation Mechanism which sets out the mechanisms to
ensure a strong independent element on, and independent
views and input are available to, the Board. The mechanisms
among other topics, (i) appointment of independent
non-executive directors to the Board and Board committees,
(ii) independence assessments conducted by the Nomination
Committee and (iii) Board decision-making process. We
believe these mechanisms will enable the Board effectively
exercises independent judgment to better safeguard the
Shareholders’ interests. During the Reporting Period, the
Board reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the
Board Independence Evaluation Mechanism and the results
were satisfactory.

cover,
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Board Diversity Policy

To enhance the effectiveness of the Board and to maintain
the high standard of corporate governance, we have adopted
the board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”) on
December 8, 2021, which sets out the objective and approach
to achieve and maintain diversity of our Board. Pursuant to
Board Diversity Policy, we seek to achieve board diversity
by taking into consideration of various factors and objective
criteria, including but not limited to professional experience,
skills, knowledge, gender, age, cultural and education
background, ethnicity and length of service.

The Company will also take into account factors relating to its
own business model and specific needs from time to time. The
Company recognizes and embraces the benefits of having
a diverse Board and sees increasing diversity at the Board
level, including gender diversity, as an essential element
in maintaining the Company’s competitive advantage and
enhancing its ability to attract, retain and motivate employees
from the widest possible pool of available talent.

For the purpose of implementation of the Board Diversity
Policy, the following measurable objectives were adopted:

(A) at least one member of the Board shall be female;

(B) at least one-third of the members of the Board shall be
independent non-executive Directors;

(C) at least one of the members of the Board shall have
obtained accounting or other professional qualifications;

(D) at least 80% of the members of the Board shall have
more than 15 years of experience in the industry he/she
is specialized in; and

(B) at least one member of the Board shall have overseas
work experience.
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As of the date of this Annual Report, the seven Directors
of the Company have a balanced mix of knowledge, skills
and experience, including the areas of accounting, asset
management, consumer goods and computer industries.
They obtained academic degrees in various majors, including
business administration, accounting, computer and marketing.
We have three independent non-executive Directors with
different industry backgrounds, representing more than one-
third of the members of our Board. Furthermore, our Board
has a wide range of age, ranging from 50 years old to 68
years old. We currently have one female Director and one
female member of senior management, and will continue to
take steps to further promote gender diversity at all levels
of our Company, including but not limited to the Board and
management levels. In addition, the range of length of service
of the Directors is between 2 and 25 years, balancing the
needs for both fresh perspectives and leadership continuity.
The Directors also have a range of ethnicity background and
cross-border work experience. While we recognize that the
diversity at the Board can be further improved, we will continue
to apply the principle of appointments based on merits, with
reference to our Board Diversity Policy.

Our Nomination Committee is responsible for ensuring the
diversity of our Board members and compliance with relevant
codes governing board diversity under the CG Code. Our
Nomination Committee will review and revisit the Board
Diversity Policy and our diversity profile (including gender
balance) at least once annually to ensure its continued
effectiveness and discuss any revisions that may be
required, and recommend any such revisions to our Board
for consideration and approval. We will also disclose in our
Corporate Governance Report regarding the implementation
of the Board Diversity Policy on an annual basis. At present,
the Nomination Committee considers that the diversity of the
Board is sufficient.
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The Board had targeted to achieve and had achieved at
least one female Director, one member of female senior
management and appropriate balance of female employees
of the Group and considers that the Company’s current
gender diversity is satisfactory. The Nomination Committee
will continue to identify suitable female candidate(s) for
appointment to the Board based on merits against objective
criteria. Details on the gender ratio of the Group together
with relevant data can be found in the Company’s 2023
Environmental, Social and Governance Report to be published
separately.

Training and Continuous Professional Development

Each newly appointed Directors would be provided with
necessary induction and information to ensure that he/she
has a proper understanding of the Company’s operations
and businesses as well as his/her responsibilities under
relevant statutes, laws, rules and regulations. The Company
also arranges regular seminars to provide the Directors with
updates on the latest development and changes in the Listing
Rules and other relevant legal and regulatory requirements
from time to time. The Directors are also provided with
regular updates on the Company’s performance, position and
prospects to enable the Board as a whole and each Director
to discharge their duties.

Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills. The Company has from time to time
updated and provided the Directors with written training
materials in relation to their roles, functions and duties.

During the Reporting Period, all Directors have been given the
training regarding the directors’ duties and responsibilities,
corporate governance and regulatory updates and relevant
reading materials including compliance manual/legal and
regulatory updates/seminar handouts have been provided to
the Directors for their reference and studying.

NN
PEERMRE

E=AABRAICERAKEEL —HLME
T RALUSREEBKBEREELAIZIEREE
MER XRB/ARRREUINZTIELARE -
REZBEEHREFTERESEVESEN IR
BANHESRSES - AEEMHILPIFIEREH
BIEANARBGEBTEN2023FRE - HER

EARE -

BIIRGEEXRR

BRAMZANEFHERALENABEILE
B UREREHARARNEEREBIARERIARE
R ERR RAIRRPITHEECREERRENT
R ARRINEEMLHTNE  THAERREM
EHRAREMBARERLREERERNERRE
BHERNEN BEFNTHERRBEBEARAE
BMRARSNENER  UWEEEFERLS
EEETHRE -

ARTAEHEFLRBEELER - URRREH
HE R A - AD R TR E A R R4 B
WEAE  WERBEOBEEIH -

RBERARN  2REZCETEFRETRAENME
£ EXEBRRETEMNEI - MAERMEY R
(BEARTM ZEREEEN N gEE)E
RETEEUHBELEREE -

TO=FER 77



«

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

NN
TEERME

Based on the information provided by the Directors, during the

Reporting Period, the Directors received the following trainings

and updates:

REEFRHENER - HEHRA -

Al R B A

Attending seminars
and/or conferences
and/or forums
relation to rules
and regulations

EZOEINUT

Reading
newspapers,
journals and

updates relating
to the economy
and business

or duties of management and
the directors  duties of directors
HEBBERAR HMEFRRER
ROREZHEZ EBRERUR
WHER /= ESREZEE -
Name of Directors EEEE BEKHRE BHRRHFER
Executive Directors HiTES
Mr. Pan Longquan ERREE v v
Ms. Zhang Tong w¥z+ v v
Mr. Ke Zugian TR E v v
Mr. Michael John Clancy Michael John Clancy 5t 4 v v
Independent Non-executive Directors BUYFHTES
Mr. Tian Ming HE L E v v
Dr. Li Minghui FHEEL v v
Mr. Jiang Li BakAE v v
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer FTERITHESR

Provision C.2.1 of the CG Code requires that the roles of
chairman and chief executive officer be separate and not be
performed by the same individual.

However, the Company does not have separate chairman
and chief executive officer roles, and the responsibilities of
both chairman and chief executive officer vest in Mr. Pan
Longqguan. The Board believes that vesting the responsibilities
of both chairman and chief executive officer in the same
person has the benefit of ensuring the consistent leadership
within the Group and enables more effective and efficient
overall strategic planning of the Group. Besides, with three
independent non-executive Directors out of a total of seven
Directors on the Board, there will be sufficient independent
voice within the Board to protect the interests of the Company
and the Shareholders as a whole.
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Therefore, the Board considers that the balance of power and
authority for the present arrangement will not be impaired and
this structure will enable the Company to make and implement
decisions promptly and effectively. The Board will continue
to review and consider splitting the roles of chairman of the
Board and chief executive officer of the Company at a time
when it is appropriate and suitable by taking into account the
circumstances of the Group as a whole.

Appointment and Re-Election of Directors

Each of Mr. Pan Longquan, Ms. Zhang Tong, Mr. Ke Zugian
and Mr. Michael John Clancy, each an executive Director, has
entered into an executive director service agreement with the
Company for an initial fixed term of three years commencing
from December 8, 2021 and subject to termination in
accordance with their respective terms and may be renewed in
accordance with the Articles of Association and the applicable
Listing Rules.

Each of Mr. Tian Ming, Dr. Li Minghui and Mr. Jiang Li, each
an independent non-executive Director, has entered into a
letter of appointment with the Company for an initial fixed
term of three years commencing from December 8, 2021 and
subject to termination in accordance with their respective
terms.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has entered
into, or has proposed to enter into, a service contract or letter
of appointment with the Group (other than contracts expiring or
determinable by the employer within one year without payment
of compensation (other than statutory compensation)).
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Pursuant to Article 111(a) of the Articles of Association, subject
to the provisions of the Articles of Association, at each AGM
one-third of the Directors for the time being, or, if their number
is not three or a multiple of three, then the number nearest to
but greater than one-third, shall retire from office by rotation.
Subject to the provisions of the Ordinance, the Listing Rules
and the Articles of Association, the Directors to retire in every
year shall be those who have been longest in office since their
last election, and as between persons who became Directors
on the same day, the Directors to retire shall (unless they
otherwise agree between themselves) be determined by lot.
Every Director, including those appointed for a specific term,
shall be subject to retirement at least once every three years.

Pursuant to Article 110 of the Articles of Association, without
prejudice to the power of the Company in general meeting
in accordance with any of the provisions of the Articles of
Association to appoint any person to be a Director, the Board
shall have power, exercisable at any time and from time to
time, to appoint any other person as a Director, either to fill
a casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board, provided
that the number of Directors so appointed shall not exceed
the maximum number (if any) determined pursuant to the
Articles of Association. Any Directors so appointed shall hold
office only until the next following AGM of the Company and
shall then be eligible for reelection, but shall not be taken
into account in determining the Directors or the number of
Directors who are to retire by rotation at each AGM.

Accordingly, Mr. Pan Longquan, Mr. Ke Zugian and Mr. Jiang
Li shall retire by rotation at the AGM and they being eligible,
offer themselves for re-election.

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and
removal of Directors are set out in the Articles of Association.
The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the
Board composition, and for making recommendations to the
Board on the appointment, re-appointment of Directors and
succession plans for the Directors.
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Board Meetings

The Company adopts the practice of holding Board meetings
regularly, at least four times a year, and at approximately
quarterly intervals in accordance with the code provision C.5.1
of the CG Code. Notices of no less than fourteen days are
given for all regular Board meetings to provide all Directors
with an opportunity to attend and include matters in the
agenda for a regular meeting.

For other Board meetings and Board Committee meetings,
reasonable notice is generally given. The agenda and
accompanying Board papers are dispatched to the Directors
or Board Committee members at least three days before the
meetings to ensure that they have sufficient time to review the
papers and are adequately prepared for the meetings and
that each Director can participate the board proceedings in
a meaningful and effective manner. When Directors or Board
Committee members are unable to attend a meeting, they
will be advised of the matters to be discussed and given an
opportunity to make their views known to the Chairman prior
to the meeting. Minutes of meetings shall be kept by the
company secretary of the Company with copies circulated to
all Directors for information and records. Minutes of the Board
meetings and Board Committee meetings are recorded in
sufficient detail about the matters considered by the Board and
the Board Committees and the decisions reached, including
any concerns raised by the Directors. Draft minutes of each
Board meeting and Board Committee meeting are sent to the
Directors for comments within a reasonable time after the date
on which the meeting is held. Minutes of the Board meetings
are open for inspection by the Directors.
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During the Reporting Period, four Board meetings and one HRWEHA > AR ARNAESTESHE L — AR
general meeting were held by the Company. The attendance HBAE& - RIEHR  SEEHFEETSSENE
of each Director at the Board meetings during the Reporting  SR& a0 T :
Period is set out below:
Attended/eligible to attend
BdE S ELE

Board meetings General meetings
Name of Directors E=EE Exgex BRERE
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Pan Longquan ERERTAE 4/4 1/1
Ms. Zhang Tong SRY 2+ 4/4 1/1
Mr. Ke Zugian TR R A 4/4 1/1
Mr. Michael John Clancy Michael John Clancy %4 4/4 11
Independent Non-executive Directors BAFHTES
Mr. Tian Ming ML E 4/4 1/1
Dr. Li Minghui ZHHEBE LT 4/4 11
Mr. Jiang Li Bk sE 4/4 1/1

The CG Code requires that the chairman should at least
annually hold meetings with the independent non-executive
Directors without the presence of other Directors. During the
Reporting Period, one meeting was held between the Chairman
and the independent non-executive Directors.

Model Code for Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in
Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct
regarding Directors’ securities transactions.
specific enquiries made, all of the Directors confirmed that
they have complied with the required standards as set out in
the Model Code during the Reporting Period. There has been
no non-compliance with the required standard set out in the
Model Code during the Reporting Period and up to the date of
the Annual Report.

In response to
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Delegation by the Board

The Board reserves for its decision on all major matters of
the Company, including: approval and monitoring of all policy
matters, overall strategies and budgets, internal control
and risk management systems, material transactions (in
particular those that may involve conflict of interests), financial
information, appointment of Directors and other significant
financial and operational matters. The Directors may seek
independent professional advice in performing their duties at
the Company’s expense and are encouraged to access and to
consult with the Company’s senior management independently.

The daily management, administration and operation of the
Group are delegated to senior management. The delegated
functions and responsibilities are periodically reviewed by the
Board. Approval must be obtained from the Board prior to any
significant transactions entered into by senior management.

Corporate Governance Function

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out
in the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code.

The Board confirmed that corporate governance is a collective
responsibility of the Directors, which corporate governance
functions include:

(a) to develop and review the Company’s policies
and practices on corporate governance and make
recommendations to the Board;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

(c) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees
and Directors; and

(e) to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code
and disclosures in the Corporate Governance Report.
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The Board reviewed the Company’'s corporate governance
policies and practices, training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management, policies
and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements, compliance with the Model Code and written
employee guidelines, as well as compliance with the CG Code
and disclosures in this Corporate Governance Report.

BOARD COMMITTEES

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee comprises three members, namely Dr. Li
Minghui, Mr. Tian Ming and Mr. Jiang Li, being all independent
non-executive Directors. The Audit Committee is chaired by
Dr. Li Minghui (being the independent non-executive Director
with the appropriate professional qualifications).

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are in
compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules and the CG
Code. The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to assist
the Board in, among other aspects: (i) overseeing the scope
of audit and appointment of external auditors, (ii) monitoring
the integrity of the Company’s financial statements and
accounts, as well as annual and interim reports, (iii) reviewing
the Company’s financial controls and risk management and
internal control systems, (iv) reviewing the Company’s financial
and accounting policies and practices and (v) establishing
a whistleblowing policy and system for the Company’s
employees to raise concerns regarding possible improprieties
in financial reporting, internal control and other matters. The
written terms of reference of Audit Committee are available on
the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

During the Reporting Period, two meetings of the Audit
Committee were held to discuss and consider the following
matters:

o reviewed interim and final results of the Company and
its subsidiaries for the fiscal year as well as the audit
report prepared by the auditor relating to accounting
issues and major findings in course of audit; and
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° reviewed the financial reporting system, compliance
procedures, internal control (including the adequacy of
resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programs and budget of the Company’s accounting and
financial reporting function), risk management systems,
review the annual cap of existing continued connected
transactions, and processes and the re-appointment
of the auditor; the Board had not deviated from any
recommendation given by the Audit Committee on the
selection, appointment, resignation or dismissal of the
auditor.

The attendance of each Audit Committee member at the Audit
Committee meeting during the Reporting Period is set out in
the table below:

TEERWME
. BREBBHRBHE  AREF  ABRE

(BRARBEG MM BB RBETEHN
BR - BTEERKSR  HIRIELRERE
ERERR) AREERS  RARAR
BRERXHNFE LR IEF A RZEENH
B EFUEREEXZESRIE
ZAT - BHES R R XA B A A2 o

EERZEBENEBNREHANLFEZZESSH
MIBREN T

Attended/Eligible

to attend
Name of Directors EEEB BHE S ELE
Dr. Li Minghui BB 2/2
Mr. Tian Ming HEREE 2/2
Mr. Jiang Li LAV S 2/2

During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee also met the
auditor once without the presence of the executive Directors.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee currently comprises three
members, including one executive Director, namely, Mr. Pan
Longquan, and two independent non-executive Directors,
namely, Mr. Jiang Li and Mr. Tian Ming. The Nomination
Committee is chaired by Mr. Jiang Li.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are in
compliance with the CG Code. The primary responsibilities
of our nomination committee are to, among other aspects, (i)
consider and recommend to the Board on the appointment,
removal and re-election of Directors of the Company and
(ii) review the structure, size and composition of the Board
and the Nomination Policy and the Board Diversity Policy
adopted by the Company on regular basis. The written terms
of reference of Nomination Committee are available on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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on Directors Nomination

The Company has adopted a nomination policy (the

“‘Nomination Policy”) on December 8, 2021,

the ap
to the

which sets out
proach to guide the Nomination Committee in relation
selection, appointment and re-appointment of the

Directors. The Nomination Committee will review the Director

Nomination Policy, as appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness.

The Nomination Committee will recommend to the Board for
the appointment of a Director in accordance with the following
procedures and process as set out in the Nomination Policy:

(i)

(if)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

86

the Nomination Committee will, giving the consideration
to the current composition and size of the Board,
develop a list of desirable skills, perspectives and
experience at the outset to focus the search effort on
suitable candidates, where necessary;

the Nomination Committee may consult any source it
deems appropriate in identifying or selecting suitable
candidates, such as referrals from existing Directors,
advertisements, recommendations from an independent
agency firm and proposals from Shareholders with
due consideration given to the criteria as set out in the
Nomination Policy;

the Nomination Committee may adopt any process it
deems appropriate in evaluating the suitability of the
candidates, such as conducting interviews, background
checks, presentations and third-party reference checks;

upon considering a candidate suitable for the
directorship,
meeting and/or by way of written resolutions to, if
thought fit, approve the recommendation to the Board
for appointment;

the Nomination Committee will hold a

the Nomination Committee will thereafter make the
recommendation to the Board in relation to the
proposed appointment and the proposed remuneration
package; and

the Board will have the final authority in determining the
selection of nominees and all appointment of Directors
will be confirmed by the filing of the consent to act as
Director of the relevant Director (or any other similar
filings requiring the relevant Director to acknowledge or
accept the appointment as Director, as the case may
be).
Chervon Holdings Limited Annual Report 2023
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In recommending candidates for appointment to the Board,
the Nomination Committee will consider candidates on merit
against objective criteria and with due regards to the benefits
of diversity on the Board. During the Reporting Period and up
to the date of this Annual Report, there was no change in the
composition of the Board.

During the Reporting Period, one meeting of the Nomination
Committee was held to discuss and consider the following
matters:

. reviewed the structure, size and composition of the
Board;
o assessed independence of the independent non-

executive Directors;

. reviewed the Nomination Policy;
° reviewed the Board Diversity Policy; and
o considered the re-appointment of the retiring Directors.

The attendance of each Nomination Committee member at the
Nomination Committee meeting during the Reporting Period is
set out in the table below:

EVITAPAN
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Attended/

Eligible to attend

Name of Directors EEEE BHE S ELE
Mr. Jiang Li LAV e 1/
Mr. Tian Ming H AR % 4 1/1
Mr. Pan Longquan EREREE 1/1

REZRBER AT —B_=FFW 87



«

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
PEERAME

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises three
members, including one executive Director, namely, Ms.
Zhang Tong, and two independent non-executive Directors,
namely, Mr. Tian Ming and Dr. Li Minghui. The Remuneration
Committee is chaired by Mr. Tian Ming.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are
in compliance with Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules and the CG
Code. The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee
are to, among other aspects, (i) make recommendations
to the Board on the Company’s policy and structure for all
Directors’ and senior management remuneration and on the
establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for
developing remuneration policy, (ii) review and approve the
management’s remuneration proposals with reference to
the Board’s corporate goals and objectives and (iii) make
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages
of individual Directors and senior management. The written
terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are
available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.

During the Reporting Period, two meetings of the Remuneration
Committee were held to discuss and consider the following
matters:

o recommended to the Board the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management in respect of the year ended December

31, 2023;
° reviewed the remuneration of non-executive Directors;
° reviewed and recommended to the Board the

Company’s policy and structure for the remuneration of
all Directors and senior management; and

o reviewed and approved the 2024 Share Scheme under
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.
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The attendance of each Remuneration Committee member at
the Remuneration Committee meeting during the Reporting
Period is set out in the table below:

NN
PEERMRE

TREINMERA - HHEZ B S EKE HEHH

ZEEEHNBR

Attended/

Eligible to attend

Name of Directors EEEE CHE EHE
Mr. Tian Ming HAF A 2/2
Ms. Zhang Tong K+ 2/2
Dr. Li Minghui FEEE L 2/2

Remuneration of Directors and Senior Management

The aggregate remuneration (including fees, salaries,
bonuses, allowances, benefits in kind and pension scheme
contributions) payable to the Directors during the Reporting
Period was approximately US$1.5 million.

The remuneration of the Directors is determined with reference
to salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment
and responsibilities of the Directors and performance of the
Group. Details of the remuneration by band of the members
of the Board and senior management of the Company, whose
biographies are set out on pages 26 to 36 of this Annual
Report, during the Reporting Period, are set out below:

EEREREEREHM

RBEHN - BNESNFHEE (BRAE - #F
& B RBL - BRI RBEZSAHEIHRT) OB

EEHFMAB2ENALBARXNNES EF
BANKERARENBEARANEBEEEE -
UTEINRBERAN > RAREFENERSRE
BE (RENEESRIINAFRE26E368) Hrbiz
LESE

Number of

individuals

Band of remuneration (US$) FHER (Xx) A

Nil to US$500,000 T Z500,000%F 7T 2

Over US$500,000 B3B3 500,000% 7T 3
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR FINANCIAL
REPORTING IN RESPECT OF FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing
the financial statements of the Company for each financial
period to ensure that they give a true and fair view of the
affairs of the Company and the Group and of the Group’s
results and cash flows.

Senior management has provided to the Board such
explanations and information as are necessary to enable the
Board to carry out an informed assessment of the Company’s
financial statements, which are put to the Board for approval.
The Company has provided all members of the Board with
monthly updates on the Company’s performance, positions
and prospects.

The Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions which may cast significant
doubt upon the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement by the auditor regarding its reporting
responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements of the
Company is set out in the Independent Auditor’'s Report on
pages 101 to 107 of this Annual Report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for (i) maintaining sound and
effective internal control and risk management systems in
order to safeguard the Company’s assets and its Shareholders’
interests and (ii) reviewing the effectiveness of the Company’s
internal control and risk management systems on an
annual basis so as to ensure that internal control and risk
management systems in place are adequate. Such systems
are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of
failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.
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Our internal audit department is responsible for performing
independent review of the adequacy and effectiveness
of the risk management and internal control systems. The
Company has established comprehensive risk management
and internal control processes through which the Company
monitors, evaluates and manages the risks that the Company
is exposed to regarding its business activities and operations,
which include but are not limited to procurement management,
sales management, inventory management, research and
development management, investment management, credit
risk, related party transaction controls, information disclosure
controls, human resources, IT management and other financial
and operational controls and monitoring procedures. Examples
of the relevant risk management and internal control measures
are as follows:

Financial Reporting Risk Management — The Company has
in place a set of accounting policies in connection with its
financial reporting risk management, such as financial report
management policies, budget management policies, financial
statements preparation policies and financial department and
staff management policies.

Information System Risk Management — The Company has
implemented relevant internal procedures and controls to
ensure that user data is protected and that leakage and loss
of such data is avoided.

Internal Control Risk Management — The legal & compliance
department of the Company reviews and updates the forms
of contracts the Company enters into with its customers and
suppliers and other relevant due diligence materials.

Human Resources Risk Management — The Company has in
place an employee handbook approved by its management
and distributed to all of its employees, which contains internal
rules and guidelines regarding best commercial practices,
work ethics, fraud prevention mechanism, negligence and
corruption. A whistle blowing policy has also been adopted to
detect and identify potential improprieties and bring issues to
the attention of senior management, the Audit Committee and
the Board.
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Investment Risk Management — The investment strategy of
the Company is grounded in the principles of compliance,
prudence, safety and effectiveness and the Company
considers criteria including (i) size, expected returns and
associated risks; (ii) compliance with applicable laws and
regulations; (iii) consistency with our growth strategy; (iv)
appropriateness of enterprise resource allocation; and (v)
optimization of our portfolio when making investment decisions.

ESG Risk Management — The Company undertakes measures
to manage ESG risks and issues covered under relevant
international standards, such as reduction of greenhouse gas
emissions, use of environmentally friendly resources, as well
as production safety and employee health.

The risk management procedure of the Company is based
on the well-defined risk identification standards, risk monitor
responsibilities and risk control measure of each major
classification. The management of the Company actively
monitors the regional economy, trends of power tools and
outdoor power equipment industry, reliance on continuing
connected transactions and changes in applicable laws
and regulations, and assesses income and expenditure
and absorptive capacity of business expansions. The risk
management procedure of the Company clearly specifies
the management duties, authorization and approval of
each party in respect of the major risk identification and
management, and develops clear written policy for significant
risk management process and circulate it to all members
of management and staffs. The Company’s internal control
procedures are designed to provide reasonable assurance for
achieving objectives, including efficient and stable operations,
reliable financial reporting and compliance with applicable
laws and regulations. The Company’s management will review
the risk assessment report on a quarterly basis and reports to
the Board on a semi-annual basis.

During the Reporting Period, the Board has conducted
a review of the effectiveness of internal control and risk
management system of the Group and is of the view that such
system is effective and adequate.
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During the Reporting Period, the Company has adopted
various measures to ensure the effective implementation of
its internal control and risk management system, including
(i) establishing the Audit Committee to review and supervise
its financial reporting process and internal control system;
(ii) adopting various policies to ensure compliance with
the Listing Rules, including but not limited to aspects
related to risk management,
information disclosure; (iii) organizing training sessions
for its Directors and senior management in respect of the
relevant requirements of the Listing Rules and duties of
directors of companies listed in Hong Kong; (iv) conducting
regular internal training for its employees and management
on applicable laws and regulations to ensure awareness
and compliance, which cover various aspects of employee
behavior during the ordinary business operations; and (v)
appointing Guotai Junan Capital Limited as its compliance
adviser to advise on ongoing compliance with the Listing Rules
and other applicable securities laws and regulations in Hong
Kong.

connected transactions and

The Company has adopted other internal rules and policies
on December 8, 2021, which include procedures for handling
inside information in accordance with the SFO and the
Listing Rules to ensure the confidentiality of handling inside
information and the publication of respective disclosure to
the public as soon as practicable. The Company will make
timely disclosure of information that is unlikely to maintain
confidentiality, so as to ensure effective protection of the rights
and interests of investors and stakeholders.

WHISTLEBLOWING PROCEDURES AND ANTI-
CORRUPTION POLICIES

The Company has in place a whistleblowing policy for
employees of the Company and those who deal with the
Company to raise concerns, in confidence and anonymity,
with the legal & compliance department and the Company’s
management and the Audit Committee about possible
improprieties in any matters related to the Company.
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The Company has also in place an anti-corruption policy to
safeguard against corruption and bribery within the Company.
The Company has an internal reporting channel that is open
and available for employees of the Company to report any
suspected corruption and bribery. Employees can also make
anonymous reports to the legal & compliance department,
which is responsible for investigating the reported incidents
and taking appropriate measures. The Company continues
to carry out anti-corruption and anti-bribery activities to
cultivate a culture of integrity, and actively organizes anti-
corruption training and inspections to ensure the effectiveness
of anti-corruption and anti-bribery. For example, during the
Reporting Period, the Company held anti-corruption trainings
and briefings for its employees. There was no material non-
compliance in relation to bribery and corruption during the
Reporting Period.

DISCLOSURE POLICY

The Company has adopted other internal rules and policies on
December 8, 2021, which includes procedures for disclosure
policy and provides a general guide to the Company’s
directors, officers, senior management and relevant employees
in handling confidential information, monitoring information
disclosure and responding to enquiries. Control procedures
have been implemented to ensure that unauthorized access
and use of inside information are strictly prohibited.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company adopted the Dividend Policy on December
8, 2021, which outlines the principles and guidelines that
the Company intends to apply in relation to the declaration,
payment and distribution of dividends to the Shareholders.

According to the Dividend Policy, subject to the Articles of
Association of the Company and all applicable laws and
regulations, the Board after taking into account several factors,
has absolute discretion on whether to declare and distribute
dividends.

The Board will take into consideration, if it decides to pay
dividends, the Company’s operational results, cash flows,
financial condition, statutory and regulatory restrictions
on the payment of dividends by the Company, the capital
requirements, future business plans and prospects and any
other factors that the Board may consider relevant.
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The Company has adopted a general annual dividend policy of
declaring and paying dividends on an annual basis of no less
than 20% of the Company’s total net profit attributable to the
Company for any particular year. The declaration of dividends
is subject to the discretion of the Directors, and, if necessary,
the approval of the Shareholders. A decision to declare or
to pay any dividends and the amount of any dividends will
depend on various factors, including but not limited to the
Company’s results of operations, cash flows and financial
conditions, operating and capital expenditure requirements,
distributable profits as determined under applicable laws,
the Articles of Association, market conditions, the Company’s
strategic plans and prospects for business development,
contractual limits and obligations, payment of dividends to
the Company by its operating subsidiaries, taxation, and
any other factors determined by the Board from time to time
to be relevant to the declaration of dividend payments. The
Company’s future declarations of dividends may or may not
reflect its historical declarations of dividends. In addition, the
Directors may reassess the Company’s Dividend Policy in the
future.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration for the audit and non-audit services provided
by the auditor to the Company during the Reporting Period
was approximately as follows:
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&5

(US$’000)

Type of Services PR 7 38 Bl (F%m)

Audit services ERT RS 822

Non-audit services related to tax consultation AR T IS A R IEE 5T RS -

Total F 822
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COMPANY SECRETARIES

Directors have access to the services of the joint company
secretaries to ensure that the Board procedures are followed.
Mr. Hu Yian, one of the joint company secretaries, is
responsible for advising the Board on corporate governance
matters and ensuring that Board policy and procedures and
applicable laws, rules and regulations are followed.

In order to uphold good corporate governance and ensure
compliance with the Listing Rules and applicable Hong
Kong laws, the Company also engaged Ms. Mok Ming Wai,
an executive director of Tricor Services Limited (a global
corporate services provider), as another joint company
secretary to assist Mr. Hu in discharging his duties as
company secretary of the Company. Ms. Mok’'s primary
corporate contact person at the Company was Mr. Hu.

During the Reporting Period, Mr. Hu and Ms. Mok have
undertaken not less than 15 hours of relevant professional
training respectively in compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing
Rules.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with
the Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations
and understanding of the Company’s business, performance
and strategies. The Company also recognizes the importance
of timely and non-selective disclosure of information, which
will enable Shareholders and investors to make the informed
investment decisions.
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To promote effective communication, the Company adopts a
shareholders’ communication policy which aims at establishing
a two-way relationship and communication between the
Company and the Shareholders to ensure that Shareholders’
views and concerns are appropriately addressed. The
Company has several channels to communicate and engage
with the Shareholder as described below:

° The AGM provides an opportunity for constructive
communication between the Company and the
Shareholders. The Chairman and the chairpersons
of the Board Committees of the Company or their
delegates will attend the AGMs to answer Shareholders’
questions. The Auditor will also attend the AGMs to
answer questions about the conduct of the audit, the
preparation and content of the auditor's report, the
accounting policies and auditor independence.

° The Company maintains a website of the Company
at https://global.chervongroup.com, where up-to-date
information on the Company’s business operations
and developments, financial information, corporate
governance practices and other information are
available for public access.

° Latest information of the Group including annual and
interim reports, announcements and other corporate
communications which will be sent to the Shareholders
and/or published are updated on the websites of the
Stock Exchange and the Company on a timely basis.

. Investor/analysts briefings and one-on-one meetings,
media interviews and marketing activities for investors,
among other channels, will be available where
necessary in order to facilitate communication between
the Company, Shareholders and the investment
community. The Directors and Company employees
who have contacts or dialogues with investors, analysts,
media or other interested outside parties are required
to comply with the relevant disclosure obligations
and requirements under the Listing Rules and other
applicable laws.
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. Shareholders may submit requisitions to move a
resolution at the AGM, convene a general meeting,
propose a person for election as a director at a general
meeting or enquiries or concerns with the Board, among
other rights, in accordance with the applicable laws and
procedures under the section headed “—Shareholders’
Rights” below.

° The Hong Kong branch share registrar of the Company
serves the Shareholders in respect of share registration,
dividend payment and related matters.

The Company regularly reviews its shareholders’

communication to ensure that it has been implemented

in a proper and effective manner. Having considered the
various channels of communications and engagement with
the Shareholders, the Company considers its shareholders’
communications policy to be effective during the Reporting
Period.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, separate
resolution on each substantially separate issue will be
proposed for voting at a general meeting, including the
election of individual Directors.

All resolutions put forward at general meetings will be voted
by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will
be posted on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange in a timely manner after each general meeting.

According to Article 62 of the Articles of Association and the
Companies Ordinance, the Shareholders may: (i) move a
requisition to move a resolution at the AGM; (ii) requisition to
convene an extraordinary general meeting; and (iii) propose a
person for election as a Director at a general meeting.
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Requisition to Move a Resolution at an AGM

In accordance with section 615 of the Companies Ordinance, a
requisition to move a resolution at the AGM may be submitted
by any number of Shareholders representing not less than
2.50% of the total voting rights of all Shareholders having the
right to vote on that resolution at the AGM, or not less than 50
Shareholders having the right to vote on that resolution at the
AGM. The requisition must identify the resolution and must be
authenticated by the person(s) making it. The requisition must
be deposited at the Registered Office (as defined below), for
the attention of the joint company secretaries, not later than 6
weeks before the AGM to which the request relates, or if later,
when the Notice of AGM is dispatched.

Requisition to Convene General Meeting

Shareholders holding not less than 5% of the total voting rights
of all the members having a right to vote at general meetings
of the Company can deposit a requisition to call a general
meeting pursuant to sections 566 to 568 of the Companies
Ordinance. The requisition must state the general nature of
the business to be dealt with at the meeting, and must be
authenticated by the person(s) making it. The requisition must
be deposited at our Registered Office for the attention of the
joint company secretaries.

Proposing a Person for Election as a Director at a
General Meeting

If a Shareholder wishes to propose a person for election as
a Director at a general meeting, he/she must give a written
notice to that effect to the joint company secretaries. The
written notice must include the personal information of the
person proposed for election as a Director as required by
Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules and be signed by such
Shareholder and the person proposed for election as a
Director indicating his or her willingness to be appointed or re-
appointed and consent of publication of his or her personal
information. Such notice shall be given within the period (or
a longer period as may be determined by the Directors from
time to time) commencing no earlier than the day after the
dispatch of the notice of such meeting and ending no later
than seven days prior to the date appointed for such meeting.
Such details and procedures are available on the Company’s
website. For requesting the Company to circulate to
Shareholders a statement with respect to a matter mentioned
in a proposed resolution or any other business to be dealt with
at a general meeting, Shareholders are requested to follow the
requirements and procedures as set out in section 580 of the
Companies Ordinance.
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Procedure in Relation to Raising Enquiry and Concerns
with the Board

Shareholders of the Company wishing to make any enquiry to
the Board may do so in writing to the Company since verbal or
anonymous enquiries would not generally be dealt with by the
Company.

Shareholders who intend to put forward their enquiries
about the Company to the Board may send their enquiries
to the registered office of the Company (the “Registered
Office”) at Unit 04, 22/F, Saxon Tower, 7 Cheung Shun
Street, Lai Chi Kok, Kowloon, Hong Kong by mail, telephone
(+86 25 84994002) or e-mail chervon-ir@cn.chervongroup.
com.

For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholder(s) must deposit the
original duly signed written requisition, notice or statement,
or enquiry (as the case may be) to the address above and
provide their full names, contact details and identification in
order to give effect to such requisition, notice or statement,
or enquiry. Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as
required by law.

CHANGE IN CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Company adopted the amended and restated Articles of
Association on December 8, 2021, which has been effective
from December 16, 2021. During the Reporting Period, the
said amended and restated Articles of Association did not
have any change.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

Independent auditor’s report to the members of
Chervon Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements
of Chervon Holdings Limited (“the Company”) and its
subsidiaries (“the Group”) set out on pages 108 to 248, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as
at December 31, 2023, the consolidated statement of profit
or loss, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes
in equity and the consolidated cash flow statement for the year
then ended and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at December 31, 2023 and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”") and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (“the Code”) and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the

BREESEE

RETFRASBREBERMANEXHE - BAERM
B ARGV BBRRARAEENER - %F
FREAERMEBFBRBGAMBRRIHABRE
EITREN - BT EHRSTRRHEERNER

consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion

on these matters.

Revenue recognition

AR

Refer to note 4 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on page 145 to 146.

ARG E B ENFARFE 1452 146 HHIEETH R ©
The Key Audit Matter
BARETEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BARBABETEERBESENSN

The Group's revenue principally comprises sales of
power tools, outdoor power equipment and related
products.

EEENRAZIZEREHEEYTE - PHIEBRE R
Edm e

Contracts for different products with different types of
customers have a variety of different terms. Such terms
may affect the timing of the recognition of sales to these
customers. Management evaluates the terms of each
contract in order to determine the appropriate timing of
revenue recognition.

=

HARBAEFPRIREMILANBHNNERRER - ZF K
HAER BRI ERPHENRARKRE - ERENEE0 A
R - ABEWARER S BRE o

Revenue from sales of products is recognized when
the control over the goods is transferred to customers,
which is generally at the point in time when the goods
leave the Group’'s warehouses, when the goods are
delivered at the customers’ premises or when the goods
are loaded on board of shipping, in accordance with the
terms of sales contracts with customers.

EmHERARERNZFHIEER TEFERER - MRERHE
ERONGT  FARR-—ROEERRR EXERE
B BRXERPEME R EREH M -
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Our audit procedures to assess the recognition of
revenue included the following:

B PR RAERNETEFRETISE

° obtaining an understanding of and assessing
the design, implementation and operating
effectiveness of key internal controls in relation
to revenue recognition;

. TR NG B R AR A TERR A R B ) BRAE I R A RO AR
it B RETAML

. inspecting customer contracts, on a sample
basis, to identify performance obligations and
terms and conditions relating to the transfer of
control of the goods and assessing the Group’s
timing of revenue recognition with reference
to the requirements of prevailing accounting
standards;

. SRVITGHERRE - MEBRERF S L AER
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Revenue recognition

WATERR

Refer to note 4 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on page 145 to 146.
BRI E I BREN FARE 146 F 146 AR E 5T FE ©

The Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in our audit
BERETEE BMREFBERPEEERSBENSR

We identified the recognition of revenue as a key audit e comparing revenue transactions recorded
matter because revenue is one of the key performance during the current year, on a sample basis, with
indicators of the Group and therefore there is an invoices, sales contracts, customer acceptance
inherent risk of manipulation of the timing of revenue notes, customs declaration forms, sales
recognition by management to meet specific targets or statements, and other underlying documents,
expectations. where appropriate, to assess whether the related

revenue was recognized in accordance with the
Group’s revenue recognition accounting policies;

BAEERAERREREZEER  ARAR BERENE o HRXIRAFRERNFEHRARER - HESH

REEEE, — WEFEEEEHEBMABAERREAZD EPRWE  BHEA®REK  HERKXKREMMARX
BB BRRIEHNEGRR - (B R ) ET S L - AREBERRAES

BiE EEENHRAERSTHRER

o comparing, on a sample basis, specific
revenue transactions recorded before and after
the financial year end date with underlying
documentation, which included goods delivery
notes, customs declaration forms, goods
acceptance notes, and sales statements, where
appropriate, to assess whether the revenue had
been recognized in accordance with the contract
terms and in the correct financial year; and

. KR SNMBREHE AR RESHNEEWRARBRE
B(BREMXMNE  BHEARE  EaBRERE
Bk (WER)) ETHEEL - UFEZEAZ
BERBHE S QORI MR LR R EE A E
B R

o confirming, on a sample basis, the amount of
sales transactions for the year ended December
31, 2023 directly with customers and inspecting
underlying documentation to reconcile the
difference between the transaction amounts
confirmed by customers and the Group’s
accounting records.
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INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND AUDITOR’S
REPORT THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises all the information included in the
annual report, other than the consolidated financial statements
and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This
report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with
section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group'’s internal control.
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106

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that
a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’'s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible
for the direction, supervision and performance of the
Group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

Chervon Holdings Limited Annual Report 2023
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on
our independence and, where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor's report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Chan Ting Yuen.

Certified Public Accountants
8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

March 27, 2024

B A2 BRD R S

BRMBEEZZESRABT AW (PR FEMNE
FTEE - BRERHE  EXBFZEREFTE BHERK
IR AT HARI R th R B B (R (] B KR PR

BRTAEZZEGRIEH  HARMENSH
R DA el SR I ERIREFEBAB
AREAEMEABRASFERMBLIEMRGELE M
FH UREEANBRT  KBUBRBENTTE
k& A P SBE B ©

Rt

23

REBEZZEQRBMNERT @ RAEEWPLER
ARG BREANEBARSEER - AMBEK
MREAER RMSERBMBEEPRLEL
TR BRIPRRERAIAFHEMGETREL ARK
B 3EBREANBRT  ERAEEMERM
MHREETBBEXREEMEXNAEERE BB
HEAMARNE  HABTEELFER THER
SEERBBZEE -

RBIZBERENEZTIEERARRET °

HE D

EFEPIR
EFTE105%
RFAESE

202453 H27H

RIEZERERAR T =FFH 107



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
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For the year ended December 31, 2023 (Expressed in US dollar (“USD"))

B 22023F 1231 HIFFEE (UZE[ZFEr)FT)

Year ended December 31,
BZE12A31BLEE

2023 2022
2023F 20224
Note USD’ 000 USD’000
k=3 =7 FET
Revenue N 4 1,374,714 1,989,280
Cost of sales SHE R A (987,881)  (1,385,407)
Gross profit EF 386,833 603,873
Other revenue HaA 5(a) 5,787 7,038
Other net loss HMEEERE 5(b) (8,333) (52,254)
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHEAX (244,052) (214,014)
Administrative and other operating expenses  {TH M E A4 &5 (96,787) (89,765)
Research and development costs T AR (70,673) (65,733)
(Loss)/Profit from operations K (&8 R (27,225) 189,145
Net finance costs WIS AK AN H 58 6(a) (3,290) (22,265)
Share of loss of an associate FE(h —FEE & A Rl 1E 16 (18,341) (5,490)
(Loss) /Profit before taxation BREBLAT (B5]), FE 6 (48,856) 161,390
Income tax expense PSR =2 7 11,706 (22,112)
(Loss) /Profit for the year FR(ER)FE (37,150) 139,278
Attributable to: BT AL FES :
Equity shareholders of the Company ZAN/NEIL i 8 (37,137) 139,369
Non-controlling interests FEPE AR M 2 (13) (91)
(Loss) /Profit for the year FR(ER)FHE (37,150) 139,278
(Losses)/Earnings per share R (&E) BR 11
Basic (USD) EYNE I (0.07) 0.28
Diluted (USD) 58 (1) (0.07) 0.28

The notes on pages 116 to 248 form part of these financial

statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

AN
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For the year ended December 31, 2023 (Expressed in US dollar (“USD"))
A FE2023F 1231 HIFFZ  (KZEx[#ET/37)

Year ended December 31,
BZE12A31HLEE

2023 2022
2023 F 20224F
Note USD’ 000 UsD’000
Hist EYr FET
(Loss)/Profit for the year FR(FE)/FE (37,150) 139,278
Other comprehensive income for the year FREMEERZ 10
(after tax adjustments) (HERER)
Item that will not be reclassified to profit or loss: HTEEF 7
FERMEEL -
Remeasurement of defined benefit plan obligations RERNGEEFSEHHE 21 193
Item that may be reclassified subsequently to BEFAJBEEF A
profit or l0ss: EBEmAEA
Exchange difference on translation of financial ANEEE® (mIEETT) (10,861) (13,365)
statements of subsidiaries with functional BENE R AR
currencies other than US dollar (“USD”) bEHER
Other comprehensive income fortheyear =~~~ SARMERBE =~ 0 FE (10840) s 1ve
Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the year FR2E (BR) W88 (47,990) 126,106
Attributable to: BUF A L FELS -
Equity shareholders of the Company RARIERRE (47,977) 126,197
Non-controlling interests FE A o (13) (91)
Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the year FREME(ER), WHEE (47,990) 126,106

The notes on pages 116 to 248 form part of these financial

statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AR e ISR

At December 31, 2023  (Expressed in US dollar (“USD”))
R2023F 128310 (KZET(FET/FR)

As at December 31,

M12A831H
2023 2022
20234 20224
Note USD’000 USD’000
Wz TER FET
Non-current assets *RBEE
Properties, plants and equipment ME - BERZE 12 276,555 233,224
Right-of-use assets CREEE 13 57,982 44,631
Intangible assets BV EE 14 882 1,162
Interest in an associate NS AR ER 16 86,921 106,566
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables JAFIE « RES K E KA 21 4,637 5,851
Financial assets at fair value through KAREETEAHEEE AEH 17 6,393 6,202
profit or loss (“FVPL") Ba ((LAAREEFNEEEES
STAEHER])NEMEE

Deferred tax assets RIEFHIBE E 27(b) 47,804 30,879
481,174 428,515

Current assets hBEE
Financial assets at FVPL IRAEBEFTEAESEH T AEH 17 - 20,019

ERNeREE

Derivative financial instruments TEEMmI A 18 2,553 2,288
Inventories & 19 530,951 599,999
Right to returned goods asset REEYEERER 26,248 4,417
Trade and bills receivables B 5 EWGRIE R R R 20 359,011 220,220
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables JAMFIE « RES K EEKFIAE 21 70,895 78,654
Taxation recoverable B ek 27(a) 10,972 5,184
Pledged deposits ERER 22(b) 18,244 36,495
Cash and cash equivalents ReRREEED 22(a) 296,337 466,713
1,315,211 1,433,989

Current liabilities nREBAE
Bank loans BITER 23 198,185 192,904
Derivative financial instruments fTEemTAE 18 2,335 3,581
Lease liabilities MEARE 24 2,690 7,583
Trade and bills payables BHRNFIERENRE 25 224,954 294,452
Other payables and accruals HiENRERETER 26 142,507 177,166
Taxation payable FER IR 27(a) 7,033 9,710
Warranty provision RIEBAE 28 49,617 19,030
Refund liabilities from right of return REENHERFTEE 29 36,104 6,432
663,425 710,858
Netcurrentassets = +#B&E®&E ... G51788 723,181
Total assets less current liabilities HEERRBERE 1,132,960 1,151,646

The notes on pages 116 to 248 form part of these financial #116E 248 BHIM B ZEINFREH —Z 5 °
statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

4= A

sre FEINER

At December 31, 2023  (Expressed in US dollar (“USD”))
R2023%F 12318  (KZEx [T /3)7)

As at December 31,

M12A318
2023 2022
2023 F 20224
Note USD’ 000 USD’000
it ES FEr
Non-current liabilities FkREBEE
Bank loans IRITER 23 125,455 136,589
Lease liabilities HEAE 24 9,691 14,460
Warranty provision RIERE 28 20,060 38,059
Deferred income IRIEW 5 30 3,558 3,709
Defined benefit plan obligations RERBHFEIERS 31 434 473
Deferred tax liabilities EEFIEBE 27(b) 13,141 12,257
172,339 205,547
NET ASSETS EEFE 960,621 946,099
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BEXR#EE
Share capital & A 32 601,859 502,654
Reserves 5t 32 358,866 443,536
Total equity attributable to equity AATERRREGERERE 960,725 946,190
shareholders of the Company
Non-controlling interests FEIER S (104) (91)
TOTAL EQUITY DB 960,621 946,099

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors

on March 27, 2024.

Pan Longquan

EBER

Zhang Tong
6337

The notes on pages 116 to 248 form part of these financial

statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended December 31, 2023 (Expressed in US dollar (“USD"))
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For the year ended December 31, 2023 (Expressed in US dollar (“USD"))

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

mAERETRER

For the year ended December 31, 2023  (Expressed in US dollar (“USD"))

B 22023F 1231 HIFFEE (UZE[ZFEr)FT)

Year ended December 31,

BZ12A31ALFE
2023 2022
2023F 20224
Note USD’000 USD'000
B e TErx
Operating activities REER
Cash (used in)/generated from operations mE (B / Fiis8s 22(c) (161,357) 46,339
Tax paid BERHIE 27(a) (16,331) (28,426)
Tax refund 2IRHIE 27(a) 3,987 5,151
Net cash (used in)/generated from BETH (FFA),/ (173,701) 23,064
operating activities FERLFE
Investing activities REEH
Payment for the acquisition of properties, plants WEEME - BE REEORT (88,342) (72,186)
and equipment
Proceeds from disposal of properties, plants HEME  BEREEN 3,690 662
and equipment Fr{350R
Payment for disposal of leases HERENFTR (1,226) =
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets HENRAABEFEEEES 244,619 255,018
measured at FVPL other than convertible bonds TEHERNSREER
FriS A (TR ESBRIN)
Payment for acquisition of financial assets WENARBEGZAEES (243,862) (253,555)
measured at FVPL other than convertible bonds FTEHERNSREEN
A (TR EHBRSN)
Acquisition of interest in associates, net WEEREE N B HES - FE - (50,340)
Proceeds from disposal of convertible bonds HEMBRREFRFTE B 19,317 =
Interest received BUIF B 6(a) 7,844 3,959
Net cash used in investing activities RETEHMARLFE (57,960) (116,442)

The notes on pages 116 to 248 form part of these financial

statements.
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

mAERERER

For the year ended December 31, 2023 (Expressed in US dollar (“USD"))
A FE2023F 1231 HIFFZ  (KZEx[#ET/37)

Year ended December 31,
BZE12A31HLEE

2023 2022
2023 F 20224F
Note USD’ 000 UsD’000
Hist EYr FET
Financing activities RMEEH
Capital element of lease rental paid ENEEHSEARNLD 22(d) (6,346) (8,755)
Interest element of lease rental paid ENHEERSRN SIS 22(d) (590) (952)
Proceeds from new bank loans MIRTTERHERIA 22(d) 346,345 493,951
Repayment of bank loans BEBITER 22(d) (348,834) (593,910)
Interest paid [ARENESS 22(d) (8,816) (12,570)
Decrease/(increase) in pledged deposits for RITRYE HIRTT K 16,829 (4,816)
banking facilities wd/(3Ehn)
Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares BT RIRATE5IR 32(c) 100,168 60,299
Share issuance costs paid BERRMOBEITRA 32(c) (963) (2,266)
Dividends paid to equity shareholders BENARAAEZRENRE  320b) (36,691) (35,051)
of the Company
Net cash generated from/(used in) financing mMETBHME(FA) 61,102 (104,070)
activities R&FE
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents BeRESEENRDFE (170,559) (197,448)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning FIRERBLEEY 22(a) 466,713 664,990
of the year
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes HEERRBHNZE 183 (829)
Cash and cash equivalents at the end FRASRBELEEN 22(a) 296,337 466,713

of the year

The notes on pages 116 to 248 form part of these financial

statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4= A
nv.

re M HmRM

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD”) unless otherwise indicated)
(AT [FT /T - BrIESEHES)

1

(a)

116

GENERAL INFORMATION

Chervon Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in Hong Kong on February 19, 1999 as
a limited liability company with its registered office at
Unit 04, 22/F, Saxon Tower, 7 Cheung Shun Street,
Lai Chi Kok, KIn, Hong Kong. The Company's shares
were listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited on December 30, 2021.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
Company and its subsidiaries (together, “the Group”)
are principally engaged in researching, developing,
manufacturing, testing, sales, and after-sale services
for power tools, outdoor power equipment and related
products. The information of the principal subsidiaries
is set out in Note 15,

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (HKFRSs) which collective
term includes all applicable individual Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (HKASs) and Interpretations issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(HKICPA), and the requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. These financial statements also
comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Material accounting
policies adopted by the Group are disclosed below.

The HKICPA has issued certain amendments to HKFRSs
that are first effective or available for early adoption for
the current accounting period of the Group. Note 2(c)
provides information on any changes in accounting
policies resulting from initial application of these
developments to the extent that they are relevant to the
Group for the current accounting periods reflected in
these financial statements.
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(a)

—RER

RIEZEBRERAT ([ARF]) BR19994F2
B19BREBEMAZHBRAR - sk
ERNRBEBNEZRARIEE7RAES
221804 E - RNARIRMH 2021612 A30
AREBERBMERSMAERARER M -

AR H/—FREZER AR  AQE REMH
BRR(ABIAEE]) T2REEFHTA -
P MEBERMITE - M - &
&M HERERRYE - TEMEBEAR
VBRI BNHIFES

EXRERTEE
BREH

ZEP B MR TIRIEMGERNE B ®R
SR ([EAMBREEN ) RE - &5
BALEEEEEMAS (AR
&) BMOMBERNERNEEMEREE
8 BB R ([FEEHER]) LEE
RBEBERRUEHINRTE - ZFU BRI ITE
STEAMERSMBRARES EHAR R
ERBEGRY - ARERANERSHBR
BERTX -

BEGFMAEEEMEREMKARAE
EE S HERERANE BN B RE
B2 ETER - REERAREEARER
AR e RN BRREHERNZF
MR AR - BREAEREIINHIE2(C)



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(b)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The consolidated financial statements of the Group
for the year ended December 31, 2023 comprise the
Company and its subsidiaries and the Group’s interest
in an associate.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements is the historical cost
basis except that the following assets and liabilities are
stated at their fair value as explained in the accounting
policies as set out below.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with HKFRSs requires management to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect
the application of policies and reported amounts of
assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and various other factors that are believed
to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results
of which form the basis of making the judgements
about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results
may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognized in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application
of HKFRSs that have significant effect on the financial
statements and major sources of estimation uncertainty
are discussed in Note 3.

(b)

IN=RRLET ek

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD") unless otherwise indicated)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire SRR R

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD”) unless otherwise indicated)
(AT [FT /T - BrIESEHES)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2
(CONTINUED)

(c) Changes in accounting policies (c)

The Group has applied the following new and amended
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA to these financial
statements for the current accounting period:

o HKFRS 17, Insurance contracts

° Amendments to HKAS 8, Accounting policies,
changes in accounting estimates and errors:
Definition of accounting estimates

° Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of financial
statements and HKFRS Practice Statement 2,
Making materiality judgements: Disclosure of
accounting policies

o Amendments to HKAS 12, /ncome taxes:
Deferred tax related to assets and liabilities
arising from a single transaction

. Amendments to HKAS 12, /ncome taxes:
International tax reform — Pillar Two model rules

The Group has not applied any new standard or
interpretation that is not yet effective for the current
accounting period. Impacts of the adoption of the new
and amended HKFRSs are discussed below:

HKFRS 17, Insurance contracts

HKFRS 17, which replaces HKFRS 4, sets out the
recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure
requirements applicable to issuers of insurance
contracts. The standard does not have a material
impact on these financial statements as the Group does
not have contracts within the scope of HKFRS 17.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(c)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Changes in accounting policies (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 8, Accounting policies, changes
in accounting estimates and errors: Definition of
accounting estimates

The amendments provide further guidance on the
distinction between changes in accounting policies and
changes in accounting estimates. The amendments do
not have a material impact on these financial statements
as the Group’s approach in distinguishing changes
in accounting policies and changes in accounting
estimates is consistent with the amendments.

Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of financial
statements and HKFRS Practice Statement 2, Making
materiality judgements: Disclosure of accounting
policies

The amendments require entities to disclose material
accounting policy information and provide guidance
on applying the concept of materiality to accounting
policy disclosure. The Group has revisited the
accounting policy information it has been disclosing
and considered it is consistent with the amendments.

Amendments to HKAS 12, /ncome taxes: Deferred tax
related to assets and liabilities arising from a single
transaction

The amendments narrow the scope of the initial
recognition exemption such that it does not apply
to transactions that give rise to equal and offsetting
temporary differences on initial recognition such as
leases and decommissioning liabilities. For leases and
decommissioning liabilities, the associated deferred
tax assets and liabilities are required to be recognized
from the beginning of the earliest comparative period
presented, with any cumulative effect recognized as an
adjustment to retained earnings or other components
of equity at that date. For all other transactions,
the amendments are applied to those transactions
that occur after the beginning of the earliest period
presented.

(c)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4= A

I = /\ﬁﬁ%i&% METEE

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD”) unless otherwise indicated)
(AT [FT /T - BrIESEHES)

2

(c)

120

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Changes in accounting policies (continued)

Prior to the amendments, the Group did not apply the
initial recognition exemption to lease transactions and
had recognized the related deferred tax, except that the
Group previously determined the temporary difference
arising from a right-of-use asset and the related lease
liability on a net basis on the basis they arise from
a single transaction. Following the amendments, the
Group has determined the temporary differences in
relation to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
separately. The change primarily impacts disclosures
of components of deferred tax assets and liabilities in
note 27(b), but does not impact the overall deferred tax
balances presented in the consolidated statement of
financial position as the related deferred tax balances
qualify for offsetting under HKAS 12.

Amendments to HKAS 12, /ncome taxes: International
tax reform — Pillar Two model rules

The amendments introduce a temporary mandatory
exception from deferred tax accounting for the income
tax arising from tax laws enacted or substantively
enacted to implement the Pillar Two model rules
published by the Organisation for Economic Co-
operation and Development (“OECD") (income tax
arising from such tax laws is hereafter referred to
as “Pillar Two income taxes”), including tax laws
that implement qualified domestic minimum top-
up taxes described in those rules. The amendments
also introduce disclosure requirements about such
tax including the estimated tax exposure to Pillar
Two income taxes. The amendments are immediately
effective upon issuance and require retrospective
application. The Group provided the additional
disclosures in note 7(c).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(d)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has
rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the
entity and has the ability to affect those returns through
its power over the entity. The financial statements of
subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial
statements from the date on which control commences
until the date on which control ceases.

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any
unrealised income and expenses (except for foreign
currency transaction gains or losses) arising from intra-
group transactions, are eliminated. Unrealised losses
resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated
in the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the
extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it
derecognizes the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary,
and any related non-controlling interests (“NCI”) and
other components of equity. Any resulting gain or loss
is recognized in profit or loss. Any interest retained in
that former subsidiary is measured at fair value when
control is lost.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
an investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less
impairment losses (see Note 2(k)(ii)), unless it is
classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal
group classified as held for sale).

(d)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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(Expressed in US dollar (“USD”) unless otherwise indicated)
(AT [FT /T - BrIESEHES)

2

(e)

122

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Associates

An associate is an entity in which the Group or the
Company has significant influence, but not control or
joint control, over the financial and operating policies.

An interest in an associate is accounted for using the
equity method, unless it is classified as held for sale (or
included in a disposal group classified as held for sale).
They are initially recognized at cost, which includes
transaction costs. Subsequently, the consolidated
financial statements include the Group's share of the
profit or loss and other comprehensive income (“OCI”")
of those investees, until the date on which significant
influence ceases.

When the Group's share of losses exceeds its interest
in the associate, the Group’s interest is reduced to
nil and recognition of further losses is discontinued
except to the extent that the Group has incurred legal
or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf
of the investee. For this purpose, the Group’s interest is
the carrying amount of the investment under the equity
method together with any other long-term interests that
in substance form part of the Group’s net investment
in the associate after applying the ECL model to such
other long-term interests where applicable.

Unrealized gains arising from transactions with equity-
accounted investees are eliminated against the
investment to the extent of the Group’s interest in the
investee. Unrealized losses are eliminated in the same
way as unrealized gains, but only to the extent there is
no evidence of impairment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(f)

()

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Other investments in securities

The Group’s policies for investments in securities, other
than investments in subsidiaries and an associates, are
set out below.

Investments in securities are recognized/derecognized
on the date the Group commits to purchase/sell the
investment. The investments are initially stated at fair
value plus directly attributable transaction costs, except
for those investments measured at FVPL for which
transaction costs are recognized directly in profit or
loss. For an explanation of how the Group determines
fair value of financial instruments, see Note 33(e).
These investments are subsequently accounted for as
follows, depending on their classification.

Non-equity investments

Non-equity investments are classified into one of the
following measurement categories:

- amortized cost, if the investment is held for
the collection of contractual cash flows which
represent solely payments of principal and
interest. Expected credit losses, interest income
calculated using the effective interest method
(see Note 2(v)(ii)), foreign exchange gains and
losses are recognized in profit or loss. Any gain
or loss on derecognition is recognized in profit
or loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Other investments in securities (continued)
Non-equity investments (continued)

- fair value through other comprehensive income
(FVOCI) - recycling, if the contractual cash flows
of the investment comprise solely payments
of principal and interest and the investment is
held within a business model whose objective is
achieved by both the collection of contractual
cash flows and sale. Expected credit losses,
interest income (calculated using the effective
interest method) and foreign exchange gains
and losses are recognized in profit or loss
and computed in the same manner as if the
financial asset was measured at amortised
cost. The difference between the fair value and
the amortised cost is recognized in OCI. When
the investment is derecognized, the amount
accumulated in OCI is recycled from equity to
profit or loss.

- FVPL if the investment does not meet the criteria
for being measured at amortized cost or FVOCI
(recycling). Changes in the fair value of the
investment (including interest) are recognized in
profit or loss.

Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified as
FVPL unless the investment is not held for trading
purposes and on initial recognition the Group makes
an irrevocable election to designate the investment at
FVOCI (non-recycling) such that subsequent changes
in fair value are recognized in OCI. Such elections are
made on an instrument-by-instrument basis but may
only be made if the investment meets the definition of
equity from the issuer’'s perspective. If such election is
made for a particular investment, at the time of disposal,
the amount accumulated in the fair value reserve (non-
recycling) is transferred to retained earnings and not
recycled through profit or loss. Dividends from an
investment in equity securities, irrespective of whether
classified as at FVPL or FVOCI, are recognized in profit
or loss as other income (see note 2(v)(ii)).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(9)

(h)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Derivative financial instruments

The Group holds derivative financial instruments to
manage its foreign currency and interest rate risk
exposures. Embedded derivatives are separated from
the host contract and accounted for separately if the
host contract is not a financial asset and certain criteria
are met.

Derivatives are initially measured at fair value.
Subsequently, they are measured at fair value with
changes therein recognized in profit or loss, except
where the derivatives qualify for cash flow hedge
accounting or hedges of net investment in a foreign
operation.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost
(which is, in the case of assets acquired in a business
combination, the acquisition date fair value). Iltems of
property, plant and equipment are stated at cost, which
includes capitalised borrowing costs, less accumulated
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses

(see Note 2(k)(ii)).

If significant parts of an item of property, plant and
then they are
accounted for as separate items (major components).

equipment have different useful lives,

Any gain or loss on disposal of an item of property,
plant and equipment is recognized in profit or loss.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 BERETECER (E)
(CONTINUED)
(h)  Property, plant and equipment (continued) (h)y ¥ BRERRE(E)
Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of WEDEYE  BERXENMGETIERS
property, plant and equipment, less their estimated HLA B SRS B AR S ST RIBR B E (0
residual values, if any, using the straight line method B)itE  BENBRER -
over their estimated useful lives, and is generally
recognized in profit or loss.
Estimated useful life
At EAFH
Leasehold land (see Note 2(j)) & b (RHIEE2()) over the period of leases
THER
Plant and buildings 5 KT 20 years or remaining lease terms
20 S ¥R A
Machinery and equipment W28 &3 5 - 10 years
5ZE104F
Software and office equipment /N /N 3 -5 years
3E5F
Motor vehicles B 5-10 years
5Z104F

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values
are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted if
appropriate.

Construction in progress represents properties under
construction and machinery and equipment pending
installation and is stated at cost (which is, in the case
of assets acquired in a business combination, the
acquisition date fair value) less impairment losses (see
Note 2(k)(ii)). Cost comprises the purchase costs of
the asset and the related construction and installation
costs.

Construction in progress is transferred to property,
plant and equipment when the asset is substantially
ready for its intended use and depreciation will be
provided at the appropriate rates in accordance with
the depreciation polices specified above.

No depreciation is provided in respect of construction
in progress.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

()

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Expenditure on research activities is recognized in
profit or loss as incurred. Development expenditure is
capitalized only if the expenditure can be measured
reliably, the product or process is technically and
commercially feasible, future economic benefits are
probable and the Group intends to and has sufficient
resources to complete development and to use or
sell the resulting asset. Otherwise, it is recognized in
profit or loss as incurred. Capitalized development
expenditure is subsequently measured at cost less
accumulated amortization and any accumulated
impairment losses.

Intangible assets that are acquired by the Group
and have finite useful lives are measured at cost
(the acquisition date fair value) less accumulated
amortization and any accumulated impairment losses
(see Note 2(k)(ii)).

Amortization is calculated to write off the cost of
intangible assets less their estimated residual values
using the straight-line method over their estimated
useful lives, if any, and is generally recognized in profit
or loss.

The estimated useful lives for the current and
comparative periods are as follows:
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)
(continued)

The patents and trademark of the Group is associated
with different products arising from the combination
and acquisition from a third party. The useful lives of
patents and trademark are estimated based on the
remaining period of economic benefits to be derived
from the respective products to be produced relying on
the acquired patents and product trademark.

The Group estimates the period of economic benefits
to be derived from the respective products based on
the expected time period required from its discovery
to commercialization and other factors, including the
patent protection period, the historical life of similar
products, the characteristics of such technologies,
their update frequency and market requirement and
competition. Based on such assessment, the Group
considers that the expected economic useful lives of
the patents and trademark held by the Group are 10
years.

Amortization methods, useful lives and residual values
are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted if
appropriate.

Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether
the contract is, or contains, a lease. This is the case
if the contract conveys the right to control the use of
an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration. Control is conveyed where the customer
has both the right to direct the use of the identified
asset and to obtain substantially all of the economic
benefits from that use.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

)
(1)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leased assets (continued)
As a lessee

Where the contract contains lease component(s) and
non-lease component(s), the Group has elected not
to separate non-lease components and accounts for
each lease component and any associated non-lease
components as a single lease component for all leases.
At the lease commencement date, the Group
recognizes a right-of-use asset and a lease liability,
except for leases that have a short lease term of 12
months or less and leases of low-value items. When
the Group enters into a lease in respect of a low-value
items, the Group decides whether to capitalize the
lease on a lease-by-lease basis. If not capitalised, the
associated lease payments are recognized in profit or
loss on a systematic basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalized, the lease liability is
initially recognized at the present value of the lease
payments payable over the lease term, discounted
using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that
rate cannot be readily determined, using a relevant
incremental borrowing rate. After initial recognition,
the lease liability is measured at amortized cost and
interest expense is recognized using the effective
interest method. Variable lease payments that do not
depend on an index or rate are not included in the
measurement of the lease liability and are charged to
profit or loss as incurred.

The right-of-use asset recognized when a lease
is capitalized is initially measured at cost,
comprises the initial amount of the lease liability
adjusted for any lease payments made at or before
the commencement date, plus any initial direct
costs incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle
and remove the underlying asset or to restore the
underlying asset or the site on which it is located,
less any lease incentives received. The right-of-use
asset is subsequently stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses (see Notes 2(h)
and 2(k)(ii)).
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leased assets (continued)
As a lessee (continued)

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a
change in future lease payments arising from a change
in an index or rate, if there is a change in the Group’s
estimate of the amount expected to be payable under
a residual value guarantee, or if the Group changes
its assessment of whether it will exercise a purchase,
extension or termination option. When the lease liability
is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment
is made to the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset,
or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of
the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is a
lease modification, which means a change in the scope
of a lease or the consideration for a lease that is not
originally provided for in the lease contract, if such
modification is not accounted for as a separate lease. In
this case, the lease liability is remeasured based on the
revised lease payments and lease term using a revised
discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group presents ‘right-of-use assets” and presents
“lease liabilities” separately in the consolidated
statement of financial position. The current portion of
long-term lease liabilities is determined as the present
value of contractual payments that are due to be settled
within twelve months after the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leased assets (continued)
As a lessor

The Group determines at lease inception whether
each lease is a finance lease or an operating lease.
A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
the ownership of an underlying assets to the lessee.
Otherwise, the lease is classified as an operating lease.

When a contract contains lease and non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in
the contract to each component on a relative stand-
alone selling price basis. The rental income from
operating leases is recognized in accordance with Note

2(v)(ii).

Credit losses and impairment of assets
Credit losses from financial instruments

The Group recognizes a loss allowance for expected
credit losses (“ECL"s) on financial assets measured at
amortized cost (including cash and cash equivalents
and trade and other receivables).

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit
losses. Generally, credit losses are measured as the
present value of all expected cash shortfalls shortfalls
between the contractual and expected amounts.

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted using the
following rates if the effect is material:

- fixed-rate financial assets and trade and other
receivables: effective interest rate determined at
initial recognition or an approximation thereof;
and

- variable-rate financial assets: current effective
interest rate.

()]
(ii)

(k)
()

IN=RRLET ek

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD") unless otherwise indicated)

(AZET [T /T - B = HIEE)

ERSETEEE (&)

HEEE (#)
TERMTENA
AEERHERRETSRBEERRER

%Yi‘“%ﬁﬂ o i E R AERAE E A I
MBAL ARk EHEBEABEA - RIA
&“*ﬁﬁ’mﬁéfﬁ cIMABLER - AIEE

SEREETE -

AHBRESHERIIBERD  AEEIRIE
HEBEYAEHEERBEANTRESENES
LEAENESWARIEH E2(v)(ii) i

A

o

o

LSRN it H?ﬂ}

FEBEEREERE
KEZHTAMSEER
AEERZBERAAEZERMEE (B
RekReFEY BIHREMBEKKE)

HWEMEEER ((FREEERE]) BREE
Bt

SAEEMEERR

EHEEBEEARBEMEATNEES
B —RME EEBERAOREHESR
ZBEH AR S ZMMRENE -

MESRMY BEA - BB S ZBEBERAN
TRAT RS ¢

- BEEM=EEEEMNE S N EAM R
W\IE T R T B IR A R 5
ERE R

- IRAESBAE: EH

1) B R A

RIEZERAERAT —B-=FFR 131



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n.

e M HRRI

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD”) unless otherwise indicated)
(AT [FT /T - BrIESEHES)

2

(k)

(i)

132

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

Credit losses from financial instruments (continued)

Measurement of ECLs (continued)

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs
is the maximum contractual period over which the
Group is exposed to credit risk.

ECLs are measured on either of the following bases:

- 12-month ECLs: these are the portion of ECLs
that result from default events that are possible
within the 12 months after the reporting date
(or a shorter period if the expected life of the
instrument is less than 12 months); and

- lifetime ECLs: these are the ECLs that result from
all possible default events over the expected
lives of the items to which the ECL model
applies.

The Group measures loss allowances at an amount
equal to lifetime ECLs, except for the following, which
are measured at 12-month ECLs:

- financial instruments that are determined to have
low credit risk at the reporting date; and

= other financial instruments (including loan
commitments issued) for which credit risk (i.e.
the risk of default occurring over the expected
life of the financial instrument) has not increased
significantly since initial recognition.

Loss allowances for trade and other receivables are
always measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

Credit losses from financial instruments (continued)

Significant increases in credit risk

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial
instrument (including a loan commitment) has
increased significantly since initial recognition and
when measuring ECLs, the Group considers reasonable
and supportable information that is relevant and
available without undue cost or effort. This includes
both quantitative and qualitative information and
analysis, based on the Group’s historical experience
and informed credit assessment, that includes forward-
looking information.

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial
asset has increased significantly if it is more than 30
days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset to be in default
when:

- the debtor is unlikely to pay its credit obligations
to the Group in full, without recourse by the
Group to actions such as realising security (if
any is held); or

- the financial asset is 90 days past due.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

Credit losses from financial instruments (continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (continued)

The Group considers a financial instrument to have low
credit risk when its credit risk rating is equivalent to the
globally understood definition of ‘investment grade’.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to reflect
changes in the financial instrument's credit risk since
initial recognition. Any change in the ECL amount is
recognized as an impairment gain or loss in profit or
loss. The Group recognizes an impairment gain or
loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss
allowance account, except for investments in non-equity
securities that are measured at FVOCI (recycling), for
which the loss allowance is recognized in OCI and
accumulated in the fair value reserve (recycling) does
not reduce the carrying amount of the financial asset in
the statement of financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(k)

(i)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

Credit losses from financial instruments (continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether a
financial asset is credit-impaired. A financial asset is
credit-impaired when one or more events that have a
detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows
of the financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes the following observable events:

- significant financial difficulties of the debtor;
such as a default or

- a breach of contract,
delinquency in interest or principal payments;

- the restructuring of a loan or advance by the
Group on terms that the Group would not
consider otherwise;

= it is probable that the debtor will enter into
bankruptcy or other financial reorganization; or

- the disappearance of an active market for a
security because of financial difficulties of the
issuer.

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written
off to the extent that there is no realistic prospect of
recovery. This is generally the case when the Group
otherwise determines that the debtor does not have
assets or sources of income that could generate
sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to
the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was previously
written off are recognized as a reversal of impairment in
profit or loss in the period in which the recovery occurs.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

Impairment of other non-current assets

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its non-financial assets (other
than inventories and deferred tax assets) to determine
whether there is any indication of impairment. If any
such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. Goodwill is tested annually for
impairment.

For impairment testing, assets are grouped together
into the smallest group of assets that generates cash
inflows from continuing use that are largely independent
of the cash inflows of other assets or cash-generating
units (“CGU"s). Goodwill arising from a business
combination is allocated to CGUs or groups of CGUs
that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination.

The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the
greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs of
disposal. Value in use is based on the estimated future
cash flows, discounted to their present value using
a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset or CGU.

An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount
of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount.

Impairment losses are recognized in profit or loss. They
are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill allocated to the CGU, and then to reduce the
carrying amounts of the other assets in the CGU on a
pro rata basis.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not
reversed. For other assets, an impairment loss is
reversed only to the extent that the resulting carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined, net of depreciation
or amortization, if no impairment loss had been
recognized.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(k)

(iii)

U]

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

Interim financial reporting and impairment

Under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, the Group
is required to prepare an interim financial report in
compliance with HKAS 34, Interim financial reporting,
in respect of the first six months of the financial year.
At the end of the interim period, the Group applies the
same impairment testing, recognition, and reversal
criteria as it would at the end of the financial year (see
notes 2(k)(i) and (ii)).

Inventories

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net
realizable value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost
formula and comprises all costs of purchase, costs of
conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the
inventories to their present location and condition.
In the case of work in progress, costs include direct
labour and appropriate share of overheads based on
normal operating capacity.

Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make
the sale.

Net realizable value represents the estimated selling
price less any estimated costs of completion and costs
to be incurred in selling the property.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognized when the customer
pays consideration before the Group recognizes the
related revenue (see Note 2(v)). A contract liability
is also recognized if the Group has an unconditional
right to receive consideration before the Group
recognizes the related revenue. In such latter cases, a
corresponding receivable is also recognized (see Note

2(n)).

When the contract includes a significant financing
component, the contract balance includes interest
accrued under the effective interest method (see note

2(v)(i)).

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognized when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration and only
the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

Trade receivables that contain a significant financing
component and other receivables are initially measured
at fair value plus transaction costs. All receivables are
subsequently stated at amortized cost (see Note 2(k)

(1))-

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank
and on hand, demand deposits with banks and other
financial institutions, and other short-term, highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, having been
within three months of maturity at acquisition. Cash and
cash equivalents are assessed for ECL (see Note 2(k)

(i)).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(P)

(q)

(r
(i)

(i)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are measured initially
at fair value less transaction costs. Subsequently,
these borrowings are stated at amortized cost using
the effective interest method. Interest expense is
recognized in accordance with Note 2(y).

Trade and other payables (other than refund
liabilities)

Trade and other payables are initially recognized at fair
value. Subsequent to initial recognition, trade and other
payables are stated at amortized cost unless the effect
of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they
are stated at invoice amounts.

Employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits and contributions to
defined contribution retirement plans

Short-term employee benefits are expensed as the
related service is provided. A liability is recognized
for the amount expected to be paid if the Group has
a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this
amount as a result of past service provided by the
employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably.

Obligations for contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans are expensed as the related service is
provided.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are expensed at the earlier of
when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of
those benefits and when the Group recognizes costs
for a restructuring.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Employee benefits (continued)
Defined benetfit retirement plans obligations

The Group’s net obligation in respect of defined benefit
retirement plans is calculated separately for each
plan by estimating the amount of future benefit that
employees have earned in return for their service in the
current and prior periods; that benefit is discounted
to determine the present value. The calculation is
performed by a qualified actuary using the projected
unit credit method. When the calculation results in a
benefit to the Group, the recognized asset is limited to
the present value of economic benefits available in the
form of any future refunds from the plan or reductions
in future contributions to the plan.

Service cost and net interest expense (income) on
the net defined benefit liability (asset) are recognized
in profit or loss and allocated by function as part of
“cost of sales”, “selling and distribution expenses”
or “administrative expenses”.
measured as the increase in the present value of the
defined benefit obligation resulting from employee
service in the current period. Net interest expense
(income) for the period is determined by applying the
discount rate used to measure the defined benefit
obligation at the beginning of the reporting period to
the net defined benefit liability (asset). The discount
rate is the yield at the end of the reporting period on
high quality corporate bonds that have maturity dates
approximating the terms of the Group’s obligations.

Current service cost is
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(r)
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(s)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Employee benefits (continued)
Defined benefit retirement plans obligations (continued)

When the benefits of a plan are changed, or when a
plan is curtailed, current service cost for the portion
of the changed benefit related to past service by
employees, or the gain or loss on curtailment, is
recognized as an expense in profit or loss at the earlier
of when the plan amendment or curtailment occurs and
when related restructuring costs or termination benefits
are recognized.

Remeasurements arising from defined benefit retirement
plans are recognized in other comprehensive income
and reflected immediately in retained earnings.
Remeasurements comprise actuarial gains and losses,
the return on plan assets (excluding amounts included
in net interest on the net defined benefit liability (asset))
and any change in the effect of the asset ceiling
(excluding amounts included in net interest on the net
defined benefit liability (asset)).

Share-based payments

The fair value of share-based payment awards granted
to employees is recognized as an employee cost with a
corresponding increase in a reserve within equity. The
fair value is measured at grant date by reference to the
market price or the valuer’s valuation of the underlying
shares. Where the employees have to meet vesting
conditions before becoming unconditionally entitled to
the shares, the total estimated fair value of the shares is
spread over the vesting period, taking into account the
probability that the shares will vest.

During the vesting period, the number of shares that is
expected to vest is reviewed. Any resulting adjustment
to the cumulative fair value recognized in prior years is
charged/credited to the profit or loss for the year of the
review, unless the original employee expenses qualify
for recognition as an asset, with a corresponding
adjustment to the capital reserve. On vesting date, the
amount recognized as an expense is adjusted to reflect
the actual number that vest (with a corresponding
adjustment to the reserve).
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Income tax

Income tax expense comprises current tax and deferred
tax. It is recognized in profit or loss except to the
extent that it relates to a business combination, or items
recognized directly in equity or in OCI.

Current tax comprises the estimated tax payable or
receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year
and any adjustments to the tax payable or receivable
in respect of previous years. The amount of current tax
payable or receivable is the best estimate of the tax
amount expected to be paid or received that reflects
any uncertainty related to income taxes. It is measured
using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the
reporting date. Current tax also includes any tax arising
from dividends.

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain
criteria are met.

Deferred tax is recognized in respect of temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the
amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not
recognized for:

- temporary differences on the initial recognition
of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not
a business combination and that affects neither
accounting nor taxable profit or loss and does
not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences;

- temporary differences related to investment in
subsidiaries, associates and joint venture to the
extent that the Group is able to control the timing
of the reversal of the temporary differences and
it is probable that they will not reverse in the
foreseeable future;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(t)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Income tax (continued)

- taxable temporary differences arising on the
initial recognition of goodwill; and

- those related to the income taxes arising from
tax laws enacted or substantively enacted to
implement the Pillar Two model rules published
by the Organisation for Economic Co-operation
and Development.

The Group recognized deferred tax assets and deferred
tax liabilities separately in relation to its lease liabilities
and right-of-use assets.

Deferred tax assets are recognized for unused tax
losses, unused tax credits and deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that future
taxable profits will be available against which they
can be used. Future taxable profits are determined
based on the reversal of relevant taxable temporary
differences. If the amount of taxable temporary
differences is insufficient to recognize a deferred
then future taxable profits, adjusted
for reversals of existing temporary differences, are
considered, based on the business plans for individual
subsidiaries in the Group. Deferred tax assets are
reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax
benefit will be realized; such reductions are reversed
when the probability of future taxable profits improves.

tax asset in full,

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only if
certain criteria are met.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Generally provisions are determined by discounting the
expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects
current market assessment of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the liability.

A provision for warranties is recognized when the
underlying products or services are sold, based on
historical warranty data and a weighting of possible
outcomes against their associated probabilities.

A provision for onerous contracts is measured at the
present value of the lower of the expected cost of
terminating the contract and the expected net cost of
continuing with the contract, which is determined based
on the incremental costs of fulfilling the obligation under
that contract and an allocation of other costs directly
related to fulfilling that contract. Before a provision is
established, the Group recognizes any impairment loss
on the assets associated with that contract (see note 2

(K)(ii)).

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow
of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities
unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote.

Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle
a provision is expected to be reimbursed by another
party, a separate asset is recognized for any expected
reimbursement that would be virtually certain. The
amount recognized for the reimbursement is limited to
the carrying amount of the provision.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it
arises from the sale of goods, the provision of services
or the use by others of the Group’s assets under leases
in the ordinary course of the Group’s business.

Further details of the Group's revenue and other income
recognition policies are as follows:

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group is the principal for its revenue transactions
and recognizes revenue on a gross basis. In
determining whether the Group acts as a principal or as
an agent, it considers whether it obtains control of the
products before they are transferred to the customers.
Control refers to the Group’s ability to direct the use of
and obtain substantially all of the remaining benefits
from the products.

Revenue is recognized when control over a product or
service is transferred to the customer at the amount of
promised consideration to which the Group is expected
to be entitled, excluding those amounts collected on
behalf of third parties such as value added tax or other
sales taxes.

Sale of goods

Sales of the Group's products are recognized as
follows:

Revenue is recognized when the customer takes
possession of and accepts the products. Payment
terms and conditions vary by customers and are based
on the billing schedule established in the contracts
or purchase orders with customers, but the Group
generally provides credit terms to customers within six
months upon customer acceptance. The Group takes
advantage of the practical expedient in paragraph 63
of HKFRS 15 and does not adjust the consideration for
any effects of a significant financing component as the
period of financing is 12 months or less.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Revenue and other income (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

Sale of goods (continued)

The Group offers warranties for its products for up to
three years from the date of sale. A related provision is
recognized in accordance with the Note 2(u).

The Group typically offers customers of products
that are not made-to-order rights of return for a
period of 90 days upon customer acceptance. It also
offers retrospective volume rebates to certain major
customers of products when their purchases reach an
agreed threshold. Such rights of return and volume
rebates give rise to variable consideration. The Group
uses an expected value approach to estimate variable
consideration based on the Group’s current and
future performance expectations and all information
that is reasonably available. This estimated amount
is included in the transaction price to the extent it is
highly probable that a significant reversal of cumulative
revenue recognized will not occur when the uncertainty
associated with the variable consideration is resolved.
At the time of sale of products, the Group recognizes
revenue after taking into account adjustment to
transaction price arising from returns and rebates as
mentioned above. A refund liability is recognized for the
expected returns and rebates, and is included in refund
liabilities from right of return (see Note 29). A right to
recover returned goods and corresponding adjustment
to cost of sales are also recognized for the right to
recover products from customers. This right to recover
returned goods is measured at the former carrying
amount of the inventory less any expected costs to
recover goods (including potential decreases in the
value of the returned goods).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(v)
(ii)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Revenue and other income (continued)

Revenue from other sources and other income

(a)

Rental income from operating leases

Rental income from operating leases is
recognized in profit or loss on a straight-
line basis over the term of the lease. Lease
incentives granted are recognized as an integral
part of the total rental income, over the term of
the lease.

Interest income

Interest income is recognized using the effective
interest method. The “effective interest rate” is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash receipts through the expected life of the
financial asset to the gross carrying amount
of the financial asset. In calculating interest
income, the effective interest rate is applied to
the gross carrying amount of the asset (when
the asset is not credit-impaired). However,
for financial assets that have become credit-
impaired subsequent to initial recognition,
interest income is calculated by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortized cost of the
financial asset. If the asset is no longer credit-
impaired, then the calculation of interest income
reverts to the gross basis.

Government grants

Government grants are recognized in the
statement of financial position initially when
there is reasonable assurance that they will be
received and that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them.

Grants that compensate the Group for expenses
incurred are recognized as income in profit or
loss on a systematic basis in the same periods
in which the expenses are incurred.

Grants that compensate the Group for the cost
of an asset are recognized as deferred income
and subsequently recognized in profit or loss
on a systematic basis over the useful life of the
asset.

IN=RRLET ek

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD") unless otherwise indicated)

(AZET [T /T - B = HIEE)

ERSETEEE (&)

(v) WARHEMWKE (&)
(ii) K E A FIRHTA R B Az

(a)

FRIBIERAER AR —E_=FFR

RERENHES W

wEHENHe KR BERNIRE
BERBRER - IRENHAEER
REEHAERAAS RS BENE
E D o

B Y

BX

MBWSRIRERNEEER - [ER
ME|ESEMEERBHFHAN
HEFARRESWALEEEREZS

BEEAKREENFTIR - BB K
i EW%%'J“RJE%E’\QFE’] EEE@
(HEESEFSERME) ° ¥

b‘A%)JﬁAﬁwaé?:Hjima‘ﬁﬁfﬁé’]é@ﬂé
= MBKEBBY S REENHH
KRARRERNEGFE - HEETH
HREERE @ A SRR ER
RE B MRS

B Bh

fi 8 & AR 58 8 W B R AT #6 Bh B AR £
B 7 & w0 Bh AT R A6 - BIER AT 4 BY 9
ﬁﬁéﬁﬁﬁ%ﬂj{%%ﬁgnm °

B8 7N 62 B P 7 A P e A B O Bl =2
EANBRYEE RRHNIEEER
R e

EREEEEKANHBFERAE
EWA - BN ZIAEER R £ A F
HNE R ME s A RER -

147



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4= A

I = /\ﬁﬁ%i&% METEE

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD”) unless otherwise indicated)
(AT [FT /T - BrIESEHES)

2

(v)

(1)

(w)

(x)

148

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Revenue and other income (continued)

Revenue from other sources and other income
(continued)

(d) Dividends

Dividend income is recognized in profit or loss
on the date on which the Group’s right to receive
payment is established.

Refund liabilities

A refund liability is the obligation to refund some or all
of the consideration received (or receivable) from the
customer and is measured at the amount the Group
ultimately expects it will have to return to the customer.
The Group updates its estimates of refund liabilities
(and the corresponding change in the transaction price)
at the end of each reporting period.

Translation of foreign currencies

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated
into the respective functional currencies of Group
companies at the exchange rates at the dates of the
transactions.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated into the functional currency at
the exchange rate at the reporting date. Non-monetary
assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value
in a foreign currency are translated into the functional
currency at the exchange rate when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are
measured based on historical cost in a foreign currency
are translated at the exchange rate at the date of the
transaction. Foreign currency differences are generally
recognized in profit or loss.

However, foreign currency differences arising from the
translation of the following items are recognized in OCI:

- an investment in equity securities designated as
at FVOCI (except on impairment, in which case
foreign currency differences that have been
recognized in OCI are reclassified to profit or
loss);
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(x)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Translation of foreign currencies (continued)

- a financial liability designated as a hedge of
the net investment in a foreign operation to the
extent that the hedge is effective; and

- qualifying cash flow hedges to the extent that
the hedges are effective.

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations,
including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on
acquisition, are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the
exchange rates at the reporting date. The income and
expenses of foreign operations are translated into Hong
Kong dollars at the exchange rates at the dates of the
transactions.

Foreign currency differences are recognized in OCI and
accumulated in the exchange reserve, except to the
extent that the translation difference is allocated to NCI.

When a foreign operation is disposed of in its entirety or
partially such that control, significant influence or joint
control is lost, the cumulative amount in the exchange
reserve related to that foreign operation is reclassified
to profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal.
On disposal of a subsidiary that includes a foreign
operation, the cumulative amount of the exchange
differences relating to that foreign operation that have
been attributed to the NCI shall be derecognized,
but shall not be reclassified to profit or loss. If the
Group disposes of part of its interest in a subsidiary
but retains control, then the relevant proportion of
the cumulative amount is reattributed to NCI. When
the Group disposes of only part of an associate or
joint venture while retaining significant influence or
joint control, the relevant proportion of the cumulative
amount is reclassified to profit or loss.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2
(CONTINUED)

(y) Borrowing costs (y)

Borrowing costs that directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of an asset
which necessarily takes a substantial period of time to
get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalized as
part of the cost of that asset. Other borrowing costs are
expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

(2) Related parties (2)

(a) A person, or a close member of that person’s
family, is related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the
Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group;
or

(iii) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the Group’s
parent.

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

(i) The entity and the Group are members of
the same Group (which means that each
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary
is related to the others).

(i) One entity is an associate or a joint
venture of the other entity (or an associate
or a joint venture of a member of a group
of which the other entity is a member).

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the
same third party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third

entity and the other entity is an associate
of the third entity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 BERETECR (E)
(CONTINUED)
(z) Related parties (continued) (z) BAEER ()
(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the (o)  TARFAE TIMEMGLG - BB ASE
following conditions applies: (continued) EHEREE : (&)
(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit (v) ZEERASHEHSHEAEEES
plan for the benefit of employees of either R ERERE B =R A
the Group or an entity related to the BEEEAEAIET R -
Group.
(vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled (vi) ZEBE(a)fTEAALZH
by a person identified in (a). S H A o

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant (viiy  B(a)()FTHEAIALTHZER
influence over the entity or is a member EEAVENNBZER (X
of the key management personnel of the ZEBNEAR]) TEEEA
entity (or of a parent of the entity). g8 -

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group (vii) ZEFESHEFTE S E A R
of which it is a part, provides key BRRIEAEE NN EEN T
management personnel services to the NEAREEEETEABRE -
Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those FEAATHREEERERZEEISR
family members who may be expected to influence, or AEBZANTIRZATHENRERKS -
be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the

entity.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to the
Group’s most senior executive management for the
purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group’s various lines of business
and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and
are similar in respect of the nature of products and
services, the nature of production processes, the type
or class of customers, the methods used to distribute
the products or provide the services, and the nature of
the regulatory environment. Operating segments which
are not individually material may be aggregated if they
share a majority of these criteria.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Notes 17, 18, 20 and 33(e) contains information
about the assumptions and their risk factors relating
to fair value of financial assets. Other key sources of
estimation uncertainty are as follows:

(a) Net realizable value of inventories

Net realizable value of inventories is the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business less estimated costs of completion and
the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.
These estimates are based on the current market
conditions and the historical experience of
selling products with similar nature. Any change
in the assumptions would increase or decrease
the amount of inventories write-down or the
related reversals of write-down made in prior
years and affect the Group’s net assets value.
The Group reassesses these estimates annually.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

(b)

(c)

Impairment of trade and other receivables

The Group estimates the amount of loss
allowance for ECLs on trade and other
receivables that are measured at amortized
cost based on the credit risk of the respective
financial instruments. The loss allowance amount
is measured as the asset’s carrying amount and
the present value of estimated future cash flows
with the consideration of expected future credit
loss of the respective financial instrument. The
assessment of the credit risk of the respective
financial instrument involves high degree of
estimation and uncertainty. When the actual
future cash flows are less than expected or more
than expected, a material impairment loss or a
material reversal of impairment loss may arise,
accordingly.

Warranty provisions

The Group makes provisions under the
warranties it gives on sale of its power tools and
outdoor power equipment taking into account the
Group’s recent claim experience. As the Group
is continually upgrading its product designs
and launching new models it is possible that
the recent claim experience is not indicative of
future claims that it will receive in respect of past
sales. Any increase or decrease in the provision
would affect profit or loss in future years.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

(@)

(e)

The recognition of the deferred tax assets

The recognition of the deferred tax assets mainly
depends on whether sufficient future taxable
profits or taxable temporary differences will
be available. In cases where the actual future
taxable profits generated are less or more than
expected, or change in facts and circumstances
which result in revision of future taxable profits
estimation, a material reversal or further
recognition of deferred tax assets may arise,
which would be recognized in profit or loss for
the period in which such a reversal or further
recognition takes place.

Right to returned goods asset

The Group makes a reasonable estimate of the
return rate for a portfolio of contracts with similar
characteristics based on historical sales data,
current sales conditions and taking into account
all relevant information such as customer and
market changes. The return rate is reasonably
estimated. The estimated return rate may not
equal the actual return rate in the future and
the Group reassesses the return rate at least at
each balance sheet date and determines the
return rate based on the reassessed return rate.
The Group reassesses the return rate at least
at each balance sheet date and determines the
accounting treatment based on the reassessed
return rate. products with similar nature. Any
change in the assumptions would increase or
decrease the amount of inventories write-down
or the related reversals of write-down made in
prior years and affect the Group’'s net assets
value. The Group reassesses these estimates
annually.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(a)

()

REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
Revenue

The principal activities of the Group are researching,
developing, manufacturing, testing, sales, and after-
sale services for power tools, outdoor power equipment
and related products. Further details regarding the
Group’s principal activities are disclosed in Note 4(b).

Disaggregation of revenue

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with
customers by business lines is as follows:

IN=RRLET ek

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD") unless otherwise indicated)
(UZETT [FT /2T - BRIFSHHEE)

4 WA R 7 EBEHE

(a) WA
NEBNWTELKEEHTH  BINENR
BRERERMAE &G BH - HER

T2 - BEA(D) RE T ARBEBRT
B — SRS o

(i) WA SHE

BRI A AW ARESRYBINT

Year ended December 31,
BZ12A31HILEE

2023 2022
2023%F 20224
USD’000 UsD’000
FEr FET
Revenue from contracts with customers FHEHEREEQFE15FEER
within the scope of HKFRS 15 HEFRITaNHBA
Disaggregated by major products RXrEZEEmHE
— Sales of power tools —HESHTA 548,544 754,924
— Sales of outdoor power equipment — HEFINB N R 811,408 1,223,527
— Others — Efth 14,762 10,829
1,374,714 1,989,280

The Group’s revenue from contracts with customers
were recognized at point in time.

The Group’s customer base is diversified and 2
(2022: 1) customers with whom transactions have
exceeded 10% of the Group's revenues for the year
ended December 31, 2023. The total revenue from the
sales of power tools, outdoor power equipment and
others to these customers amounted to US$623 million
(2022: US$990 million) and arose in North Americans.
Details of concentrations of credit risk arising from the
customers are set out in Note 33(a).

AEBEEFFIE] & 8 WA TR F 28
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REBNEFHEZ (LR - BE2023F
12A31BLLFE Bz XS5 EBBAEEK
AO%HIEF B24 (2022F - 18)KF
MZERFHEEEHTHE PINE HERE
MEAMATBWARE FA623H BXETT (2022
F:99058Em) HELEAIEE - BAEF
SRR 12 B & R b /9 &F 4015 S 80 B 5
33(a) °
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(CONTINUED)

Revenue (continued)

Revenue expected to be recognized in the future
arising from contracts with customers in existence at
the reporting date

The Group has applied the practical expedient in
paragraph 121 of HKFRS 15 to its sales contracts for
goods such that information about revenue expected to
be recognized in the future is not disclosed in respect
of revenue that the Group will be entitled to when it
satisfies the remaining performance obligations under
the contracts for sales of goods that had an expected
duration of one year or less.

Segment reporting

The Group manages its businesses by divisions,
which are organised by a mixture of both business
lines (products and services) and geography. In a
manner consistent with the way in which information is
reported internally to the Group’s most senior executive
management for the purposes of resource allocation
and performance assessment, the Group has presented
the following reportable segments. No operating
segments have been aggregated to form the following
reportable segment.

° Power tools: sales of power tools and power
tool accessories for consumer, professional
and industrial users. The products are available
under the FLEX, DEVON, SKIL and X-TRON
brands plus original design manufacturer
(“*ODM”) customers.

° Outdoor power equipment: sales of outdoor
tools and outdoor tool accessories for premium
or professional and mass-market users. The
products are available under the EGO, SKIL
brands and some ODM private labels.

o Others: sales of parts and components to a
home appliances business.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(b)
()

REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(CONTINUED)

Segment reporting (continued)
Information about reportable segments

For the purposes of assessing segment performance
and allocating resources between segments, the
Group’s senior executive management monitor the
results attributable to each reportable segment on the
following bases:

Revenue are allocated to the reportable segments with
reference to sales generated by those segments.

The measure used for reporting segment profit is gross
profit. Segment profit is used to measure performance
as management believes that such information is the
most relevant in evaluating the results of the respective
segments relative to other entities that operate in the
same industries.

In addition to receiving segment information concerning
segment results, management is provided with segment
information concerning revenue generated by the
segments in their operations.

Segment assets and liabilities are not regularly
reported to the Group's executive directors and
therefore information of reportable segment assets and
liabilities are not presented in the consolidated financial
statements.

(b)
(1)

IN=RRLET ek

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwise indicated)

(AZET [T /T - B = HIEE)
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ire SRR R

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD”) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZET[FET 37 - BIESEIEH)

4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 4 WARDER®E (&)
(CONTINUED)
(b) Segment reporting (continued) (b) DE®E(E)
(i) Information about reportable segments (continued) (i) RESHEFR ()
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with BIBEWAEREESEEEFITHZYOLA
customers by the timing of revenue recognition, as MO UWRABERESRE D HEET(HH
well as information regarding the Group's reportable MAEESRTHREEASEHEHNEEAE
segments as provided to the Group's senior executive BRE S BRI TR o
management for the purposes of resource allocation
and assessment of segment performance is set out
below.
Reportable segments
&= DB
Outdoor Total
Power power reportable
tools equipment Others segments
E o HRE
EFHTH BEEBRE Hit 2 EBE
USD’000 USD’ 000 UsD’ 000 USD’ 000
E Ev TER EY
2023 2023F
Revenue from external customers REMBEF WA
Point in time AR FEl 548,544 811,408 14,762 1,374,714
Gross profit from external customers K BN R EEF 112,773 270,680 3,380 386,833
and reportable segment profit K3 o 2R A
Reportable segments
BED
Outdoor Total
Power power reportable
tools equipment Others  segments
Foh &
EHTH  EIRME Hith  DEbAE
UsD’000 UsD’000 UsD’000 USD’000
FET FTET TET FET
2022 20224

Revenue from external customers REPBEFHBRA

Point in time Nk 754,924 1,228,527 10,829 1,989,280
Gross profit from external customers 2R BINEEF K EF 191,768 409,905 2,200 603,873

and reportable segment profit R s o 2 A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 4

(CONTINUED)

=
N}

RIS R Mot

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZET[ET 137 - BRIESEIEH)

LONSE:)

BEwE (K)

(b) Segment reporting (continued) (b) DEE®E (F)
(i) Reconciliations of reportable segment gross profit (i) HEDSEFE R
Year ended December 31,
BZ12A31HLEEE
2023 2022
2023 F 20224
USD’000 USD’000
X FEx
Reportable segment gross profit HEDHEFR 386,833 603,873
Other revenue HE A 5,787 7,038
Other net loss HEMEsEFEE (8,333) (52,254)
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHEAX (244,052) (214,014)
Administrative and other operating expenses  {TH M E A& &5 (96,787) (89,765)
Research and development costs (RPN (70,673) (65,733)
Net finance costs B R AN F RE (3,290) (22,265)
Share of loss of an associate FE(RE & A R E1E (18,341) (5,490)
Consolidated (loss)/profit before taxation R ATARE (B18) FH (48,856) 161,390
(i) Geographic information (iii)  HFEEH
The following table sets out the geographic information TREHNAEBWA RS EIETREEENL
analyses of the Group's revenue and specified BERSN - 2EWE - BEIRE  #H

non-current assets including property, plant and

equipment,
(“specified non-current assets”).

right-of-use assets and intangible assets
In presenting the

geographic information, segment revenue has been
based on the geographic location of customers and
segment assets have been based on the geographic

location of the assets.

REERBVEE(IBFEHFRDEE] - &

2R ERE

& -

RGP AR

NE] —E-=FFHR

DERAERE P #3IP
DEHEEENEERMIEMNE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ire SRR R

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD”) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZET[FET 37 - BIESEIEH)

4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 4 WARSIM®ME (&)
(CONTINUED)

(b) Segment reporting (continued) (b) AE®E(E)
(i) Geographic information (continued) (iii)  HHFEER (4E)
Revenue from external customers AN R F R A

Year ended December 31,
BZ12A31HLEEE

2023 2022

2023 20224

USD’ 000 UsSD’000

E FET

North Americans ik 940,197 1,499,907
Europe B 282,359 317,247
China H 100,615 99,490
Rest of the World R E b b [@ 51,543 72,636

1,374,714 1,989,280

Specified non-current assets FEIEMENEE
As at December 31,
M12H31H
2023 2022
2023 % 20224
USD’ 000 USD’000
SFEETE FEr
North Americans ik 16,091 17,325
Europe B 34,133 27,233
China H 285,195 234,459
335,419 279,017
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5
(a)

(b)

n

Re MR

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwise indicated)

(AZET [T /T - B = HIEE)

OTHER REVENUE AND OTHER NET GAIN 5 HA WA K& H At U 28 75 58
Other revenue (a) HfplA
Year ended December 31,
BZE12A318LEE
2023 2022
2023F 20224
USD’ 000 USD’000
FEx FEx
Government grants (Note (i) RIS BN (HTEE(D)) 1,174 1,860
Sale of scrap materials FEERH & 4,282 4,814
Rentals receivable from operating leases, &2 EEWAS (HIEEME 331 364
other than those relating to investment HHEEERRIN)
property
5,787 7,038
Note: Mt -
(i During the year ended December 31, 2023, the (i) HZE2023F12H31HIEFE » K
Group received unconditional government grants of EEFES1,174,000FE 7T (20224
USD1,174,000 (2022: USD1,860,000), as rewards 1,860,000% 7T ) MY EEFBUFHEBY - 1

of the Group's contribution to technology innovation

and regional economic development

Other net loss

RASBEHMREAFTRREEEERE

R 10 B -

(b) EMEEFER

Year ended December 31,
BZE12A318LEE

2023 2022
20234 20224
USD’000 UsSD’000
ED FET
Net foreign exchange gain/(loss) SNEUES (B518) SF58 4,863 (15,533)
Net loss on disposal of properties, plants HEYE - HE &R ESN (46) (176)
and equipment [E5tE 55
Net loss on disposal of leases HEHREBBRFHE (1,226) -
Net realized and unrealized loss on AT AR E AR B IR R R (630) (15,280)
convertible bonds & IR EIEF R
Net realized and unrealized gains on financial AR EEEEEESA 948 1,654
assets at FVPL other than convertible bonds EHRBERNEMEED
I N R IR I R
(TR EFHERIN)
Net realized and unrealized loss on derivative $T4E2 /T ARNDEE K (12,181) (23,297)
financial instruments REIFEEFRE
Others HAh (61) 378
(8,333) (52,254)
RIEZBABRAR —E_=FFR 161



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire SRR R

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD”) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZET[FET 37 - BIESEIEH)

6 (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 6

(Loss)/Profit before taxation is arrived at after
(crediting)/charging:

BRBiA (E1E),FH

Biial (B1E), FBIE (GEA),/ MR IA
THRRREL

(a) Net finance costs (a) BBEREFHE
Year ended December 31,
BZ12A31HLEE
2023 2022
20234 20224
USD’000 USD’000
FEx FET
Interest income from bank deposits RITIF R F BWA (7,844) (3,959)
Finance income BRI (7,844) (3,959)
Interest on bank loans SRITEFF B 8,819 12,267
Other financing cost H At B 75 B 1,725 13,005
Interest on lease liabilities HEAEF S 590 952
Finance costs B TSR AN 11,134 26,224
Net finance costs B RS AN 5 5 3,290 22,265
(b)  Staff costs (b) EIK
Year ended December 31,
BZE12A31HLLEE
2023 2022
20234 20224
USD’000 UsSD’000
ED FET
Contributions to defined contribution FE TR RTS8 3R 31,168 30,225
retirement plans
Expenses recognized in respect of FrigsR B SR AR K 18 6
defined benefit retirement plans AEIEBNFAT (H1:E31(a))
obligation (note 31(a))
Salaries, wages and other benefits e IEREMAFE 177,763 184,143
208,949 214,374
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

6 (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION
(CONTINUED)

(c)

Other items

IN=RRLET ek

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZET[ET 137 - BRIESEIEH)

6 BRBiAT (18), FM (&)

(c) Eft&AHE

Year ended December 31,
BZ12A31HLEEE

2023 2022
2023 F 20224
USD’000 USD’000
E FET
Depreciation charge HEEHR
— owned properties, plants and equipment —BEWE - BEKK 28,285 25,270
- right-of-use assets —EREEE 7,616 10,091
Amortization of intangible assets ML EERE 280 584
Research and development costs (Note (i) A (H22 () 70,673 65,733
Provision for impairment loss on trade and 2 5 R H YR IE R A 1,172 1,401
other receivables E BB

Provision for write-down of inventories FERBEE 47,058 12,248

Auditors’ remuneration 1% B R 3 B
— audit services — Bt IR 822 912
- non-audit services — BB - =
Cost of inventories sold (Note (i) P& 'R (772 (i) 987,881 1,394,957

Notes:

(i)

(if)

Research and development costs include amounts
relating to staff costs, depreciation and amortization
expenses, which are also included in the respective
total amounts disclosed separately above or in Note
6 for each of these types of expenses.

Cost of inventories recognized as expenses
includes amounts relating to staff costs,
depreciation and amortization expenses, provision
for write-down of inventories, which are also
included in the respective total amounts disclosed
separately above or in Note 6 for each of these
types of expenses.

Hiat -

(i) MERABIEEE TRA - T8 K#H
R BERNSRE  SLMX bt AL
ERWENERPHM T (HEHE
FxmE) e

(ii) BRAASAXNEEXRABERE TK
A EREEFAN - FEBORBER
e ELeBBIF A LRSS
WEMRERM P (RS BEMAXM

-
=) °
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(Expressed in US dollar (“USD”) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZET[FET 37 - BIESEIEH)

7

(a)

164

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 7

STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS

Taxation in the consolidated statements of profit (a)

or loss represents:

REBBRAMEHR

REBBERABIRSE :

Year ended December 31,
BZ12A31HILEE

2023 2022
2023 F 20224
USD’000 USD’000
FX7x FEr
Current tax BIHABL R
PRC Corporate Income Tax loa e e
— Provision for the year — FREHE - 3,034
— Over-provision in respect of prior years — B FEREERE 226 (28)
226 3,006
Hong Kong Profits Tax EBNEH
— Provision for the year — FREME - 16,207
Tax jurisdictions outside PRC and Hong Kong — H[5 & Z& & 9}
B AL EEE
— Provision for the year — F RS 3,786 8,038
Deferred tax EERIE
— Origination and reversal of temporary —EREENELH (15,718) (5,139)
differences (Note 27(b)) B (At5t27(b))
Total income tax expense FrieRiB R A5 (11,706) 22,112
Notes: Bt -
(i) Pursuant to the income tax rules and regulations (i) BIEBBOMERGEAEER &2

of Hong Kong, the Company and the subsidiary in
Hong Kong were liable to the Hong Kong Profits
Tax at a rate of 16.5% during the years ended

December 31, 2022 and 2023.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(a)

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS
(CONTINUED)

Taxation in the consolidated statements of profit
or loss represents: (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(i) The PRC subsidiaries of the Group are subject to
PRC Corporate Income Tax (“CIT”) at a statutory
rate of 25%, except for the following specified
subsidiary:

According to the Administrative Measures
for Determination of High-Tech Enterprises
(Guokefahuo [2016] No0.32), Nanjing Chervon
Industry Co., Ltd. obtained the qualification as
a high-tech enterprise and was entitled to a
preferential income tax rate of 15% for the years
from 2022 to 2025.

According to the prevailing PRC CIT law and
its relevant regulations, non-PRC tax resident
enterprises are levied withholding tax on dividends
from their PRC resident investees for intra-group
earnings accumulated beginning on January 1,
2008, at 10% (unless reduced by tax treaties or
similar arrangements), respectively. Undistributed
earnings generated prior to 2008 are exempt from
such withholding tax.

Under the arrangement between the Mainland China
and Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
for the Avoidance of Double Taxation and the
Prevention of Fiscal Evasion with respect to Taxes
on Income and its relevant regulations, dividends
paid by a PRC resident enterprise to its direct
holding company in Hong Kong will be subject to
withholding tax at a reduced rate of 5% (if the Hong
Kong investor is the “beneficial owner” and owns
directly at least 25% of the equity interest of the
PRC resident enterprise for the past twelve months
before the dividends distribution). The Group met
the beneficial owner requirements in 2022 and 2023
and were entitled to a preferential rate of 5% since
2015.

IN=RRLET ek

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD") unless otherwise indicated)

7 me

(AZET [T /T - B = HIEE)

BERAAEH ()

(a) HEBEBRABIEAE: (&)

Kiat - (&)

(if)

ANEER BB A R EER25% AT
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BRE(RIEMECERETEEE) (E
Rk [2016]325%) © A RERIE AR
RARE ST RMEEER - 20224F
E2025 6 ZF15%MFTEFERR K -

REBERTCHTBEEEMESHZE) RE
HEZER  FTBEBRBEEREZHA
2008 1 A1 R R MEE RIS
REHEERBIREH ESOHE D 5
BU10% rTRFITE (BR FEHR A U 16 72 =X
B FRE) 20084F 2 RIE LR RS
Bl s e B SR TRANFR -

R IR A RN 78 55 B 1T BRE B R B P
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(AT [FT /T - BrIESEHES)

7

(a)

166

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS
(CONTINUED)

Taxation in the consolidated statements of profit
or loss represents: (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(iii) Pursuant to the income tax rules and regulations of
the United States, the Group’s subsidiaries in the
United States was liable to United States federal
income tax at a rate of 21% and state income tax
at a rate ranging from 0.75% to 9.99% during the
during the year ended December 31, 2022 and
2023.

(iv) Pursuant to the income tax rules and regulations of
the United Kingdom, the Group’s subsidiary in the
United Kingdom was liable to the United Kingdom
corporation tax at a rate of 19% during the year
ended December 31, 2022 and 2023.

(v) Pursuant to the income tax rules and regulations of
Germany, Chervon GmbH, Flex Geschaftsfuhrungs
GmbH, Flex Verwaltungs GmbH & Co., KG, Flex-
Elektrowerkzeuge GmbH and EGO Europe GmbH
were liable to German corporate tax at a rate
between 22.825% and 26.825% determined by
municipalities during the year ended December 31,
2022 and 2023.

(vi) Pursuant to the rules and regulations of Australia,
the Group’s subsidiary in Australia was liable to
Australia corporation tax at a rate of 27.5% during
the year ended December 31, 2022 and 2023.

(vii) Pursuant to the rules and regulations of Canada, the
Group’s subsidiary in Canada was liable to Canada
corporation tax at a rate of 26.5% during the year
ended December 31, 2022 and 2023.

(viii)  Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the
Netherlands, the Group’s subsidiaries in the
Netherlands was liable to the Netherlands
corporation tax at a rate of 25% during the year
ended December 31, 2022 and 2023.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(a)

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS
(CONTINUED)

Taxation in the consolidated statements of profit
or loss represents: (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(ix) Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the
Czech Republic, the Group’s subsidiary in the
Czech Republic was liable to the Czech Republic
corporation tax at a rate of 19% during the year
ended December 31, 2022 and 2023.

(x) Pursuant to the rules and regulations of Belgium,
the Group’s subsidiary in Belgium was liable to
Belgium corporation tax at a rate of 25% during the
year ended December 31, 2022 and 2023.

(xi) Pursuant to the rules and regulations of ltalia,
the Group’s subsidiary in lItalia was liable to ltalia
corporation tax at a rate of 24% during the year
ended December 31, 2022 and 2023.

(xii) Pursuant to the rules and regulations of France, the
Group’s subsidiary in France was liable to France
corporation tax at a rate of 28% during the year
ended December 31, 2022 and 2023.

(xiii)  Pursuant to the Vietnam Investment Law and the
approval of Industry Zone Committee of Tinh Binh
Duong, the Group’s subsidiary in the Vietnam was
entitled to a tax exemption for 2022 and 2023 and
a preferential income tax rate of 10% from 2022 to
2025.

(xiv)  Pursuant to the rules and regulations of New
Zealand, the Group’s subsidiary in New Zealand
was liable to New Zealand corporation tax at a rate
of 28% during the year ended December 31, 2022
and 2023.

(a)

=

IN=RRLET ek

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwise indicated)

(AZET [T /T - B = HIEE)

mERAFEH (&)

meRBmRABIEE - ()

Hiat - (%)

(ix)

(x)

(xi)

(xii)

(xii)

(xiv)

IR 7o A AR DI ROERR - A& E
e XAB A M B QR ZE2022
FK%2023F 12 A31HILFEEIE19%
BB RN FE 52 AR o

BRI LR R R0 R 38 - A ETEL
FIEF B9 BT 8 A RIFE B E 2022 F K 2023
F12A31 B L FEEIR25% M H = 4
LR A RIFL o

RIBZEAFOEA AR  AEEER
AFIH T B A RIFE B E20224F %2023
F12A31 B IEFEREIE24% 0 H R 4
MBARFAFH o

RIBABEMIEH MAR - AEBELAE
R B B A RIE A B 20224 N 20234 12
A31 8 IEFEREIR28% N R E
AR -

RB(UBERERIIRFHEILERS
Bt AEBTEUEOMERA R
R2022F 2023 F ZHB R HFB KRR
2022F E2025F R 10% WIS TER
RN -

IR PO M 5] KoA R - NS ETER
PR BB A RITE &L 22022 4F [ 2023
F12 318 L FEREIE28% M T K 4
MEFTEEARE o
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(Expressed in US dollar (“USD”) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZET[FET 37 - BIESEIEH)

7

(b)

168

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 7

STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS

(CONTINUED)

Reconciliation between (loss)/profit before (b)
taxation and tax expense and at applicable tax

rates:

REBBERAMEHR (H)

BRBLAT (B518), R EEBIEM X UK E A
PRz EHNHEK:

Year ended December 31,

BE12A3MBLEE

2023 2022
2023 F 20224
USD’000 USD’000
X FErT
(Loss)/profit before taxation BREL AT (E518), FIE (48,856) 161,390
Notional tax on profit before taxation, BRERFIERER - RER (8,567) 28,139
calculated at the rates applicable to profits PAEEERLEE B =M E A
in the jurisdictions concerned HEAE
Effect of PRC tax concessions obtained SR E SRR 2 - (2,022)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses (Note) Al NFR B 2 MBS 5,764 3,226
T& (Wit)
Tax effect of non-taxable income EEFR DRI E (740) (410)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognized RERTIEEENT G L 291 442
Tax effect of bonus deduction for research T3 R AN S8 0 BR Y (7,607) (7,113)
and development costs METE
Provision of withholding tax on RO A EO TR (1,073) (122)
undistributed profits
Over-provision in prior years BEFEREBRRE 226 (28)
Income tax expense S fif (11,706) 22112
Note: Wi

Tax effect of non-deductible expenses mainly represented

PAHRAXOREZEIEE —RBRERR

tax effect of loss of an associate, expenses incurred by R TEREANEEREBRI BN REM

entities without assessable profits and other non-deductible

expenses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

()

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS
(CONTINUED)

Pillar Two income taxes

The Group operates in Hong Kong, which plans to
enact new tax laws to implement the Pillar Two model
rules published by the OECD. The new tax laws are
expected to take effect from 1 January 2025. When
these laws take effect, the Group expects to be
subject to a new top-up tax in Hong Kong in relation
to its operations in China mainland and Vietnam,
where the local statutory tax rate is lower than 15%
or the additional tax deductions in connection with
government support would result in an effective tax
rate of lower than 15%. As the new tax laws are not yet
effective, the Group does not recognize any current tax
relating to the Pillar Two model rules for the year ended
December 31, 2023.

The Group has applied the temporary mandatory
exception to recognising and disclosing information
about deferred tax assets and liabilities related to Pillar
Two income taxes and would account for the tax as
current tax when incurred (see note 2(c)).

(c)

IN=RRLET ek

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZET[ET 137 - BRIESEIEH)

REBBERAMEHR (H)

B HEFRBH
REBMRBEBKEE - W EIBHHBIE
NEHEAABBEMANE A RARA -
FEHFRAAS B 2025F1 A1 B#EEKR - &
%Eiﬁiﬂﬁ’ﬁﬁlﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ#¢l
A & R R EBBAB B TEER
¢QM£EM+ﬁMW%&£ﬁW§ﬁﬁ@
REEINRIS R EBER R EER15% °
HRFBEMRER - REBREZE20234F
12831 BItFEWERRESE — T HERE
AR ML BN AR 1A -

REBEERAEREHHRE  UERREKE
EHRBE-_SHMEHMEEHEEERERE
HER  WHEHREERBRIEAIRYIERNH
B (AHE2 (c)) °

SUERAERAR B =FER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire SRR R

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD”) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZET[FET 37 - BIESEIEH)

8 DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section
383(1) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and

EEFHM

REBEZBARIEHEI8I(NIERAT (FE
BENFER) BOAFE A0 FEENE S

Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information ST :
about Benefits of Directors) Regulation are as follows:
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
Directors’  and benefits  Discretionary scheme 2023
fees in kind bonuses  contributions Total
e 28
B2He RENFE MERL  BRIGTEER 2023 F &5t
UsD’000 USD’000 USD’000 UsD’000 USD’000
TZn TEn TZn TZn S
Chairman I
Pan Longquan BER 30 157 26 - 213
Executive directors HITESE
Zhang Tong &Y 30 166 26 - 222
Ke Zugian TiE 30 166 26 - 222
Michael John Clancy Michael John Clancy 30 463 263 22 778
Independent non-executive BUFHTES
directors
Tian Ming a3 28 - - - 28
Li Minghui TR 28 - - - 28
Jiang Li 4y} 28 - - - 28
204 952 341 22 1,519
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IN=RRLET ek

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZET[ET 137 - BRIESEIEH)

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED) EEHM (&)
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
Directors’ and benefits  Discretionary scheme 2022
fees in kind bonuses  contributions Total
$4 2%
EXHE RENHIR B RIGHEIER 2020485
USD'000 UsD'000 USD'000 USD'000 UsD'000
TEL TEL TEL TEL T
Chairman Ed-4
Pan Longquan BER 30 148 231 = 409
Executive directors HTES
Zhang Tong &Y 30 148 320 - 498
Ke Zugian LoriEE 30 148 261 S 439
Michael John Clancy Michael John Clancy 30 443 560 27 1,060
Independent non-executive BUFHTES
directors
Tian Ming a3 30 - - - 30
Li Minghui TR 30 - - - 30
Jiang Li ) 30 - = = 30
210 887 1,372 27 2,49
Note: Htat -

All the executive directors are key management personnel

of the Group during the year ended December 31,

2022

and 2023 and their remuneration disclosed above include
those for services rendered by them as key management

personnel.

FrBTE EEHZE20224F 2023412 A31
HIEFEHYAAESENEEEEAS -

BRENTHNEREFREIEE

TEHy N -

RIEZER AR AR

J:L‘?&

B ABRMH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire SRR R

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD”) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZET[FET 37 - BIESEIEH)

9 INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments,
two (2022: two) are directors whose emoluments are
disclosed in Note 8. The aggregate of the emoluments
in respect of the remaining individuals are as follows:

REFMAL

ExmHMaTBEATR - mE (20224 ¢
ME) EEHFNEP TS h BEE - HEREA
HFTIAaREn D

Year ended December 31,
BZ12A31HILEE

2023 2022

20234 20224

USD’ 000 USD’000

ES FET

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind ¥4 - ZBH R EYWHZ 1,735 1,576
Discretionary bonuses BB IEAT 703 1,702
Retirement scheme contributions RIRETEIHE 123 95
2,561 8,878

The emoluments of the five (2022: five) individuals with
the highest emoluments are within the following bands:

ST (2022F - BHA) EANF
MAEATEER

Year ended December 31,
HZ12B31HILLEE

2023 2022

20234 20224

Number of Number of

individuals individuals

BAZE A AE B

USD nil to USD500,000 T XL E500,0003% 7T 2 1
USD500,001 to USD1,000,000 500,0013 7t % 1,000,000% 7T 3 8
USD1,000,001 to USD1,500,000 1,000,001 c = 1,500,000% 7T - 1

None of the Directors of the Company has waived any
emoluments for the year ended December 31, 2023.

No emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors
or the five highest paid individuals (including directors
and employees) as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Group or as compensating for loss of office
during both years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

10

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

=
NN

VSRR P ot

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZETT [FT /2T - BRIFSHHEE)

10 HttZEWE

B E i 2 T i 2R R AR KRB 0 AR R RO B S

X

Tax effects relating to each component of other E
comprehensive income
Exchange
differences
on translation Remeasurement
of financial of net defined
statements benefit liability Total
BRE B BREK RERFEE
W 5% =5 FREEHTE st
USD’ 000 USD’ 000 UsSD’ 000
FxEx FTER FTER
For the year ended B ZE2022912A31H
December 31, 2022 IEFE
Before-tax amount HAIS 5 (13,365) 141 (13,224)
Tax expense FRIAM S = 52 52
Net-of-tax amount BRI 2 8 (13,365) 193 (13,172)
For the year ended EZE2023F12A31H
December 31, 2023 IEFE
Before-tax amount WAL 5 (10,861) 16 (10,845)
Tax expense FRIAM S - 5 5
Net-of-tax amount BRI 2 8 (10,861) 21 (10,840)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ire SRR R

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD”) unless otherwise indicated)
(AT [FT /T - BrIESEHES)

11 (LOSSES)/EARNINGS PER SHARE 11 R (&EE),BF

(a) Basic (losses)/earnings per share (a) SREX(EHE)BF
The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share ERERAREERFDIRBEARRRERRE
is based on the loss attributable to equity shareholders FE(5E5#837,137,000% 7T (20224 : ANA A
of the Company of USD37,137,000 (2022: profit 25 A% 3R B (3% 1)139,369,000 3 7T ) K& &3
attributable to equity shareholders of the Company of FEINEF I HETERT -

USD139,369,000) and the weighted average of ordinary
shares calculated as follows:

Weighted average number of ordinary shares AR T B

Year ended December 31,
BZ12A31HLEEE

2023 2022

2023 F 20224

Ordinary shares at the beginning of the year RFANH) E AR 490,218,811 479,431,411

Effect of shares issued (Note 32(c)(i)(ii)) BITRDTE 19,750,438 10,018,982

(H1a£32(c)(i)(ii))
Weighted average number of ordinary shares B R KX @S INAE F 98 509,969,249 489,450,393
at the end of the year
(b) Diluted (losses)/earnings per share (b) SREE(FHE)BF

There were no dilutive potential ordinary shares in BE2023F k20221231 LEFE - T

existence for the years ended December 31, 2023 and FHEEBTCEESLBR HESENETRES

2022. The calculated diluted earnings per share equals BRZER2023F &2022F 12 31 HHEMK
the basic earnings per share at December 31, 2023 EARRF) o

and 2022.
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IN=RRLET ek

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZET[ET 137 - BRIESEIEH)

12 PROPERTIES, PLANTS AND EQUIPMENT 12 M- BEKRRE
(a) Reconciliation of carrying amount (a) HREEHK
Software,
Machinery motor vehicles
Plant and and and office  Construction
buildings equipment equipment  in progress Total
BH- "=
BERBT  HERRE RBARME ERIR st
USD’ 000 UsD’ 000 UsD’ 000 UsD’000 USD’ 000
TER TER TER TER TER
Cost: B
At January 1, 2022 72022461 A1R 117,669 144,424 52,056 33,456 347,605
Additions NE 753 33,449 8,701 38,249 81,152
Transfers Eih 7,673 501 2,153 (10,327) -
Disposals HE (1,007) (17,030) (972) - (19,009)
Exchange adjustment R (9,940) (11,925) (1,116) (3,644) (26,625)
At December 31, 2022 and R2022F12A318 K 115,148 149,419 60,822 57,734 383,123
January 1, 2023 20231 71H
Additions RE - 23,523 12,486 41,048 77,057
Transfers @i 61,829 17,700 6,346 (85,875) =
Disposals HE - (2,719) (5,962) - (8,681)
Exchange adjustment B 5 3% (1,801) (916) (515) (745) (3,977)
At December 31, 2023 12023F12431H 175,176 187,007 73,177 12,162 447,522
Accumulated depreciation:  Z3t7E :
At January 1, 2022 M2022%1A18 (52,634) (76,521) (24,986) = (154,141)
Charge for the year FEER (5,158) (12,047) (8,065) = (25,270)
Written back on disposals HERERD 841 16,592 452 - 17,885
Exchange adjustment Ex A% 4,587 4,995 2,045 = 11,627
At December 31, 2022 2022512 4318 & (52,364) (66,981) (30,554) - (149,899)
and January 1, 2023 202361 A1H
Charge for the year FEER (5,952) (14,856) (7,477) - (28,285)
Written back on disposals HERRD - 1,201 3,744 - 4,945
Exchange adjustment X A% 1,849 139 284 - 2,272
At December 31, 2023 12023512 A318 (56,467) (80,497) (34,003) - (170,967)
Net book value: REFE
At December 31, 2022 120225124314 62,784 82,438 30,268 57,734 233,224
At December 31, 2023 120235128314 118,709 106,510 39,174 12,162 276,555
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire SRR R

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD”) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZET[FET 37 - BIESEIEH)

12 PROPERTIES, PLANTS AND EQUIPMENT 12
(CONTINUED)

(a) Reconciliation of carrying amount (continued) (a)
Note:
Certain properties, plants and equipment of the Group

were pledged as security for bank loans (see Note 23).
Details are set out as follows:

M - BERRE (&)

AR B 40 B (480)

REENETHE  BERRBEERRITE
IR (RHIEE23) - FHBWT

As at December 31,

MW12A8318
2023 2022
20234 20224
USD’ 000 USD'000
SEESTE FEr
Plant and buildings B REF 31,740 48,145
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IN=RRLET ek

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZET[ET 137 - BRIESEIEH)

13

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 13 FEHAREE
The analysis of the net book value of right-of-use assets REREESNE NG RAEEEREFE
by class of underlying asset is presented below: DT -
Plant and Leasehold
buildings land Total
BEREF HE L st
uUSD’000 uUsSD’000 uUsD’000
FERT FER FER
Cost: A :
At January 1, 2022 R2022%F1A1H 34,872 32,158 67,030
Additions NE 8,815 - 8,815
Disposals & (3,184) = (3,184)
Exchange adjustment M H AR (1,500) (2,711) (4,211)
At December 31, 2022 R2022% 128318 & 39,003 29,447 68,450
and January 1, 2023 20231 H1H
Additions NE 998 24177 25,175
Disposals k= (14,119) - (14,119)
Exchange adjustment P& i & (199) (592) (791)
At December 31, 2023 R2023%F 12 A31H 25,683 53,032 78,715
Accumulated depreciation: ZEIE
At January 1, 2022 R2022%F1HA1H (12,561) (5,550) (18,111)
Charge for the year FEEH (9,460) (631) (10,091)
Written back on disposals HE R D 3,184 = 3,184
Exchange adjustment TR 688 511 1,199
At December 31, 2022 2022412 A31A K (18,149) (5,670) (23,819)
and January 1, 2023 20231 A1H
Charge for the year FEBH (6,732) (884) (7,616)
Written back on disposals HE R B 10,510 — 10,510
Exchange adjustment TE 5 % 94 98 192
At December 31, 2023 202345128318 (14,277) (6,456) (20,733)
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ire SRR R

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD”) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZET[FET 37 - BIESEIEH)

13 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (CONTINUED) 13 [FEHAREE (&)
Plant and Leasehold
buildings land Total
BERETF HE L st
USD’ 000 USD’ 000 USD’000
FER FEx FEx
Net book value: BRENRE :
At December 31, 2022 R2022%F 12 A31H 20,854 23,777 44,631
At December 31, 2023 R2023F 12 A31H 11,406 46,576 57,982
Notes: Hrz
(i) The Group obtains the right-of-use certain land in (i) NEBEFHEREE TOFHKEHAE

the PRC under several operating lease agreements
of 50 years. As at December 31, 2023, the carrying
amounts of leasehold land held for own use were
USD46,576,000 (2022: USD23,777,000).

(ii) The Group has obtained the right to use certain
office and warehouse properties through tenancy
agreements during the years ended December 31,
2023 and 2022. The leases typically run for a period
of 1 to 13 years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
IN=RRLET ek

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZETT [FT /2T - BRIFSHHEE)

13 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (CONTINUED) 13 FERAEEE (&)
The analysis of expense items in relation to leases HRNERERNEERENRZIER S
recognized in profit or loss is as follows: I

As at December 31,

M12H31H
2023 2022
20234 20224
USD’ 000 USD’000
SPEE FET
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets by %A & E 1B 25 a9 &
class of underlying asset: BEWNEER :
- Leasehold land —HE+TH 884 631
- Plant and buildings — BB RETF 6,732 9,460
7,616 10,091
Interest on lease liabilities (Note 6(a)) HEBER L (Mit6(a) 590 952
Expense relating to short-term leases HEBEEEENFAS 2,864 2,082
Details of total cash outflow for leases and the maturity HEAREREEHEEARINBLMNFE
analysis of lease liabilities are set out in Notes 22(e) D RIER I sE22(e) & 24 ©
and 24, respectively.
Certain right-of-use assets of the Group were pledged REBONETEREEEDERBITERE
as security for bank loans (see Note 23). Details are set IR (RHIsE23) o FBWT ¢

out as follows:

As at December 31,

MW12H831H
2023 2022
20234 20224
USD’ 000 USD’000
SPEEom FEx
Leasehold land AELi 21,852 22,779
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(Expressed in US dollar (“USD”) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZET[FET 37 - BIESEIEH)

14 INTANGIBLE ASSETS 14 B\BREEE
Patents Trademarks Total
57 (5L st
uUSD’000 uUsSD’000 USD’ 000
FER FER FER
Cost: AR
At January 1, 2022 R2022%1 A18 899 2,172 3,071
Disposals k= 33 253 286
Exchange adjustment P H A% (2) - (2)
At December 31, 2022 MR2022F12A31B & 930 2,425 3,355
and January 1, 2023 2023 1H1H
Disposals k= - - -
Exchange adjustment M 3, F8 B 2 - 2
At December 31, 2023 R2023F 12 A31H 932 2,425 3,357
Accumulated amortization: EGg: £
At January 1, 2022 #202241 818 (507) (1,105) (1,612)
Charge for the year FEER (115) (469) (584)
Exchange adjustment P H AR 3 - 3
At December 31, 2022 MR2022F 12 A318 & (619) (1,574) (2,193)
and January 1, 2023 2023%F1H1H

Charge for the year FEEHA (66) (214) (280)
Exchange adjustment bE H A% 2 - (2)
At December 31, 2023 202312 H31H (687) (1,788) (2,475)
Net book value: MRMENEE !
At December 31, 2022 R2022F12831H 311 851 1,162
At December 31, 2023 R2023F 12 A31H 245 637 882
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14

15

IN=RRLET ek

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZET[ET 137 - BRIESEIEH)

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED) 14 wmEEE (&)
Note: Htet -
Certain intangible assets of the Group were pledged as AEBHETEREECEARITETRERY
security for bank loans (see Note 23). Details are set out as IR (RKIFE23) FBT
follows:
As at December 31,
M12H31H
2023 2022
20234 20224
USD’ 000 uSD’000
FERT F=ET
Intangible assets mREE - 1,162
INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 15 RHREARNRE
The following list contains the particulars of subsidiaries TR ARAETEEFERNEBES -
of the Company which principally affected the results, BESBBNNBARFE - TiFiRMHER
assets or liabilities of the Group. The class of shares BT BRIESHEIA -
held is ordinary unless otherwise stated.
Place and Particulars of
date of issued and Proportion of
Company name establishment paid-in capital ownership interest Principal activities
AAER RUBHR AL BEARBHESHE itt 341 ITEH
Held by the Held by a
Company  subsidiary
AAARE  WEARKE
Chervon (China) Investment Co., Ltd. The PRC USD120,000,000 100% - Investment holding
(RE(RE)REBRAT) (More (a)) August 2, 2016
U (B RERRAA (Hi(a) RE201658 28 120,000,000%7 100% - RERR
Nanjing Chervon Industry Ca., Ltd. The PRC USD345,000,000 100% - Production of tools,
(BRFENHERAR) (Note (3)) September 26, 1997 research and
development, sales
ERRENBARAR (Hit(a)) hEI1997594268 345,000,005 100% - EEIA-H%- 4
Chervon (China) Trading Co., Ltd. The PRC USD6,200,000 - 100%  Sales of power tools
(RE(E)EHBRAR) (Note () March 29, 2006 and outdoor power
equipment
SE(hE) ERERAR i) RE200653 4298 6,200,005 - 100% HESHIARPIBNGE
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(Expressed in US dollar (“USD”) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZET[FET 37 - BIESEIEH)

15 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 15

182

RHERRNERE (&)

(CONTINUED)
Place and Particulars of
date of issued and Proportion of
Company name establishment paid-in capital ownership interest Principal activities
AAEB RUBERAH BERERERFE frERRRLA ITER
Held by the Held by a
Company  subsidiary
AREAKE  WEAREA
Chervon (China) Tools Sales Co., Ltd. The PRC Renminbi (‘RMB”) - 100%  Sales of power tools
(SE(PE) TAHERRA) (Vore (3) June 28, 2010 66,506,700 in the PRC
S (hE) TAREBRAR K () RE 201056 728 ARE(TARE) = 100% RPEHESHIA
66,506,7007
Chervon (HK) Ltd. Hong Kong Hong Kong 100% - Trading and financial
November 8, 2010 Dollar (*HKD") management
790,000,000
SE(FR)ERAR FB2010511A8H 790,000,000/ 100% - BORUBER
(%))
Chervon Overseas Holdings Co., Ltd. Hong Kong USD26,105,000 100% - Investment holding
August 6, 2013
SEBNMERERAR F5201358F6R 26,105,000%7 100% - RARR
Chervon Industry (Vietnam) Vietnam Vietnamese Dongs - 100%  Production of
Company Limited January 21, 2020 ("UND") gardening tools
70,100,000,000
SEEE (88) BRAA 2020514218 70,100,000 0008/ - 100% EEREIA
(T4mE])
Chervon Canada Inc. Canada CAD1,500,001 - 100%  Sales of power tools
QOctober 31, 2016 and outdoor power
equipment
Chervon Canada Inc. MeR2016%E10A317 1,500,001 NEATT - 100% HEEHTARPAGNRE
Chervon Australia PTY Limited Australia AUD1,500,000 - 100%  Sales of power tools
July 31, 2016 and outdoor power
equipment
Chervon Australia PTY Limited BAHE2016%7 731 R 1,500,000 47 - 100% HEBHIARFNGNRE
Chervon North America Inc. The United States 1USD300,000 - 100%  Research in the North
February 25, 2005 American market,
product design, sales
and services
Chervon North America Inc. FE2005%2F25A 300,000%7 = 100%  EMFHE  ERii
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15

INVESTMENTS

IN SUBSIDIARIES 15

IN=RRLET ek

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZET[ET 137 - BRIESEIEH)

RHERRNERE (&)

(CONTINUED)
Place and Particulars of
date of issued and Proportion of
Company name establishment paid-in capital ownership interest Principal activities
ATEH RUBER AL BRTRESERFE frEgRELA ITEH
Held by the Held by a
Company  subsidiary
AAARE  WELERE
Flex Geschaftsfihrungs GmbH Germany Euro (‘EUR") - 100%  Investment holding
May 3, 2013 25,000
Flex Geschaftsfihrungs GmbH {BE2013%5 A3 25,00087T ([B 7)) - 100%  %ER
Flex Verwaltungs GmbH & Co., KG Germany EUR19,000,500 - 100%  Production of FLEX
May 22, 2013 brand, design, sales
and services
Flex Verwaltungs GmbH & Co., KG BE2013F5F 22 19,000,5008(C - 100%  EEFLEXR@RE - %t
HERRH
Flex-Elektrowerkzeuge GmbH Germany EUR3,580,100 - 100%  Production of FLEX
November 27, 1980 brand, design, sales
and services
Flex-Elekirowerkzeuge GmbH {BE1980% 11 A27A 3,580,10080C - 100%  EEFLEX@RE - 3t
HERRK
Chervon GmbH Germany EUR25,000 - 100%  Sales of power tools
July 1, 2016 and outdoor power
equipment
Chervon GmbH BEN1657A1H 25,0007 - 100% HEEHTARPIGNRE
EGO Europe GmbH Germany EUR50,000 - 100%  Operation of EGO brand,
November 20, 2015 sales, and services
EGO Europe GmbH 820155 11 A20A 50,0008t7 - 100% BEEGORME - HERRT
Flex Elektronaradi, s.r.o The Czech Republic (CZK500,000 - 100%  Sales of power tools
June 18, 2008 and outdoor power
equipment
Flex Elektrondradi, s.r.0 ERAAE2008567 18A 500,000 52 % 5 - 100% HEEHTARPHENR
Flex ltalia Sur.l. Italy EURS0,000 - 100%  Sales of power tools
July 11, 2012 and outdoor power
equipment
Flex ltaia 1. EAH2012457A11R 500008 - 100% HEEPIERPHGNZ
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ire SRR R

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD”) unless otherwise indicated)

(AT [T )T - b= H59)

15 INVESTMENTS

IN SUBSIDIARIES 15

RHERRNERE (&)

(CONTINUED)
Place and Particulars of
date of issued and Proportion of
Company name establishment paid-in capital ownership interest Principal activities
AAEB RUBERAH BEGH L U frERRRLA IEEH
Held by the Held by a
Company  subsidiary
ARARE  WELERE
Flex Electroportatif Machines ET Accessoires France EUR10,000 - 100%  Sales of power tools
July 11,2012 and outdoor power
equipment
Flex Electroportatif Machines ET Accessoires EE201287A11H 10,0008 7T - 100% HEEHTARPIGNSRE
Flex Power Tools BVBA Belgium EUR95,167,585 - 100%  Sales of power tools
May 15, 2005 and outdoor power
equipment
Flex Power Tools BVBA K AB2005%5 A 158 95,167,585 T - 100% HESHTARPHGNRE
Flex Power Tools B. V. The Netherlands EUR31,800 - 100%  Sales of power tools
January 24,2012 and outdoor power
equipment
Flex Power Tools B. V. 201251 R24B 31,8008 7T - 100% HEEHIARFISNGE
Skil B.V. The Netherlands EUR50,000 - 100%  Do-It-Yourself business
August 12,2016 design in Europe,
operations and sales
Skil BV, H#2016587128 50,0008\ - 100%  ENEHS SRR
BERHE
Flex Power Tools Ltd. The United Kingdom (GBP1 = 100%  Sales of power tools
November 9, 2020 and outdoor power
equipment
Flex Power Tools Ltd. EE2020% 11 A9B 148 - 100% BESHIARFNGNGE
Flex Power Tools Middle East FZCO The United Arab AED2,000,000 - 70%  Sales of power tools
Emirates and outdoor power
April 13,2022 equipment
Flex Power Tools Middle East FZCO WifesatRE 2,000,000 - 0% HEBPTARFH
2022547138 EYE:
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(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZET[ET 137 - BRIESEIEH)

15

INVESTMENTS

IN SUBSIDIARIES 15

RHERRNERE (&)

(CONTINUED)
Place and Particulars of
date of issued and Proportion of
Company name establishment paid-in capital ownership interest Principal activities
ATEH RUBER AL BRTRESERFE frEgRELA ITEH
Held by the Held by a
Company  subsidiary
AAARE  WELERE
Chervon Europe Limited The United Kingdom GBP1 - 100%  Sales of power tools
June 7,2007 and outdoor power
equipment
Chervon Europe Limited RE007F6ATH 15§ = 100% HEEHTARFH
BB
Chervon NZ Subsidiary Limited New Zealand New Zealand Dollar - 100%  Sales of power tools
May 3, 2021 ("NZD") 1,500,100 and outdoor power
equipment
Chervon NZ Subsidiary Limited HmE2021%55A38 1,500,100 E# 1T = 100% HEEHTARFH
(%)) EYIES
Note: Hat -
(a) These entities are limited liability companies (a) ZEERRERBNIMEREER
established in the PRC. The official names of these Al ZEERNESNLERTXEHE -
entities are in Chinese. The English translation of NEl AR CEEEMRER A -

the Company names is for identification purpose

only.

None of the Group’s subsidiaries has a material non-
controlling interest.

REE AN E QR EEAFERER
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(AT [FT /T - BrIESEHES)

16 INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE 16 REERTNER
The following list contains the particulars of the Group’s ITHRBEAREBEE RN FMFS
associate:
Proportion of ownership interest
as At December 31,2023
iR fIX2023 512318
Place of Particulars of Group’s Held Held
Form of business incorporation and issued and effective by the by a
Name of associate structure business paid-up capital interest ~ Company  subsidiary  Principal activities
BEARZRE ERRREY  IRMAUREHLE BROREAEAHE AREERER A0ARE WELNANE IEER
Nanjing Chervon Auto Incorporated The PRC Renminbi (‘RMB") 24.74% - 24.74%  Manufacturing,
Precision Technology Co., 263,837,041 Research and
Lid. (BRFERBERRN development
RHERAF) (‘Chervon and sales of auto
Auto Precision parts
Technology")*
ARRETERER AL e ARB(TAR%) 24.74% - AUT4% B HER
RABRAF 263,837,041 HERETRM

(TR ERTR])"

Chervon Auto Precision Technology is a limited
liability company established in the PRC. The
official name is in Chinese. The English translation
of the company name is for identification purpose
only.

Note:

Nanjing Chervon Auto Precision Technology Co., Ltd.
was established in the PRC with limited liability on March
19, 2012 and is principally engaged in the production,
sales and research and development of automotive power
systems and relevant components. Its shares are currently
listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code:
603982.SH).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

16

INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (CONTINUED)

Note: (Continued)

In September 2016, the Group acquired 38.8% of the
equity interest in Chervon Auto Precision Technology from
Nanjing Chervon Industry Co., Ltd. of USD19,400,000
(RMB129,776,300 equivalent). In November 2016, Chervon
Auto Precision Technology reduced its registered capital
and the Group reduced its investment to RMB46,560,000
on a pro rata basis. In March 2017, the proportion of the
Group’s interest in Chervon Auto Precision Technology has
been diluted to 31.04% due to the new financing obtained
by Chervon Auto Precision Technology and further diluted
to 23.28% in April 2019 due to the listing of Chervon
Auto Precision Technology on Shanghai Stock Exchange.
In June 2020, the proportion of the Group’s interest in
Chervon Auto Precision Technology has been diluted to
23.10% due to the new issuance of shares and increased
to 23.12% due to the repurchase of the shares by Chervon
Auto Precision Technology in 2021.

In November 2022, the Group further purchased
18,111,000 shares of Chervon Auto Precision Technology
with a total subscription amount of RMB357,875,000
(USD50,340,000 equivalent) and the proportion of the
Group’s interest increased to 24.72%. In December 2023,
the proportion of the Group’s interest in Chervon Auto
Precision Technology has been increased to 24.74% due
to the repurchase of the shares by Chervon Auto Precision
Technology in 2023.

The associate above is accounted for using the equity
method in the consolidated financial statements.

16

IN=RRLET ek

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD") unless otherwise indicated)
(UZETT [FT /2T - BRIFSHHEE)

REE QR R ()
Hiet - (&)

R20164F9 A + ANEBE LA 19,400,0003 7T (48
ENARME129,776,3007T) A X RIERI KA
RN B RS R IE B R T A 38.8% AR 4E ©
R2016F 118 + RIETERBEHEIMTEIR HF
MEXR  MASEZRLOIEREZEZEARE
46,560,0007T ° M201743 A » R RIEHE
BERNREN#E  AEERRESRERR
BATe S L HI 2 #5852 31.04% » W 2019
FLREARERBERERMN LBESFR ST
LT EEEE23.28% © 202046 A ¢ A&
SRR R ERERTEREMAOERSLOIERZEITH
RMEEE23.10% © WA R IETERZERMR
2021 FRE R MG NZE23.12% ©

R2022F 118 AEEE—FPHEERERSE
EE AT 18,111,0000 0% - WEBRFEAAR
# 357,875,000t (#H& 7 50,340,000%7T)
RNEBMETSLLHILZE24.72% » 20234612
A AEERRESEREE MG A
RIEREREZE MM 2023 F O 7 Mg mE
24.74% °

AR ER
HOEZE ©

AR A MWK T IR AE

— T =FFR

FIEIEREH R A A
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16

188

INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (CONTINUED) 16

Summarized financial information of the material
associate, Chervon Auto Precision Technology,
adjusted for any differences in accounting policies,
and a reconciliation to the carrying amount in the
consolidated financial statements are disclosed below:

REHE QRS ()

BB A T RIS T BRI B A R
MERBEGHABRERET T HE - WHL
EUBBRARPETDEETHR  KEW
™

December December
31, 2023 31, 2022
2023 F 20224
12A31H 12A31H
USD’000 USD’000
FEx FET
Gross amounts of Chervon Auto Precision RIESERZHMELE
Technology’s
Current assets mEE E 347,642 359,499
Non-current assets FERBEE 611,625 546,475
Current liabilities mEALE (362,696) (288,158)
Non-current liabilities FEmBEE (270,260) (208,595)
Equity R (326,311) (409,221)
Revenue ILON 302,181 258,677
Loss from continuing operations FEREETS R (80,038) (23,243)
Other comprehensive income H 2 s 1,601 569
Total comprehensive loss ZHEBEEE (78,437) (22,674)
Dividend received BIRAR 2 - 510
Reconciled to the Group’s interest in HASERRESE
Chervon Auto Precision Technology BERMERY K
Gross amounts of net assets of Chervon Auto RIETEB R 326,311 409,221
Precision Technology EEFEAESRE
Group's effective interest AEBER S 24.74% 24.50%
Group's share of net assets of Chervon Auto RNEBELRIE TS 80,738 100,278
Precision Technology BRI EEFE
Goodwill EES 6,183 6,288
Carrying amount of in the consolidated REVBHRRARESE 86,921 106,566
financial statements
Market value MIHME 131,586 188,314
Group's share of Chervon Auto Precision REBELRIETE
Technology's EraEs R
Loss from continuing operations FIECE TS EE (19,667) (5,543)
Deemed gain on dilution of interest in an WARAREE A BHEERD 1,326 53
associate Wz
Other comprehensive income Hip 2wl 395 139
Total comprehensive loss THEELTE (17,946) (5,351)
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17 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVPL

IN=RRLET ek

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZETT [FT /2T - BRIFSHHEE)

17 HUAREEFEEESHEHRES

HNEemEE
As at December 31,
M12831H
2023 2022
2023 20224
USD’ 000 USD’000
EP FET
Financial assets at FVPL - non-current LUARBETEEHSEHFAES
BRNEMEE - FHH
_.TInsurance product  CHABE® 6393 . .6202
Financial assets at FVPL - current UAREBEFEREEHHAEH
BRNESMEE - IS
_cConvertiblebonds  ~  ZWBBEE .........20019
6,393 26,221

The Group’s non-current balances of financial assets at
FVPL represent a life insurance product issued by an
independent third-party insurance company.

The Group’s current balances of financial assets at
FVPL as at December 31, 2022 represents convertible
bonds issued by Chervon Auto Precision Technology
held by the Group for trading purposes and were
disposed in 2023.

The analysis on the fair value measurement of the
Group's above financial assets is disclosed in Note
33(e).

AEBUAREBETEAHEHT AL HIE
mHEMEENIANBERERCIE=7R
ﬁ@jﬁﬁmA%%@Em°

KEBMR2022F 12 A31 BUAAREBE=
BEZHTAESHESHNESREENRHE
BHIER B RBRERITEITH A RRES
AAEEFEERS BMIWR2023F HE ©

85

ok

ERAAEE LS HEENAREE
MR ERKITES3(e) °
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ire SRR R

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD”) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZET[FET 37 - BIESEIEH)

18 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS TTESRMIA
As at December 31,
M12HA318
2023 2022
2023 20224
USD’000 UsSD’000
FEx FET
Assets BE
— Foreign currency forward contracts (Note (i)  — SMERHIE L (A1a2()) 2,553 2,288
2,553 2,288
Liabilities =N
— Foreign currency forward contracts (Note (7)) — — YNEZRBE X (B152(i)) 804 3,579
— Foreign currency option contracts (Note (i) — INESERRES ) (M7 (i) 1,212 2
— Foreign exchange swap contract (Note (ii)) — SNERHRE 49 (B 57 (1)) 319 =
2,335 3,581
0) The Group entered into several foreign currency (i) RNEEEE TIRITEI N T B T HMNERH

forward contracts and foreign currency option
contracts with certain banks to mitigate the
currency risk arising from certain of its bank loans
and receivables denominated in USD and EUR.

(i) The Group entered into several foreign exchange
swap contracts with bank to mitigate the currency
risk arising from receivables denominated in USD.

The fair value changes of above derivative financial
instruments were recognized in other net gains and

losses.

The analysis on the fair value measurement of the
above financial assets is disclosed in Note 33(e).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

19
(a)

INVENTORIES

Inventories in the consolidated statements of

financial position comprise:

IN=RRLET ek

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZET[ET 137 - BRIESEIEH)

19 HFE
(a) HAEUBRRERFPHNEFEERSE:

As at December 31,

MW12H31H
2023 2022
2023 % 20224
USD’ 000 USD’'000
FXx FEx
Raw materials R R 248,885 163,128
Consumables JEFEm 5,743 7,862
Semi-finished goods F 5K 16,703 29,049
Finished goods B 321,782 416,944
593,113 616,983
Write down of inventories FE MR (62,162) (16,984)
530,951 599,999
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(Expressed in US dollar (“USD”) unless otherwise indicated)
(AT [FT /T - BrIESEHES)

19 INVENTORIES (CONTINUED) 19

(b) The analysis of the amount of inventories (b)
recognized as an expense and included in profit
or loss is as follows:

F& (%)

BRABEIRTABEZENEFEESE I TN
T :

Year ended December 31,
HE12A31ALLEE

2023 2022
20234 20224
USD’ 000 UsSD’000
E FET

Carrying amount of inventories sold BEEFEEREE 942,703 1,385,407
Written-off of inventories 7 E MR (1,880) (2,698)
Provision for write-down of inventories FERREE 47,058 12,248

987,881 1,394,957

All inventories are expected to be recovered within one
year.

(c) Certain inventories of the Group were pledged as (c)
security for bank loans (see Note 23). Details are
set out as follows:

FBFEEA BN —FARKE -

FEENETEREEERRTERERY
EIF (RMEE23) - FEOT ¢

As at December 31,

M12A318
2023 2022
2023 F 20224
USD’ 000 USD’000
X FE5
Inventories FE 16,565 177,596
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20

IN=RRLET ek

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZET[ET 137 - BRIESEIEH)

TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES 20 EZRUWREREWRERE
As at December 31,
H12A318
2023 2022
2023 F 20224
Notes USD’000 UsSD’000
it =T FE
Trade debtors and bills receivable, BEWERR R ERERE
net of loss allowance MEREERE
— measured at amortised cost — IR ER AN AT 2 (i)
Trade receivables B 5 W RIE 351,628 168,017
Bills receivables K EE 2,424 1,174
354,052 169,191
— measured at FVOCI — AR EEGAEBAEES (ii)
ﬁkﬁ@ﬁéwm
Trade receivables B 5 E Wk 4,959 51,029
359,011 220,220

All of the trade and bills receivables are expected to be

recovered within one year.

Bills receivable primarily represent short-term bank
acceptance notes receivable that entitle the Group
to receive the full face amount from the banks at
maturity, which generally ranges from 3 to 12 months
from the date of issuance. Historically, the Group had
experienced no credit losses on bills receivable.

P A B 5 RBUWKIA R BN E B IE HR —F
EE

FEUS 2R 5 = 256 B, T 7 5 (B 4 ) DA A B BR B
B RITURE 2 AR A 2 S B Y FE S R AR 1T
EAERE  ZEEBRBTERTAHRAH
3Z12fHA - B - AEBERBEIERER
HIBEEBENER
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20

194

TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES
(CONTINUED)

Notes:

(M)

(if)

Aging

As at December 31, 2023, certain trade debtors
of USD1,538,000 (2022: USD78,862,000) were
pledged as securities for bank loans of the Group
(see Note 23).

Certain amounts of the Group’s trade debtors
and bill receivables measured at FVOCI are trade
debtors factored to banks in accordance with
receivables purchase agreements. These factored
trade debtors were held for both collection of
contractual cash flows and sales. The contractual
cash flows of the trade debtors comprised solely
payments of principal and interest. Changes in
fair value are recognized in other comprehensive
income, except for the recognition in profit or loss
of ECLs.

analysis

As of the end of the reporting period, the aging analysis
of trade and bills receivables, based on the invoice
date and net of loss allowance, is as follows:

20

B RWRARERREE (&)

Hiiz -

U]

(if)

2023412 A31H * 1,538,000% 7T
(20224 : 78,862,000%70) & TE
SEWHFBEE D RIHEIRIEAREER
TTEFHEA (RKIEE23) °

ENE G N S YA ES
AT EESREBEKRE R HER
RITRIERE B EUGRIR - st EI &4
REnkHEREZERRENEFE
WikIE - B 5 RUIGIARRN A AR EIRE
BREABNRK - AABEEIREME
E AR - ERBEEBRR RS

R 2 4T
BERSHR ENERA YRR E IR

T

B 5 UK IR & B R 1B 1O BR Bk 0 AT 4R

As at December 31,

MW12831H
2023 2022
2023 20224
USD’ 000 USD’000
ES FE
Within 6 months 61E A K 347,589 166,216
Over 6 months but within 12 months 618 A LA B 12@ AR 6,160 2,650
Over 12 months 121 A LA E 303 325
354,052 169,191

Trade

and bills receivables are due within 30 - 180

days from the date of billing. Further details on the
Group’s credit policy and credit risk arising from trade
and bills receivables are set out in Note 33(a).
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21

IN=RRLET ek

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwise indicated)

PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 21

RECEIVABLES

(AZET [T /T - B = HIEE)

BARE - RESREMEKR

The Group AEE As at December 31,
MW12831H
2023 2022
20234 20224
USD’000 USD’000
=T FEr
Current BN &R
Value added tax recoverable AU EE{E 8,855 11,165
Other tax recoverable H b a] Ug 01 7 18 2,013 2,240
Prepayments for materials and expenses  #MEHFEMFIB R HA X 55,245 61,911
Advances to employee M{E B {EH A E RN 905 1,116
Other deposits and receivables HRE e LW FRTE 3,877 2,002
70,895 78,654
Less: loss allowance B R - =
70,895 78,654
Non-current JEBNHA
Prepayments for properties, plants and L EN NS S NN 1,482 3,224
equipment
Advances to staff Mg EEH BN 3,155 2,627
4,637 5,851
The Company /N As at December 31,
M12H31H
2023 2022
2023 F 20224
USD’000 USD’000
ES FE
Current BN HR
Amounts due from subsidiaries NI E S 196,486 269,539

All of prepayments, deposits and other receivables
current balances are expected to be recovered or

recognized as expense within one year.

BNRE  RESREMmEEFIANRER
HIERTAET B R — F AR B KRR o
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22 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND 22
PLEDGED DEPOSITS

(a) Cash and cash equivalents comprise: (a)

RERRTEBYREERER

RERREEEYWRE -

As at December 31,

MW12H31H
2023 2022
2023 F 20224
USD’000 USD’000
EP FErT
Cash at bank HRITHRE 296,280 466,654
Cash in hand FERE 57 59
296,337 466,713

Note: Hat -

As at December 31, 2023, cash and cash equivalents M2023F12A31H P ERHAHIR S

situated in Mainland China amounted to USD256,571,262
(2022: USD227,992,000). Remittance of funds out of
Mainland China is subject to relevant rules and regulations
of foreign exchange control.

MRS EBYWEEH256,571,262F 7T (2022
1 227,992,000 7T) © 1§ & S E LA
BESTINEESIHEBREGE o

(b) Pledged deposits comprise: (b) EHEREHE:
As at December 31,
M12A31H
2023 2022
20234 20224
USD’ 000 USD’000
E FEx
Pledged deposits for HEIRFR
— issuance of bills payable — FITEMNRE 3,733 5,155
— issuance of banking facilities — BERERITRNE 14,511 31,340
18,244 36,495

The pledged deposits will be

released upon the

settlement of letters of credit and bills payable and by
the Group or the expiry of relevant banking facilities.
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22

(c)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND 22

Re MR

N

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwise indicated)

PLEDGED DEPOSITS (CONTINUED)

Reconciliation of (loss)/profit before taxation to

cash generated from operations

(AZET [T /T - B = HIEE)

RERRSESEYRCEAEFR (H)

(c) BR%iA (BR) FHRKERERESNY
iR

Year ended December 31,

HZ12ANBLEE
2023 2022
20235 20226
Note USD’000 UsD'000
it S T£n
(Loss)/profit before taxation B (58),/ FiE (48,856) 161,390
Adjustments for: HE:
Depreciation of properties, plants and equipment n% - BERIENE 6(c) 28,285 25,270
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEERE 6(c) 7,616 10,091
Amortization of intangible assets B EESH 6(c) 280 584
Net finance costs BBRAFE 6(a) 3,290 22,265
Share of loss of an associate 3N 2 16 18,341 5,490
Net losses on disposal of properties, LENE  BEREENEETE 5(b) 46 176
plants and equipment
Net losses on disposal of leases HERENBRTE 1,226 =
Net realized and unrealized loss on convertible bonds ~ ATAREHHNEEBE R AEBEESE 5b) 630 15,280
Net realized and unrealized gains on financial AR BENERLE @Jujr)\““ﬁﬂ 5b) (948) (1,654)
assets at FVPL other than convertible bonds BENeREENEERRAET
W 52 (TARERRIN)
Net realized and unrealized loss on derivative TESRIANEERR 5b) 12,181 23,297
financial instruments RERBETE
Provision for impairment loss on trade and B RAMEIGERESRNEE 6(c) 1,172 1,401
other receivables
Provision for write-down of inventories FEMREE 6(c) 47,058 12,248
Amortization of deferred income Bk B (89) (93)
Foreign exchange gain B 5 e (6,743) (4,185)
Operating profit before changes in EEESHBANEENE 63,489 271560
working capital
Decrease in pledged deposits BRETRD 1,422 16,661
Decrease/(Increase) in inventories FERD /(%) 23,870 (17,525)
(Increase)/decrease in trade and bills receivables BHRIGEREREE (), F) (141,688) 63,753
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, deposits and BAZE  RESREMEYGE 7,231 (35,086)
other receivables B/ (4Em)
Increase in right to returned goods asset HREEEMENEMN (21,831) (1,344)
Decrease in trade payables BHERFERD (69,498) (218,800)
Decrease in other payables and accruals EthEAFEREBRARD (66,532) (40,212)
Increase in warranty provision RERBEN 12,544 5,208
Increase in refund liabilities from right of return REEF|MRA G 29,672 2,180
Decrease in defined benefit retirement REBHRIKEEERD (36) (56)
plans obligation
Cash (used in)/generated from operations meE(FE)/ 58 e (161,357) 46,339
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22

(d)

198

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND
PLEDGED DEPOSITS (CONTINUED)

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing

activities

The table below details changes in the Group’s
liabilities from financing activities, including both cash
and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing

22 HBRERREEEYRCSEFFR (H)

(d) REFDELENEEHRK

TERHLTAEEEREFDELNBENES (B

EHS RIS

) MERPEANBERER

EREIARRAERENAREGARERERNA

activities are liabilities for which cash flows were, or BEHEXEHEARKEARETHNRSREMAE -
future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s
consolidated cash flow statements as cash flows from
financing activities.
Bank Interest Lease
loans payable liabilities Total
FITER FERFLE HEER st
USD